

Environet[™] Connect

User Guide

The information contained in this document is subject to change without notice and may not be suitable for all applications. While every precaution has been taken to ensure the accuracy and completeness of this document, Vertiv assumes no responsibility and disclaims all liability for damages result from use of this information or for any errors or omissions.

Refer to local regulations and building codes relating to the application, installation, and operation of this product. The consulting engineer, installer, and/or end user is responsible for compliance with all applicable laws and regulations relation to the application, installation, and operation of this product.

The products covered by this instruction manual are manufactured and/or sold by Vertiv. This document is the property of Vertiv and contains confidential and proprietary information owned by Vertiv. Any copying, use, or disclosure of it without the written permission of Vertiv is strictly prohibited.

Names of companies and products are trademarks or registered trademarks of the respective companies. Any questions regarding usage of

Technical Support Site

If you encounter any installation or operational issues with your product, check the pertinent section of this manual to see if the issue can be resolved by following outlined procedures.

Visit https://www.vertiv.com/en-us/support/ for additional assistance.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 Introduction	1
1.1 About Vertiv™ Environet™ Connect	1
1.2 Features	1
2 Initial Setup	3
2.1 Registering with the Connect Platform	3
2.2 Login Screen	7
2.3 First Steps	8
3 Home Page Components and Connect Layout	11
3.1 Header Bar	11
3.2 Navigation Menu	12
3.3 Home Dashboard	13
3.3.1 Welcome Banner	14
3.3.2 Visual Views and Detail Views	14
3.4 Lists	15
3.5 Notifications	17
4 Licensing New Partners and Customers	19
4.1 Creating Partners	19
4.2 View, Update, Delete Partners	21
4.3 Choosing and Adjusting Licenses	24
4.4 Creating Customers	26
4.4.1 Partner Managed Customers	26
4.4.2 Directly Licensed Customers	28
4.5 View, Update, Delete Customers	30
4.6 Customer Preferences	34
4.6.1 Provisioning Credentials	35
4.6.2 SNMP Credentials	35
4.7 Inviting New Users	
5 Managing Users	39
5.1 Creating Users	39
5.2 View, Update, Delete Users	41
5.3 Multi-Factor Authentication	43
5.4 User Lockout, Session Timeout	45
5.5 Disabling and Enabling Users	
5.6 User Notification Preferences	49
5.7 User Permissions (Capabilities)	50
5.8 User Access (Scope, Visibility)	51

6 Installing the Local Agent	
6.1 Downloading the Agent	
6.2 Windows Installation	56
6.2.1 System Requirements	
6.2.2 Installation Steps	59
6.2.3 Troubleshooting	
6.3 Linux Installation	74
6.3.1 System Requirements	
6.3.2 Installation Steps	74
6.3.3 Troubleshooting	
6.4 Configuring Polling Rates	
6.5 Diagnostic Logging	
6.5.1 Local Agent Local Webpage	
6.5.2 Retrieve Agent Logs from the Cloud	85
6.5.3 Local Agent Events and Alarms	
7 Device Management	
7.1 Adding Devices via a Discovery Scan	
7.2 Adding Devices Manually	
7.2.1 Information Tab	96
7.2.2 Communications Tab	
7.2.3 Details Tab	
7.3 Device List	
7.4 Device Details	
7.5 Device Dashboard	
7.6 Editing Devices	
7.7 Deleting Devices	
7.8 Device Groups	
7.8.1 Grouping Devices from the Device List	
7.8.2 Grouping Devices from a Device Group	
7.8.3 Deleting Device Groups	
7.9 Sites	
7.9.1 Deleting Sites	
8 Dashboard Management	
8.1 Basic Dashboard Editing	
8.2 Widgets	
8.2.1 Map Widget	
8.2.2 Floorplan Widget	
8.2.3 Other Widgets	

9 Alarms	131
9.1 How Alarms Work	131
9.2 Alarm Counts	131
9.3 Alarms on Widgets	132
9.4 Alarm Notifications	136
9.5 Alarm Logs	137
9.6 Manually Clearing Alarms	139
10 Provisioning	141
10.1 Provisioning a Factory Fresh Device	141
10.1.1 Running a Broadcast Scan	141
10.1.2 Creating an Admin User	143
10.1.3 Setting Advanced Network	145
10.1.4 Enabling SNMP Polling	146
10.2 Advanced Configuration	147
10.2.1 Configuration File Types	148
10.2.2 Pulling Configuration Files from the Edge Device	149
10.2.3 Uploading Configuration Files	152
10.2.4 Pushing Configurations to Cards and Edge Devices	154
10.3 Use Case: Setting Agent as the Trap Target	156
10.4 Use Case: Setting Intellislot Device Parameters	162
10.5 Use Case: Setting Alarms	164
10.6 Update Firmware	168
10.7 Bulk Actions	171
10.8 Supported Devices	
11 Reports	175
11.1 Device Reports	175
11.2 UPS Fleet Management Summary Report	177
11.3 UPS Detailed Report	
12 Support	185
12.1 Documentation and Resources	
12.2 Sending Feedback	185
12.3 Report an Issue	
12.4 Training Videos	
12.5 Request a New Template	
Appendices	
Appendix A: Technical Support and Contacts	191

Vertiv[™] Environet[™] Connect User Manual

This page intentionally left blank

1 Introduction

1.1 About Vertiv[™] Environet[™] Connect

Environet[™] Connect is a secure cloud-based software platform that helps manage and monitor assets. It can be used by both direct customers and channel MSP partners. The software platform allows devices to be monitored through a local agent that is installed on the customer's network. The local agent is designed based on Azure IoT Edge and communicates with hundreds of devices via Simple Network Management Protocol (SNMP).

Environet[™] Connect offers various fleet management capabilities such as bulk provisioning, device settings and firmware updates, as well as monitoring features like trending and alarming. Users can effortlessly manage the lifecycle of their devices through a unified cloud portal. This makes it easy to keep firmware and device settings current.

Since Environet[™] Connect is a cloud-based solution, customers will always have access to the latest version of the software. They will also get access to new features and supported devices as soon as they are released.

Environet[™] Connect is easily accessible from anywhere through its user-friendly, web-based, and device-agnostic interface, designed to work seamlessly on mobile and desktop environments.

1.2 Features

- Monitoring of Vertiv and 3rd party devices via SNMP
- Alarms and notifications (via email and SMS)
- Device discovery
- Remote firmware upgrade and configuration
- Device reports
- Customizable customer, site, and group dashboards
- Desktop, tablet, and mobile support
- User management
- Feedback and support directly within the product

Vertiv[™] Environet[™] Connect User Manual

This page intentionally left blank

2 Initial Setup

2.1 Registering with the Connect Platform

New users are invited to Environet[™] Connect via a registration email sent by Vertiv, their managing partner, or their fellow customer users. See Inviting New Users on page 36. This email may take a few minutes to be received after the user is first created in the system. If the new user has not received a registration email within the expected time interval, they should check their junk/spam folder for emails from environet-connect@vertiv.com.



Figure 2.1 Registration Email

Registration emails are valid for 48 hours and expiration time is noted in the bottom of the message. If the registration email has expired, the user can request the email be resent by contacting the inviting user (noted at the bottom of the email) or other users of their organization (Customer, Partner, or Vertiv). When the registration email has expired, you will receive a message that the registration has expired.

Figure 2.2 Registration Expired Notification

VERTIV. EnviroNet Connect	
Your registration token has expired. Please request a new registration email from your managing partner or Vertiv.	

The registration email contains information about who invited the user to the Connect platform and to what organization (Vertiv, Partner, Customer) the new user has been added as a member. To begin the registration process, click the **Complete Registration** button in the email.

After clicking **Complete Registration**, the **Set User Password** dialog opens. You are then prompted to set their password. Password requirements are noted in beneath the **Set Your Password** field.

Figure 2.3 Set User Password

VERTIX EnviroNet Connect
zaki.general@feerock.com Set Your Password
8+ characters - include 1+ uppercase, 1+ numeric, 1+ symbol Password cannot include any part of the username / email
Confirm Password
SUBMIT
Privacy Policy Terms & Conditions

After a password has been specified, click **Submit** to confirm. An End User License Agreement (EULA) is displayed. Read the EULA and confirm by clicking **Agree**. You may need to scroll down the page to click. See **Figure 2.4** below.

Figure 2.4 EULA Agreement Pag	ge
-------------------------------	----

■ environet [™] connect	P P P W 9 WILEY E COYOTE * ? HELP *
Support / EULA	A
END-USER LICENSE AGREEMENT(EULA) FOR VERTIV™ ENVIRON	ET™ SOFTWARE
Vertiv™ Environet™ Software (the "SOFTWARE PRODUCT") from Vertiv Corporation ("Vertiv") is licensed on a single de	vice or network environment basis. A
license is required for each individual device or network on which the SOFTWARE PRODUCT is installed.	
IMPORTANT - READ CAREFULLY. THIS EULA IS A LEGAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COMPANY YOU REPRESEN	T AND VERTIV CORPORATION (OR, IF
YOU ARE AN INDIVIDUAL END USER, THIS IS AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN YOU AND VERTIV CORPORATION) FOR	THE SOFTWARE PRODUCT IDENTIFIED
ABOVE, WHICH PRODUCT INCLUDES COMPUTER SOFTWARE AND MAY INCLUDE ASSOCIATED MEDIA, PRINTED	MATERIALS, AND ONLINE OR
ELECTRONIC DOCUMENTATION (THE "SOFTWARE PRODUCT"). BY CLICKING THE ACCEPT BUTTON OR BY INST	ALLING OR OTHERWISE USING THE
SOFTWARE PRODUCT, YOU AGREE TO BE BOUND BY THE TERMS OF THIS EULA. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE TO THE	TERMS OF THIS EULA, THEN DO NOT
INSTALL OR USE THE SOFTWARE PRODUCT. INSTEAD, YOU MAY, IF YOU ARE THE ORIGINAL PURCHASER OF TH	IE SOFTWARE PRODUCT, RETURN THE
UNOPENED SOFTWARE PACKET(S) AND ANY ACCOMPANYING WRITTEN MATERIALS TO THE PLACE PURCHAS	ED FOR A FULL REFUND.
1. License Grant. Subject to the payment of any applicable license fees, and subject to the terms and conditions of	this EULA, Vertiv hereby grants you the
following nonexclusive, nontransferable, non-sublicensable rights:	
2. Additional Restrictions.	
a. No Copying. You may not copy the SOFTWARE PRODUCT or the printed materials accompanying the SOF	TWARE PRODUCT.
b. No Reverse Engineering. You may not: (1) reverse engineer, decompile, disassemble, decode, or otherwise	attempt to access the source code of the
SOFTWARE PRODUCT or (ii) copy, modify, translate or create derivative works of the SOFTWARE PRODUC	CT. If you acquired the SOFTWARE
PRODUCT in Europe, even if you believe you require information related to the interoperability of the SOFT	WARE PRODUCT with other programs,
you shall not reverse engineer, decompile, disassemble, or decode the SOFTWARE PRODUCT to obtain suc	h information, and you agree to request
such information from Vertiv at the address listed on the Vertiv website at www.Vertiv.com. Upon receiving	such a request, Vertiv shall determine
whether you require such information for a legitimate business purpose and, if so, Vertiv will provide such i	nformation to you within a reasonable time
and on reasonable conditions.	
c. No Transfers. You may not redistribute, rent, lease, license, sublicense, assign, lend or otherwise transfer t	he SOFTWARE PRODUCT or your rights
under this EULA to any party.	

After agreeing to the EULA, you will see the Home screen. You are now fully registered and can begin using the Environet[™] Connect platform.

			.₽ ▼
A	Home	Home	
4			
		Get Started with Vertiv Environet [™] Connect Start by editing your preferences in My Profile, or select Get Started, or Start the setup process by using the Agent	
		Installer to add a Local Agent in the Cloud.	
٥		GET STARTED DOWNLOAD AGENT INSTALLER MY PROFILE	
?			
		Solution Wiley E Coyote Visual View 🗮 🍘	
		Added 03-28-2022 Users 371 Customers 382 Devices 175	
		Map ^ 🗙	
			v

Figure 2.5 First Login

2.2 Login Screen

When logging back into Environet[™] Connect go to environet-connect.vertiv.com/login.

```
Figure 2.6 Environet<sup>™</sup> Connect Login Screen
```

VERTIV. EnviroNet Connect
Username
Password
LOG IN
Forgot Password Privacy Policy Terms & Conditions

Enter your username (this is the email address where you received the registration email) and your password to login.

You can reset your password from this screen by clicking Forgot Password.

2.3 First Steps

When logging into Environet[™] Connect, a welcome banner is displayed that contains links to

- 1. Download a Quick Start Guide (Get Started)
- 2. Download local agent installers
- 3. Setup a user profile

Figure 2.7 Welcome Banner

	S ENVIRONET [™] CONNEC	CT	PA	(p) O WILEY E COYOTE	?	HELP 🔻
ft	Home	Home			;	×
4		Oct Storter		Connect		
			J with Vertiv Environet [™] My Profile, or select Get Started, or Start the se			
		0	Installer to add a Local Agent in the Cloud.	€		
٥		GET STARTED	DOWNLOAD AGENT INSTALLER	MY PROFILE		
?						
		✓ Wiley E Coyote				2
			evices 175	Visual View		
		Мар			~ 5	2
		+				
				mar al		1

The Welcome Banner has a popup that provides links to download the Windows Agent and the Linux Agent. To permanently dismiss the Welcome Banner, click the X in the top right corner. You can also access these functions to Download the Windows Agent and Download the Linux Agent in the Agents menu under Equipment.

The first step for most users will be to finish setting up their user profile. You can do this by clicking the **My Profile** button on the Welcome Banner or by clicking the menu under your name in the top right corner.

Figure 2.8 Read-Only Profile View

	Senvironet [™] Connect		
A	Home	Home Stranger Strange	^
¢.			
		Get Started with Vertiv Environet [™] Conne ^{to Log Cut} Start by editing your preferences in My Profile, or select Get Started, or Start the setup process by using the Agent	
		Start by earing your preferences in my Frome, or select Get startey, or Start the setup process by using the Agent Installer to add a Local Agent in the Cloud.	
٥		GET STARTED DOWNLOAD AGENT INSTALLER MY PROFILE	
?			
		Second Wiley E Coyote	
		✓ Wiley E Coyote Visual View	
		Map ^ X	
			~

Edit your profile by clicking the **Edit** button in the profile view. This is where you set contact preferences, alarm notifications, and other settings. See Managing Users on page 39 for further detail.

= 😒	ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT					₽₽Δ³ €₽ «»	O WILEY E COYOTE ▼	? HELP -
	Settings / My Profile							
	Wiley E Coyote						0 / 1	
	ENABLED ORGANIZATIO	N Vertiv USERNAME		USER SINCE	04-22-2024		1	
	User info	Access	Permissions	Notification	15		Edit	
	wc	Language English User since 04-22-2024			Contact preference Email		,	

Figure 2.9 Edit Profile

≡ 🛠		ЕСТ				₽₽₽ ₽ ₽ ₩	O WILEY E COYOTE ▼	? HELP -
	Settings / Users / Edit user Wiley E Coyota ENABLED ORGANIZAT	e Tion Vertiv Usernam	4E	USER SINC	E 04-22-2024		⊕ / ¥	Â
	User info	Access	Permissions	Notificati				
	Organizations Vertiv				Language * English			
	Username (amail) donna.mcmanus@vertiv.com							
	First * Wîley E							
	Lest* Coyote							
	Phone +1 = 6148530000							
	SMS ≝ +1 ▼ 6148530000							
	Contact preference							
	Email O Phone							

You can change your name, contact preferences, and preferred language. You cannot change your member organization or username. Click **Save** after completing your changes and you are ready to explore the Connect platform. (You may need to scroll down the page.)

3 Home Page Components and Connect Layout

Connect's layout is similar to other Vertiv monitoring products such as VCI and Environet Alert. The layout is organized into three main areas: the header bar, navigation menu, and content area.

		ECT	₹		€⁸⁹ ▲² € ⁹⁹ (ŋ)	Q WILEY E COYOTE	? HELP *
A	My Profile	Settings / Users / Edit user Image: Wiley E Coyote		eader Bar		θ	× •
4			Vertiv USERNAME	USER SINCE 04-22-2024			
		User info	Access Permissi	ons Notifications			
	Navigation Menu	Organizations Vertiv		Languaga * English			•
٥		Username (email)					
?		First*					
		Wiley E					
		Coyote					
		Phone +1 ~ 6148530000					
		SMS +1 - 6148530000					
		Contact preference					
		🧿 Email 🔵 Phone					Ţ

Figure 3.1 Environet Connect Layout

3.1 Header Bar

The left hand side of the header bar contains the product identification and a Collapse/Expand button. The Collapse/Expand button controls whether the Navigation menu is shown. Click the **Collapse/Expand** menu to show or hide the Navigation menu.

Figure 3.2 Header Bar (Left)



The right hand side of the header bar contains:

- 1. Alarm Counts
- 2. Discovery Results
- 3. User Menu
- 4. Help Menu

Figure 3.3 Header Bar Right



Table 3.1 Header Bar (Right) Icons

lcon	Name	Description
940	Alarm Counts	Shows the number of currently active alarms for the scope of the logged in user, separated by alarm severity.
((† .)	Discovery Results	Shows the running status of a discovery scan or the results found when a scan is complete.
θ	User Menu	Provides access to profile details, can change from light to dark them, and log out.
?	Help Menu	Quick link to the feedback form to submit questions or reporting bugs.

3.2 Navigation Menu

Table 3.2 Navigation Menu Icons

lcon	Name	Description
♠	Home Menu	Returns you to the dashboard (the view you see when first logged into Connect). The dashboard view can be customized to suit the needs of each organization. See Dashboard Management on page 119.
3	Accounts	The Accounts menu contains options for Partner, Customer, and site—you can navigate to see a list of partners, customers, or sites to which you have access. You can also create new partners, customers, and sites depending upon your user type and role. Licensing New Partners and Customers on page 19 covers creating and licensing Partners and Customers. Sites are discussed as part of adding devices in Alarms on page 131.
88	Equipment	The Equipment menu contains device management and configuration options. From here, you can see a list of monitored devices and a list of device groups. You can manage the local agents that monitor devices as well as see uploaded device or card configurations and see the latest firmware available for Vertiv devices. Device Management on page 89 covers installing the local agent, Dashboard Management on page 119 covers adding devices. Provisioning on page 141 covers configuration and firmware updates.

lcon	Name	Description
	Reports	From the Report menu, you can run reports on monitored devices as part of lifecycle management. The device report allows you to extract device metadata including networking, lifecycle, and location data for devices throughout the system. More reports will be added to the system with new versions. Reports are covered in Reports on page 175 .
\$	Settings	The Settings menu provides information about users. All users can edit their own user information. For users with the User Management permission, they can also edit the credentials of other users in their organization. More settings may be added with future versions. User Management is covered in Managing Users on page 39.
0	Support	The Support menu provides documentation and feedback options. You can also find the EULA here. Support on page 185 provides support options in detail.

Table 3.2 Navigation Menu Icons (continued)

3.3 Home Dashboard

The Home Dashboard is the landing page when you first log into the Connect platform. The dashboard provides summary information about monitored sites and customers and any active alarms.



Figure 3.4 Connect Home Page

This view is created with some standard components when customers and partners are first added to the system but this view can be customized. See Licensing New Partners and Customers on page 19 and Dashboard Management on page 119.

3.3.1 Welcome Banner

When you first register with Connect, you will see a Welcome Banner on the home dashboard. You can permanently dismiss this banner on future logins. The Welcome Banner contains links to the Quick Start Guide, the local agent installer, and a link to setup your profile.

Figure 3.5 Welcome Banner

				×
	Get Started	d with Vertiv Environet™ C	onnect	
Sta	rt by editing your preferences in	My Profile, or select Get Started, or Start the setup	process by using the Agent	
		Installer to add a Local Agent in the Cloud.		
	GET STARTED	DOWNLOAD AGENT INSTALLER	MY PROFILE	

3.3.2 Visual Views and Detail Views

On single entity views, you will see a toggle between Visual View (Dashboard) and the Details view (Tabs/Forms).

Figure 3.6 Visual View/Details View Toggle



The toggle displays the currently active view in text to the left and with highlighting on the toggle. Broadly speaking, the Details view contains more of the configuration options for the entity (customer, device, group, etc.) and the Visual view is a presentation of current state and historical telemetry. On the Home Dashboard this will toggle between the organization dashboard and the organization details.

Figure 3.7 Example Details View

	NVIRONET™ CONN	ECT				€® ▲² 6° (ŋ)	O WILEY E COYOTE	• ?	HELP 🔻	
ft.	Partners Customers	Accounts / Partners / View Partner					Details View	v ≔	2	
	Sites	Since 04-28-2024 Customers 0 U	Jsers 0	iers Cus	tomers	Logs	Alarms	0 🌶	1	
		PARTNER ORGANIZATION NAME			PRIMARY ADMIN USER					
٥		Acme LICENSE TERMS 25 Devices / 2500 Datapoints	s/1vear		None CONTACT PREFERENCE					
?		ADDRESS 900 N Michigan Ave, Chicago			LANGUAGE					
		Cense Summary Devices 0 / 25 Datapoints 0 / 2500 License Expires 12 M 0 D								
		NOTE								•

3.4 Lists

Groups of entities in Connect are shown in lists. Lists are the primary place to create partners, customers, sites, groups, devices, agents, users, etc. Each list is tailored to the specific entity or file but shares a few components in common.

Accounts /	Sites										A
Sites - 8	3										
10 of 83 s	sites - 1	OF 9 PAGES									
Search		<u> </u>							FILTERS		T -
	Status	Site 个	Customer	Devices	•	A	•	Alarm Details		Added	
	0			2						03-21-2024	:
	0									04-11-2023	:
	0									04-11-2023	:
	0									04-13-2023	:
	0									04-03-202 3	:
	0									04-03-202 3	:
	0									04-03-202 3	÷
	0									08-17-2023	:

Figure 3.8 Example List

Lists can be searched and filtered. Both searching and filtering narrow the entities shown in the list view. Each column can be sorted in ascending or descending order by clicking the column header.



Filter icon

List operations are at the top right of the list, next to the filter. List operations are Add, Edit, and Delete.

Add icon

🖍 Edit icon

Delete icon

Some functions can be performed on multiple rows. Select the rows you wish to edit or delete by selecting the checkbox to the left of each row.

Most objects have a status that indicates whether the object is enabled, online, offline, or if the device is disabled or not monitored.

Enabled icon

Online icon

The icon

Disabled icon

Additional columns provide context for related entities. For example, which customer contains the site on each row. Name and context columns are hyperlinked to allow for easy navigation throughout the product.

Lists contain rolled up alarm counts showing the number of active alarms separated by severity.

Pagination controls are in the bottom right of the list. These controls provide a way to change the number of entities shown on each page as well as to navigate to each page of objects.

Lists appear off the main menus (Account, Equipment, User, etc.) and can appear under tabs of their parent entity, such as customers managed by a partner.

Some lists, like the Configuration library, refer to files rather than entities. The functionality of lists is largely the same.

The mobile view for lists hides some columns to better fit the list into the mobile view. Entity detail can still be seen by clicking on the individual entity.

Figure 3.9 Mobile List

ENVIRONET™ (𝑘) O ▾	? -
Equipment / Devices	
Devices - 50	
5 of 50 devices - 1 OF 10 PAGES	
Search	Q,
T FILTERS T 🔁 T 🖉 🔥	Ŵ
Name 1 A	
10.162.29.154_UPS_AUCusto merI-Winsvr2022-hyperv20 1 0 2	:
D 10.207.58.114_GU2_TN22101 0 0	:
0 10.207.58.114_RTAFHD3 Sen o sor_2F000000ECA1DA12	:
D 10.207.58.114_T3HD Sensor_0 0	:
10.207.58.115_GU2_MB23100 0 0	:
Show <u>5</u> ▼ < < > >	

3.5 Notifications

Notifications in Connect are primarily presented as toast notifications at the bottom right of the screen. These show when operations begin and finish.

Figure 3.10 Example Toast Notification



Alarm indicators are in the top right of the header bar and are visible throughout Connect.

Figure 3.11 Alarm Indicators



Some operations like Discovery show an indicator next to the icon when the operation is completed.

Figure 3.12 Discovery Results Indicator

ျား ရ ရ ရ ရ ရ ရ ရ ရ ရ ရ ရ ရ ရ ရ ရ ရ ရ ရ ရ	Swiley e coyote PHELP
Device Discovery	
🧭 Cluj Customer Test 1 min. ago VIEW	Details View 🖽 🖄

License expiration warnings and expired messages are indicated by banner message.

Alarm notifications are external to Connect and can be received via email or SMS. See User Notification Preferences on page 49.

4 Licensing New Partners and Customers

Environet[™] Connect is a multi-tenant platform that allows partners and customers to create users, establish local agents, add devices and configure groups and sites within their designated area of the platform. Users with account and licensing responsibilities can create the initial partner and customer entities required to add new companies to Connect.

4.1 Creating Partners

Partners manage the assets/devices of their customers independently of Vertiv. Only Vertiv users can create partners. Sometimes partners are referred to as channel partners or managed service provides (MSPs).

Partners can be created, edited, viewed, and deleted from the **Partners** list in the **Accounts** menu.

Figure 4.1 Partners List

	Senvironet [™] connection	т									2 <mark>6</mark> 2 (1)		YOTE	HELP
A	Partners	Accounts / P	Partners											
	Customers	Partners	- 117											
	Sites	10 of 117 p	artner	s - 1 OF 12 PAGES										
		Search		<u>م</u>									• 🕂 🥖	V
			Status	Partner 🦆	Customers	Devices	Users		A		Note		Added	
٥			0										12-05-202 2	:
?			0								wthomas - class par	tner.	03-24-202 4	:
			0										03-28-202 2	:
			0								TEST Partner for Ve epresents serv	ertiv as Tenant (r	01-21-2024	:
			0										03-25-202 4	:
			0								Partner for TSE Boo and workshops. D	tcamp training	02-04-202 4	:
			0								Operations Demo		03-26-202 4	:
			0										03-24-202 4	:
			0										03-27-202 4	:
				TestPartnerNew234	2	0	1	0	0	0	testtest		04-03-202	: -

To add a partner to this list, click the

Add icon.

Figure 4.2 New Partner Dialog (Info Tab)

ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT	ilp 🔻
Accounts / Partners / New Partner	^
Information License	
Pertner Organization Name * Acme Crates	
License Terma* 25 Devices / 2500 Datapoints / 1 year	
Address 720 Bel Air Rd, Indian Springs, NV 89018, USA	

The minimum information required for a partner is a name and a license (which can be selected from the drop down), though it is suggested that you also provide an address for the partner, if available. This places the partner automatically on map widgets. After clicking **Save**, the new partner will appear in the partners list.

4.2 View, Update, Delete Partners

From the partners list, users can search for the partner they wish to view or modify. Clicking the name of the partner will take the user to that partner's read-only view.

Figure 4.3 Read Only Partner View (Info Tab)



New tabs become available after the partner is created:

- Users
- Customers
- Logs
- Alarms

Later sections explain each tab in more detail. Creating a partner also creates a default dashboard, which is used adjust to their needs. See Basic Dashboard Editing on page 119.

By default, the system takes you to the Details View for the partner. You can toggle to the partner's dashboard by clicking **Visual View**.

Visual View icon

You can toggle back to the Details View by clicking the **Details View**.

Details View icon

Figure 4.4 Default Dashboard for New Partner

≡ S ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT		·	
Acme Crates			Visual View 🗮 🕲
Since 04-28-2024 Customers 0 Users	0		● 🖻
Мар	♀ ∧ X ≎ ⊗ №	tes 🔨 🗙 😣	0 Entities in Alarm \land 🔀 😣
+ DisAngeles Phoenix	Ottawe Torioto 10 December Washington		Customer Alarmed De A T

Edit Partner details by clicking the

Edit icon.

NOTE: Only Vertiv users can edit Partners, with the exception of the dashboard which the partner can customize.

You can edit all fields on the information tab, except Primary Users. Primary Users is set on the Users Tab. See Inviting New Users on page 36.

Figure 4.5 Edit Partner View (Info Tab)

ENVIRONET™ (CONNECT				┍╸ᡘ	ျားမှ ဖြေ	ЕҮ Е СОУОТЕ 💙	? HELP -
Accounts / Partners	/ Edit Partner							<u> </u>
Acme Cra	ates					Details View	v ≔ ⊘	
Since 04-28-2024 (Customers 0 Users 1						0 / Ť	
Information	License	Users	Customers	Logs	Alarms			
Pertner Organization Name * Acme Crates				Primery Admin User Wiley E Coyote				
License Terms * 25 Devices / 2500 Data	points / 1 year							
Address 720 Bel Air Rd, Indian S	prings, NV 89018, USA							
License Summ								
Devices Datapoints	0 / 25 0 / 2500							
License Expires	12 M 0 D							

A Partner can be deleted by clicking the

Delete icon.

This deletes the partner as well as any users of that partner and customers that are managed by that partner and any devices, sites, groups, agents, or users of those customers.

To view, edit, or delete a partner, click the pull down menu next to the partner in the Partners list.

Figure 4.6 Pull Down Menu in Partners List

	S EN	VIRONET	™ CONNECT				ľ		(p))	9 WILEY E COYO	re 🔻	? HELP -
Ac	ccounts / P	artners										
P	artners	- 121									Pull do	own menu 💡
	of 121 pa	rtners - 1	2 OF 25 PAGES									/
Se 	arch		Q								+ /	* 🖷 🖊
		Status	Partner 个	Customers	Devices	Users	A	i No		Added		
		0								03-24-2024		1
		9								04-07-20 💿	View Det	ails
		9								04-18-20 🧪	Edit	
		0								04-18-20	Delete	
		S								04-18-2024		:
							Show !	5 🕶 !	56 - 60	of 121 🕻	<	×I

4.3 Choosing and Adjusting Licenses

When creating a partner, set the license by selecting an option from the License Terms drop down on the Information tab. These licenses should align to the latest license packs available for purchase. However, since multiple device packs can be purchased, you can manually adjust the entitlements of a license to match what was purchased for a specific partner or customer on the License tab.

Figure 4.7 License Tab

ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT				
Accounts / Partners / Edit Partner				
Acme				Details View ᠄ 🖾
Since 04-28-2024 Customers 0 Users 1				⊕ × Ť
Information License	Users Customers	Logs	Alarms	
Partner Organization Name * Acme		Primary Admin User Wiley E Coyote		
License Terms * 25 Devices / 2500 Datapoints / 1 year				
Address 900 N Michigan Ave, Chicago, IL 60611, USA				
Cicense Summary				
Devices 0/25				
Datapoints 0 / 2500 License Expires 11 M 15 D				

Licenses consist of several entitlements that define limits on the partner's or customer's use of the license. Each of these entitlements can be manually adjusted after the license has been selected:

- License Expiration—Connect is a subscription that can be renewed. The license expiration date indicates when that subscription is due to expire.
- Device Limit—The number of devices an individual partner can add for monitoring.
- Datapoint Limit—The number of individual data points that can be collected among monitored devices.
- **Data Log Retention**—The number of days Connect will retain data logs (numeric values, multi-state values, string values). Connect will always retain the most recent value.
- Event Log Retention—The number of days Connect will retain event logs (Boolean values, events from traps). Connect will always maintain the most recent value.

The system prevents actions that would exceed license entitlements such as adding devices beyond the device limit.

Users of a particular partner or customer whose license is about to expire will receive a notification eight weeks before the license is due to expire, and weekly notifications after that until the license expires.

After the license expires users are still able to log in but they will be unable to make changes to their system. They also do not receive live data or alarms until the license has been renewed.

4.4 Creating Customers

Two types of customers can be created within Connect: Partner Managed and Directly Licensed.

4.4.1 Partner Managed Customers

Partner Managed Customers are primarily created and managed by partners. They do not have their own license, but rather receive an allocation or a chunk of the partner's license.

Partner Managed Customers are managed from the Customers tab of the partner. This list shows partners how much of their license that they've allocated to each customer.

=	😯 en	VIRONET™	CONNECT			P A	6 (1)		руоте	?	HELP 🔻
0	Acme (04-28-20		artner rs 2 Users 1				Þ,	Details \	/iew	:=	
Sinc	Informat		License	Users	Customers	Logs Alar	ms				
	Search		٩						Ð	1	7
		Status	Company Name 🕇	Sites	Devices	Datapoints		Users			
		0			0 / 25 devices	0 / 2500 datapoints				:	
		0			0 / 50 devices	0 / 5000 datapoints				:	
						Show <u>10</u>					
								CLOSE			

Figure 4.8 Customer Tab Under a Partner

To add a new customer, click the

Add icon.

Figure 4.9 Customer License Allocation from Partner

■ S ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT	<mark>ლ გ³ ტ</mark> ი (ი)	Q WILEY E COYOTE	? HELP -
Accounts / Customers / New Customer			
+ New Customer			
Information License			
Pertose Acme Crates			
Custome/Company Neme* UHaul			
Address 1281 Kimmerling Rd #8, Gardnerville, NV 89410, USA			
Allocation 50 devices / 5000 datapoints			

Creating a customer this way will auto select the correct partner. The only required fields are the customer's name and allocation, although an address is recommended for placement on map widgets.

A partner can allocate some or all their license devices and data points to their individual customers. The allocation drop down provides suggested allocation sizes, although like licenses, these can be manually adjusted on the license tab.

Figure 4.10 Customer License Allocation from Partner

			ျားနာနာ (၈) မ	WILEY E COYOTE	? HELP -
Accounts / Customers / Edit Customer					A
			Deta	ails View ᠄≣	
Added 04-30-2024 Sites 0 Users 0				+ /	Ť
Information License Preferences	Sites	Users	Devices	Agents	>
License Details	Licer	nse Allocation	✓ 0 of 50 devices utilize	ьd	
50 devices / 5000 datapoints		50	_		
License Expine 4/30/2025	i o	Detapointe 5000	Unlimited 🕑 0 of 50	00 datapoints utilized	
2 12 M O Dremelhing	Log	Retention			
		Data Log - daya 60			
		Event Log - døys 60	O Unlimited		

Because the customer inherits its license from the partner, it has the same expiration date and data retention limits. Its devices and data point limits cannot exceed the limits of the partner.

4.4.2 Directly Licensed Customers

Directly Licensed Customers do not have a partner intermediary between their company and Vertiv. In the Connect system, Vertiv acts as the Partner, but the customer has their own license. The customer does not have an allocation because they are not sharing a partner's license.

Vertiv users can create a directly licensed customer from the Customers List under the Accounts tab.

	S ENVIRONET [™] CONNE	ст						83	A ³ () ⁰	(1) O WILEY E COYOTE ? HELP
A	Partners	Accounts /	Customer	S						A
4		Custom	ers - 2	23						
~	Sites	10 of 223		mers - 4 OF 23 PAGES						
		Search		<u> </u>						🍸 filters 🍷 🕂 🧪 🧻
			Status	Company Name 🕇	Sites	Devices	Users	A		Alarm Details
¢			0							:
?			0							:
			0							:
			0							:
			0							:
			0							Device 192.168.8.4_Watchdog 100_T B
			S	Cluj customer test hub	0	0		o		

Figure 4.11 Directly Licensed Customers List

To add a new customer, click the

Add icon.

Figure 4.12 New Directly Licensed Customer Dialog (Info Tab)

ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT	P P P WILEY E COYOTE * ? HELP *
Accounts / Customers / New Customer	
Over the test of the test of the test of t	
Information License	
Partner* Vertiv	
Customer/Company Neme * Coyote Springs	
Additivesi 3100 NV-168, Moapa, NV 89025, USA	
Liounea 500 Devices / 50000 Datapoints / 1 year	

Select Vertiv as the Partner. This enables the license drop down. As with partner managed customers, only the name and license are required, though address is suggested.

The license selection and adjustment process for directly licensed customers is the same as the one for partners. See Choosing and Adjusting Licenses on page 24.

4.5 View, Update, Delete Customers

Search for the customer to view or modify from the list under the Accounts menu or the Customers tab under a partner. Clicking the name of a customer will take the user to that customer's read-only view.

Figure 4.13 Read-Only Customer View (Info Tab)

	™ CONNECT				₽₽₽₽ ₩	Swiley e coyote	? HELP *
Accounts / Customers	/ View Customer						
📀 Coyote Sprii	ngs				Deta	ils View ᠄≣	
Added 04-30-2024	Sites 0 Users 0					+ 🗡	T
< Information	on License	Preferences	Sites	Users	Devices	Agents	>
PARTNER Vertiv CUSTOMER Coyote Springs ADDRESS 3100 NV-168, Ma Contense Summary Devices Datapoints License Expire S NOTE	oapa, NV 89025						

Creating a customer also creates a default dashboard, which can be adjusted later to suit your needs. See Basic Dashboard Editing on page 119.

The system defaults to the Details View for customers. You can toggle to the customer's dashboard by clicking

Visual View icon.

Toggle back to Details View by clicking

Details View icon


Figure 4.14 Default Dashboard (Visual View) for New Customer

Edit customer details by clicking the

Fdit icon

All fields can be edited on the information tab.

NOTE: Only the managing partner or Vertiv can edit customers with the exception of the dashboard which the customer can customize.

Figure 4.15 Edit Customer View (Info Tab)

Accents / Customers / Edit Customers	ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT	PPP W Owney e coyote ? Help *
Added 04-30-2024 Stes 0 Uerrs 0 information License Preferences Sites Uars Devices Agents information License Preferences Sites Uars Devices information License Preferences Devices Sites Devices information License Preferences Devices Devices Devices information License Preferences Devices Devices Devices	Accounts / Customers / Edit Customer	<u> </u>
Information License Peterences Sites Users Devices Agents Peterences Vertiv Conteme:Company Nerse* Coycle Springs More sponts Nor 98025 More sponts / 10000 Datapoints / 1 year Vertiv Conteme:Company Nerse* Coycle Springs More sponts / 20000 Datapoints / 1 year Vertiv Notes Notes		Details View 🗮 🕲
Pursue Varthy Curstomet/Company Nerse* Coryote Springs Adrawe 3100 NV-168, Moapa, NV B9025 Corease Sources / 50000 Datapoints / 1 year Icense Summary Devices / 05000 Datapoints 0 / 50000 Datapoints 0 / 50000 Datapoints 1 Z W O D Notes	Added 04-30-2024 Sites 0 Users 0	
VertW CustomerCompany Name* Cyold Springs Advere 300 NV-168, Moapa, NV 89025 Loreer 500 Devices / 50000 Datapoints / 1 year Image: Company Number of Com	Information License Preferences Sites Users	Devices Agents >
Coyote Springs		
3100 NV-188, Maapa, NV 89025 License S000 Datapoints / 1 year License Summary Devices 0 / 500 Datapoints 0 / 5000 License Expires 12 M 0 D Notes		
500 Devices / 50000 Datapoints / 1 year Cicense Summary Devices Datapoints 0 / 500 Datapoints 0 / 500 License Expires 12 M 0 D		
Devices 0 / 500 Dstapoints 0 / 50000 License Expires 12 M 0 D		
Datapoints 0 / 50000 License Expires 12 M 0 D Notes	🧭 License Summary	
	Datapoints 0/50000	
<u>ــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ</u>		

After a customer is created, new tabs become available:

- Preferences
- Sites
- Users
- Assets
- Agents
- Logs
- Alarms

Later sections explain these in more detail. Creating a customer also creates a default dashboard, which can be adjusted to a customer's needs. See Dashboard Management on page 119.

The system defaults to the Details View for customers. You can toggle to the customer's dashboard by clicking

Visual View icon.

Toggle back to Details View by clicking

Details View icon

From the Details View, edit the customer details by clicking the

Edit icon.

NOTE: Only the managing partner or Vertiv can edit customers with the exception of the dashboard which the customer can customize.

All fields can be edited on the information tab.

Figure 4.16 Edit Customer View (Info Tab)

	► ENVIRONET [™]	CONNECT	ī				(†) • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Swiley e coyote	?	HELP 🔻
P	Accounts / Customers / E	dit Customer								
	Coyote Spring	s					D	etails View ᠄ 🗄		
,	Added 04-30-2024	Sites 0	Users 0					+ /	T	
	< Information		License	Preferences	Sites	Users	Devices	Agents	>	
	Partner Vertiv									
	Customer/Company Name* Coyote Springs									
	Address 3100 NV-168, Moapa, NV 89	025								
	License 500 Devices / 50000 Datap	ooints / 1 year								
	🔮 License Summary									
	Datapoints	0 / 500 0 / 50000 12 M 0 D								

To delete a customer, use the

Delete icon.

When a customer is deleted, all users of that customer and any services, sites, groups, agents, users of that customer are also deleted.

View, edit, or delete a customer by clicking the pull down icon next to the customer in the Customers List.

Pull down icon

Figure 4.17 Pull Down Menu in Customers List

	S EN	VIRONET	™ CONNECT					P	3 <mark>(</mark>)		E COYOT	TE T	HELP	
A	Accounts / C	ustomers												^
¢	Custome	rs - 227												
1	10 of 227 c	ustomers	- 1 OF 23 PAGES											
s –	Search		<u>م</u>								• €		Ì	
		Status	Company Name 🦊	Sites	Devices	Users	A		Alarm Details		/			
		Ø								Pull down i	nenu			
		0									👁 vi	ew Details		
		Ø									🥕 E0	Jit		
		Ø									D D	elete		
		Ø										:		
		Ø										:		
		Ø			15				Compressor1 Lo	w Suction Pr	essure a	:		
		0										:		
	_		Hilaul	^	0	^						:		-

4.6 Customer Preferences

Specify the device credentials that are common across all or most of a customer's devices from the Preferences tab. These credentials are assumed as default for any discovery or monitoring but they can be changed manually at the individual device level.

Currently, two sets of default credentials can be specified: Provisioning Credentials and SNMP Credentials.

Figure 4.18 Customer Preferences Tab (Edit Mode)

= 🐼 E	NVIRONET™ CONNECT				(P) 🗣 🗛 🤁	9	? HELP -
	Accounts / Customers / Edit Customer						<u>^</u>
	Acme				Details V	iew ≔ 🖄	
	Added 04-21-2024 Sites 0 Users 0					🕀 🧪 📋	
	C Information License	Preferences	Sites U	sers [Devices	Agents	
	Default Provisioning Credentials		Default SNMP Cre	dentials			
	Admin Username		SNMP Version SNMPv2c				
	Admin Username						
	Admin Password	۲	Read Community String				
	Admin Paseword		Reed Community String				
			Write Community String				
			Write Community String				
				CANCEL	SAVE		

4.6.1 Provisioning Credentials

For a limited set of Vertiv devices only, we offer the ability to complete provisioning actions that require an administrator login on the edge card or device. Provisioning features are described in Provisioning on page 141.

This admin username and password is not used for access to Connect, but rather it gives Connect the ability to access the edge device. Users should not use their Connect login in these fields.

Figure 4.19 Default Provisioning Credentials

PROVISIONING CREDENTIALS		
Admin Username		
Admin Username		
Admin Password	<i>₹</i>	
Admin Password		

4.6.2 SNMP Credentials

The default SNMP credentials are used during device discovery to poll common device OIDs like manufacturer and model to attempt to identify the edge device. They are also used as the default SNMP credentials when polling the device for readings.

Connect supports SNMP v1, v2c, and v3.

For v1 and v2c, the SNMP credentials are the read and write community strings used to poll or update OIDs on the edge device.

Figure 4.20 Default SNMP v2c Credentials

PROTOCOLS		
SNMP Version SNMPv2c		
Read Community String	۲	
Read Community String		
Write Community String	۲	
Write Community String		

SNMP v3 offers more options with user-based authentication. Connect supports the authentication and privacy types supported on Vertiv cards and devices.

Figure 4.21 Default SNMP v3 Credentials

PROTOCOLS	
SNMP Version SNMPV3	
Authentication Type 🗸	
SNMP Username	
SNMP Userneme Privacy Type	
Authentication Secret 📀	Privacy secret 💿
Authentication Secret	Privacy secret

4.7 Inviting New Users

After the partner or customer has been created in the Connect platform, the last step is to create the first user. This is done from the Users tab on either the partner or the customer.

≡ 🛇	ENVIRONET [™] CONNE	ECT					(1) O WILEY E COYOTE ? HELP *
A	Accounts / Partners / View Par	tner					
Ø	Acme						Details View 🗮 🎯
Sin	ce 04-28-2024 Customers	0 Users 0					
	Information	License	Users	Customers	Logs	Alarms	
	Search	٩				T F	ilters 🍷 🕂 🖉 👕
	Status		Username 个		First	Last	
	No matching results.						
						Show 10 💌	
							CLOSE

Figure 4.22 Users Tab Under a Partner

Create a new user by clicking the

Add icon

on the users list.

Figure 4.23 New Partner User Dialog

■ S ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT	
Settings / Users / Add user	
New User	
User info Access Permissions Notifica	tions
Organizations Acme	Languaga* English
Ueerneme (email) * wiley.coyote@wb.com	Permissions Role * Administrator Permissions
Finst* Wiley E	
Last* Coyote	
Ptons -1 - 7065551234	
SMS	
Contact preference	
6 Email O Phone	

The minimum information required for the user:

- An email (which doubles as their username)
- First and last name
- Language (default is English)
- Their role

For the first user of a Partner or Customer, the role should be Administrator. The Partner or Customer organization should be auto selected if created from the Users tab under the respective Partner or Customer.

The first user created for the partner or customer is the Primary Admin. The Primary Admin serves as the primary contact for the partner or customer during support calls. The Primary Admin cannot be deleted in order to prevent the partner or customer from being locked out of Connect, but the role can be transferred to another user using the pull down menu.

≡ 💸 environet [™] c	CONNECT			€ 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		COYOTE Y ? HELP Y
Accounts / Partners / View P					Details \	/iew ≔ 🖄
Information	License Users	Customers	Logs	Alarms		Pull down menu
Search	۹			T	FILTERS 👻 🕂	/ C T
Status	Username 个		Firs	t Last		Ļ
□			Chi	cken Haw	ĸ	<u>:</u>
□ ♥			Ma	rvin Mart	ian 🔮 Set as	primary admin
□ ⊘			Wil	ву Е Соус	ote 臱 Resen	d Registration
				Show 10 1	-3 c 🧪 Edit	
					Ø Disab	le
					C Reset	Password
					View E	
					≐	·

Figure 4.24 Partner Users List Pull Down Menu to Change Primary User

Registration emails can take a few minutes to be received. If a user has not received their registration within a few minutes, they should double-check their junk or spam folder for the invite. If the invited user does not receive the registration email, or if the registration token expires, an admin user can resend the invitation from the pull down menu and clicking **Resend Registration**.

Once the partner and customer have access to the system, they can invite other users to their organization, and create users for the customers they manage.

User Creation is covered in detail in Managing Users on page 39.

5 Managing Users

Account access to Environet[™] Connect is currently managed from within the Connect platform.

As discussed in Licensing New Partners and Customers on page 19, initial access to Connect is granted when new Partners or Customer are licensed in the product. This section covers managing users in more detail including creating, editing, deleting, defining a user's role and access, and dealing with temporary lockouts.

5.1 Creating Users

Users can be created from the Users tab of a specific partner or customer (see Inviting New Users on page 36) or from the Users List under the Settings menu. Vertiv, Partner, and Customer users can all create users within the Connect system, provided they have the User & Locale Management permission enabled.

Figure 5.1 Users List Under Settings Menu

	Senvironet [™] Connection	т				F	A 🔑 (w)	O WILEY E CO	руоте 🍷 ? н	HELP 🔻
ft	My Profile	Settings / U								
د				OF 80 PAGES						
		Search		Q					🕂 🎤 @	' 👕
			Status	Username 个	First		Organization	Language	Date Added	
¢			0		AutoTest	QA 2024-04-19T08-38-58-197Z	Vertiv	English	04-19-2024	÷
?			0		AutoTest	QA 2024-04-19T08-40-03-543Z	Vertiv	English	04-19-2024	:
			0		AutoTest	QA 2024-04-19T08-41-12-169Z	Vertiv	English	04-19-2024	:
			0		testprimary	test		English	04-09-2024	:
			0		ramon	test		English	04-08-2024	:
						Show			ı<	>I

Click the



to create a new user from the Users List. The New User dialog opens.

Figure 5.2 Create New User Dialog (Custom User)

Settings / Users / Add user	
New User	O 🗡 🗊
User info Access Permissions Notifications	
Contorner* Acme Crates	Ingap'
Uwanama (amai) * Emar Fuddiewiboom	Persissons lists * Administrator Permissions
Find* Elmer	Multi-Factor Authentication (MFA)
Lær* Fudd	
Prose • 1 - 3135550000	
345 ■ •1 - 333550000	
Contact preference	
● Email ○ Phone	

The User Info tab contains the minimum information required to create a user.

Information	Description	Required?
Organization	The specific partner or customer in which the new user will be a member of. This can also be Vertiv.	Yes
Username (email)	The username used to access the system. Used to send registration email and other platform notifications, including license expiration and alarm notifications. This must be unique within the system.	Yes
First	The user's first name. Used to personalize emails and to display their name without revealing their username.	Yes
Last	The user's last name.	Yes
Phone	The user's phone number. Used for entering customer contact but is not directly used by the platform to send messages.	No
SMS	Phone number or SMS email for receiving text notifications from the platform. This field is optional and is used when a user wants to receive SMS notifications.	No
Language	Currently only English is supported. Additional language support is to be added in future versions.	Yes
Permissions Role	The user's overall role within their organization. This defines the scope of their responsibility broadly and can be fine tuned on the permissions tab after the user is created. See User Permissions (Capabilities) on page 50.	Yes
Multi-Factor Authentication (MFA)	Method by which the platform will send a multi-factor authentication code.	Yes

Table 5.1 Minimum Information Required to Create a User

■ S ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT	PPP 🖓 P 🕪 WILEY E COYOTE 👻 ? HELP 🕇
Settings / Users / Add user	
New User	
User info Access Permissions Notifica	ions
Organizations *	Language* English
Customers	Permissione Role * Operator Permissions
lcustomerramon	
AUCustomer 1	
AUCustomer2	*
Ben Trube Testing Customer #001	
+1 - 3135550000	
sus === +1 ~ 3135560000	
Contact preference	
🧿 Email 🔿 Phone	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Figure 5.3 Organization Drop Down Showing Partners and Customers Grouped

After all required fields are completed, the managing user clicks Save to create the new user. The new user will receive a registration email within a few minutes. See Inviting New Users on page 36.

5.2 View, Update, Delete Users

From any Users list (tab under partner/customer, menu item under Settings), users with the User & Locale Management permission enabled can search for other users within their organization and child organizations they manage. Click the name of a user to see that user's read-only view.

= 😒 en	VIRONET [™] CON	INECT			6⁸⁸ A² 6 (y)	O WILEY E COYOTE * ? HELP *
Settings / U	sers / View user					
Selme	r Fudd					🕀 🥕 🔋
ENABLED	ORGANIZATIO	N CVS Caremark US	ERNAME Elmer.Fudd@wb.com	USER SINCE 04-29-2024		
Use	r info	Access	Permissions	Notifications		
(EF	Language English User since 04-29-2024		Contact prefer Email Elmer.Fudd@wl		
						CLOSE

Figure 5.4 Users Read Only View (Info Tab)

The username and organization cannot be changed once the user has been created, but all other fields are editable.

A user can be deleted by clicking on the



The deleted user will be logged out of any active sessions and will be unable to log back into the system. Any audit logs with entries for that user are maintained. Primary Admin users cannot be deleted to prevent partners and customers from being locked out of the system, but the role can be assigned to other users. See Inviting New Users on page 36.

Users cannot modify their own access or permissions and they cannot delete themselves, but they can modify their own preferences and identifying information. See First Steps on page 8.

The pull down menu shows all available actions that can be taken on a user, including some or all of the following:

- View Details
- Edit
- Disable
- Unlock (only if user is locked)
- Delete
- Resend Invite (available only when user has not completed registration)
- Set as Primary Admin (available only if the user is not already the primary admin, applies to that user's organization only)

Figure 5.5 Pull Down Menu with Available Actions

$\mathbf{\hat{v}}$	ENV	/IRONET™ C	ONNECT					((n)) 😧 WILE	Y E COYOTE	HELP -
Setting	gs / Use	ers								
Use	rs - 1									
1 of 1 Search	1 User	s - <mark>1</mark> OF 1 PAG								
elmer			<u>×</u>						🕂 🧪 🤄	T
C	כ	Status	Username	First	Last	Organization	Language	Date Added		Pull down menu
C	ו	0		Elmer	Fudd		English	04-29-2024		: ×
							Show 5 💌	1-1 of 1 🤗	 Resend Registration 	n
								/	Edit	
								e	Disable	
								6	Reset Password	
								•	View Details	

5.3 Multi-Factor Authentication

As of version 1.4, Connect requires two-factor authentication to log into the platform. This consists of a username and password plus a code sent to either email or SMS.

Users can set their MFA code preference by editing their profile. By default, the system will send MFA codes via the email used for the username but can also send a text message to the SMS phone number if preferred.

NOTE: Sending an MFA code via SMS requires an SMS phone number to be specified on the user profile. This is a separate field from the phone number, though it can be the same value.

Figure 5.6 Example of an MFA Code Email

VERTIV.
MFA Code from Vertiv Environet™ Connect
Hi Elmer,
Your MFA code for login is AIPOK0 . This code will expire in 15 minutes.
VERTIV. EI y @ E 🗅
Don't miss important information from Vertiv. To help ensure that you receive our newly branded emails, please add <u>ask@go.Vertiv.com</u> to your address book. We respect your right to privacy. <u>View our policy</u>
Vertiv.com 1050 Dearborn Drive Columbus OH 43085, United States. Tel: +1 (614) 888-0246 / Fax: +1 (614) 841-6882
© 2019 Vertiv Group Corp. All rights reserved. Vertiv™ and the Vertiv logo are trademarks or registered marks of Vertiv Group Corp.

After the user enters their correct username and password, Connect will send a temporary code via the user's preferred MFA method. This code will expire within 15 minutes. The **Figure 5.6** above shows an example of an MFA code email.

IMPORTANT! Check your spam folder if you are not receiving the MFA code email as expected.

To complete logging in, copy the code from the email or SMS into the MFA code form and click **Validate** (see **Figure 5.7** on the next page). If the code has expired, or if the SMS or Email has not been received, you can click **Resend MFA Code** on this form to get a new code.

Figure 5.7 MFA Code Entry Form



To reduce the number of MFA checks, you can tick the box next to "Remember this device". This will allow the user to log in without MFA codes for a week.

5.4 User Lockout, Session Timeout

Users are locked out of the Connect platform after three failed password attempts. After the first missed username or password they receive a warning.

Figure 5.8 User Lockout Warning

VERTIV. EnviroNet Connect
Username
ryann.hamsa@feerock.com
Password
••••• •
LOG IN
Invalid password for ryann.hamsa@feerock.com. User will be locked out after 2 additional attempts
Forgot Password
Privacy Policy Terms & Conditions

The system has a lockout timer. After two additional failed attempts the user is locked out of the system for 30 minutes. After the 30 minute timer has elapsed, the user can log back into the system. If they attempt to log back in before the lockout timer has expired, the timer is reset to 30 minutes.

Figure 5.9 User Locked out with Lockout Timer

VERTIX EnviroNet Connect
Username
ryann.hamsa@feerock.com
Password
••••• •
LOG IN
Your user has been locked out for 30 minutes due to too many failed login attempts.
Forgot Password
Privacy Policy Terms & Conditions

Users with the User & Locale Management permission enabled can unlock their fellow users before the lockout timer has expired.

The status of any user can be seen from the Users list. A user can be one of



Figure 5.10 User List with Locked User

	ONET™ CO	NNECT				₽₽ <mark>₽</mark> ₽₽ «	WILEY	е соуоте 💙	? HELP -
Settings / U	lsers						_		
Users - 3	399						/	Edit	
5 of 399 l	Users - 1 OF						Ø	Disable	Pull down
Search		<u> </u>				T FIL	ters Č	Reset Password	menu
	Status 🕹	Username	First		Organization	Language	Dab 📀	View Details	
			Test	Test	Vertiv	English	03-	Unlock	
	a		Cosmin	Pasca		English	04-19-2024	· •	
			Larisa	Zah		English	10-09-2023	:	
			test	test		English	04-03-2024	4	

The Figure 5.3 on page 41 shows the bottom user has been locked out. To unlock this user, click the pull down menu next to that row and click Unlock or click the User's details and click the

Unlock icon.

Figure 5.11 Locked User Details

=	ENVIRONET [™] CON	INECT			(*)	e wil	EY E COY	ΌΤΕ		? HEL	Р 🗸
	Settings / Users / View user										
	Test Test						•	1	۲	Ē	
		N Vertiv USERNAME	Test@test.com USER SINC	E 03-31-2022							
	User info	Access	Permissions	Notifications							
		Language English User since 03-31-2022		Contact preference Email Test@test.com							

After the user has been unlocked, either manually or automatically, that user can attempt to log back in again. The attempts counter and lockout timer are reset.

An idle user is automatically logged out of the system after a fixed period. A minute before being logged out, the user is given a warning their session is about to expire and can press **Cancel** to resume their session. Otherwise, they are logged out and redirected to the login screen.

Figure 5.12 Session Timeout



5.5 Disabling and Enabling Users

Disabling a user is a way to temporarily prevent a user from logging into the system without deleting them. It differs from user lockout (see User Lockout, Session Timeout on page 45) in that it is manually applied and removed. Disabled users are unable to log into the system until another user enables them as there is no lockout timer.

Managing users can disable other users by clicking the **Disable** option on the pull down menu.

Figure 5.13 Disabling User in Users List

≡ 😒	ENVIRON	IET™ CONI	NECT				֎֎֎֎ (#	O WILEY E COYOTE Y ? HELP Y
	Settings / U	Jsers						
	Users - :	383						
	5 of 383 (Users - 1 Ol						
	Search		<u> </u>					T 🛨 🧪 🞯 🍵
		Status	Username 🕈	First		Organization	Language	Date Added menu
		0		test	test		English	04-03-2024
		0		EvanMiller	Lowpriv	Vertiv	English	9 Set as primary admin
		0		Abass	Finbarr		English	
		0		test access	user		English	🖍 Edit
		0		Abel	Segador		English	Ø Disable
						Show 5		C Reset Password
								View Details
								👕 Delete

The status for the disabled user is indicated with a

Disabled icon.

The disabled user can be re-enabled by clicking the

Enable icon

on the pull down menu.

The disable/enable status can also be viewed in the header for the user in two places: the overall status to the left of the user's name, and the disable/enable toggle on the second row.

Figure 5.14 Disabled User Statuses in Read-Only User View (Header)

ENVIRONET™ C	ONNECT			() ()	O WILEY E COYOTE ▼ ? HELP ▼
Settings / Users / View user					
Elmer Fudd					⊕ / 1
DISABLED ORGANIZAT	TION CVS Caremark USE	RNAME Elmer.Fudd@wb.com	USER SINCE 04-29-2024		
User info	Access	Permissions	Notifications		
EF	Language English User since 04-29-2024		Contact preference Email Elmer.Fudd@wb.com		

5.6 User Notification Preferences

On the **Notifications** tab, users can set their preferences for when and how they receive alarm notifications. To edit these preferences, click the

Fdit icon.

Figure 5.15 User Notification Preferences

≡ 😒	ENVIRONET™ CONNECT					(¹⁰⁷ A ² (¹⁰ (₁)	O WILEY E COYOTE ? HELP *
	Settings / Users / Edit user						
	Wiley E Coyote						G 🗡 🗑
		N Acme USERNAME wi		USER SINCE 04-29-2024			
	User info	Access	Permissions	Notifications			
	Alarm Notification Prefere	ences					
	Notification Severity						
	User will receive notifications at chose	en severity or greater					
	Contact Preference						
	🗹 Email 🔲 SMS						
	Alarm Conditions						
	Active Cleared						
					RESEND INVITE	CANCEL	SAVE

The Alarm Notification Preferences drop down provides choices on how severe an alarm must be before being sent to the user. By default, users are set to **Informational** which sends all alarms—informational severity and above. However, users can change this setting to receive only warnings or critical. **Warnings** will send the user only warnings and critical severity alarms. **Critical** will send the user only critical severity alarms.

Figure 5.16 Notification Severity Preferences



The Contact Preference specifies how alarm notifications are received. This differs from the contact preference on the User Info tab which is intended for service calls. Users can receive alarm notifications by email and/or SMS. If they disable both options, they will not receive any notifications except when logged into the product.

The Alarm Conditions options determine if users will see alarms when they become active, when they are cleared, or both. If they disable both options, they will not receive any notifications except when logged into the product.

Click **Save** to save user notification preferences.

5.7 User Permissions (Capabilities)

When editing or viewing a user, the Permissions tab contains a detailed view of what that user can do within the Connect platform. Some functionality is not available to all types of users (Vertiv, Partners, Customers) and new functionality will be added to the platform in future releases.





Use the toggles to the right to choose or manage what users can do. When first creating a user, choose a role to set the initial values for these permissions. When managing users, manually adjust each individual capability depending on the user's responsibilities.

Switching permissions off may hide functionality within the product. For example, turning off the User & Locale Management permission will hide the users list. Turning off other permissions will disable that permission to a only read-only view.

The current list of permissions is listed in Table 5.2 below.

Table 5.2 Permissions

Permission	Description
Device Management	Allows the user to create devices and local agents. Users without this permission can still view device data, but they cannot change device configurations.
Device Reports	Allows the user to run asset reports which can be exported for use in external tools. See Provisioning on page 141 .
Dashboard Management	Allows users to modify partner, customer, site, and asset group dashboards (visual views). Users without this permission can still view dashboards but cannot modify them.
	NOTE: This does not apply to the visual view on devices.
User & Locale Management	Allows the user to create new users within their organization or child organizations. Required for all functionality described in this section. Users without this permission can modify their own user preferences but cannot make other changes.
Account Management	Allows the user to create new partners and customers (Vertiv) or new customers only (Partners). This permission does not apply to customer users.
License Management	Allows the user to directly license partners and customers (Vertiv) or allocate portions of the partner's license to customers (Vertiv, Partners). This permission does not apply to customer users.
Audit Log	Allows the user to view actions taken by other users within the platform. This can include create, delete, edit, disable, enable, log in, log out, and other actions that affect system operation.
Provisioning Management	Allows updates to configurations and firmware of a limited set of Vertiv devices.

5.8 User Access (Scope, Visibility)

When editing or viewing a user, the Access tab contains a detailed view of what that user can see within the Connect platform. This allows managing users to define the scope of other user's access, restricting them to only the partners, customers, sites, groups, and/or devices they manage.

This affects what the user can see throughout the product on maps and lists as well as what notifications they receive. Some actions can be restricted such as deleting entities—a user must be able to access everything affected by a deletion in order to complete the action.

Figure 5.18 User Default Access



By default, new users can see all entities managed by their parent organization.

- A customer user can see all sites, groups, and devices within their customer
- A partner user can see all customers, sites, groups, devices managed by their partner
- A Vertiv user can see everything in the system.

If new partners, customers, sites, groups, devices are created, the user automatically gets access to them. Users can see but not edit their own access.

When editing a user, a managing user can toggle to the Select option. This gives the ability to select only the partners, customers, sites, groups, or devices that the user can access.

Figure 5.19 Selecting the Type of Entity for Editing Access

ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT	₽₽	
Settings / Users / Edit user		
🖍 Ryann Hamsa		⊕ 🗡 👘
ENABLED CORGANIZATION Solaris Connect Partner USERNAME	ryann.hamsa@feerock.com USER SINCE 09-08-2023	
User info Access Permission	s Notifications	
	Search Q	T FILTERS T
Access All Select	Company Name 🛧	
Select ACCESS - by cettingony ACCESS - Customers	Solaris Managed Customer 1	
Select access to Customers, Sites, Groups, or Devices	Solaris Managed Customer 2	
ACCESS SUMMARY	Solaris Managed Customer 3	
		1-3 of 3 < < > >
Sites - 1 of 0	Show 10 👻	1-3013 < < > >
Group(s) - 6 of 9		
Devices - 0 of 0		

From the drop down the managing user can choose to edit partners (Vertiv only), customers (Vertiv and Partners only), sites, groups, or devices. This brings up a list of all entities accessible to the logged-in user.

■ S ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT				(P) 🛟 😭		оуоте 🔻	? HELP *
Settings / Users / View user							^
🤗 Wiley E Coyote						Ð /	• 👕
ENABLED ORGANIZATION Vertiv USERNAME		USER SINCE 0	4-22-2024				
User info Access	Permissions	Notifications					
Default Access		Search	٩		ľ	FILTERS)
Access All Select		1 33+	Company Name 个				
Select ACCESS - by category ACCESS - Customers			Cluj Customer Test				
Select access to Customers, Sites, Groups, or Devices			Cluj customer test hub				
ACCESS SUMMARY			Cluj Lab Linux - Customer				
Partners - 119 of 119Customers - 227 of 227			Sh	how <u>10 ▼ 1-3of3</u>			
Sites - 90 of 90							
Group(s) - 697 of 697							
Devices - 162 of 162							

Figure 5.20 Selecting Which Customers a User Can Access

Figure 5.20 above shows that Customers are selected from the category drop down. If one of the customers is unselected, access is removed not only from that customer but also from any sites, groups, and devices contained within that customer. A summary of the user's full access is shown on the left hand side.



= 😒	ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT				1 ⁷⁹ 1 ³ 1 ⁹ (1)	9 WILEY E COYOTE	? HELP
	Settings / Users / Edit user						
	🖍 Ryann Hamsa					G 🗡	Ť
	ENABLED CRGANIZATION Solaris Connect Partner	USERNAME ryann.hamsa@fe		USER SINCE 09-08-2023			
	User info Access	Permissions	Notifications				
			Search	٩		FILTERS	
	Access All O Select		<mark>=</mark> 2	Company Name ↑			
	Select ACCESS - by catagory ACCESS - Customers			Solaris Managed Customer 1			
	Select access to Customera, Sitee, Groupe, or Devices			Solaris Managed Customer 2			
	ACCESS SUMMARY			Solaris Managed Customer 3			
	Customers - 2 of 3						
	Sites - 1 of 0			Show 10 🔻	1-3 of 3 <		
	🥝 Group(s) - 6 of 9						
	Devices - 0 of 0						

Managing users can edit access at any level, but if they grant access to a child entity, access to the parent will be granted as well.

For example, if the managing editor first edited customers and removed Customer 2, this would remove access to all the sites, groups, and devices in Customer 2. If they then edit sites and add visibility to a site that is part of Customer 2, then access to Customer 2 is also added, but not access to all other sites, groups, devices that are within Customer 2.

If a partner user is restricted to one or more customers, they will not get access to new customers added to the partner automatically. If no additional restrictions were placed on the sites, groups, devices under the customers they can access, then they will see any new sites, groups, devices that are added to those customers.

6 Installing the Local Agent

Environet[™] Connect communicates with devices through a software local agent installed in the customer network. The agent needs to be able to communicate both with the device network to poll data and provision devices and with the internet to send data to the Connect cloud.

The Windows and Linux agents are based on Microsoft's Azure IoT Edge. See <u>https://learn.microsoft.com/en-us/azure/iot-edge/support?view=iotedge-1.4</u>.

Azure IoT Edge handles the authentication of each agent and sends data to the Connect cloud. Data is collected within the customer network via SNMP (v1, v2c, or v3). The agent supports polling of device data as well as receiving and processing traps/informs from devices.

A single agent can collect data for approximately 800 devices, assuming 100 datapoints per device. For larger customers, multiple agents need to be installed, each on their own dedicated virtual machine (VM) or "bare metal" hardware.

If connectivity is lost, a local agent will continue to poll devices and receive traps, caching that data for transmission to the cloud once connectivity is restored.

6.1 Downloading the Agent

You can download the Windows and Linux Agents from the Download Agent Installer button in the Welcome banner. You can also download the installer by navigating to the Local Agent list (under the Equipment menu), then clicking the

Add icon

to add a new agent.

The New Agent dialog opens. From this dialog, click the **Download Agent Installer** button to download the agent.

Figure 6.1 New Agent Dialog

	Senvironet [™] Conn	IECT	
ft	Devices	Equipment / Local Agents / New Local Agent	
i	Groups		0 / T
		Information	9 / 1
	Configurations	SELECT YOUR CUSTOMER	ENTER THE AUTHENTICATION CODE FROM INSTALLER
	Firmware	CVS Caremark	Enter Code from Installer *
٥		TYPE A NAME FOR THE NEW LOCAL AGENT Agent Nems*	
?		New Agent-1	DOWNLOAD AGENT INSTALLER

Clicking the download button opens a dialog with links to the Windows and Linux versions of the installer. The Windows Agent requires a component called Edge for Linux on Windows (EFlow). Because of this, the download page offers two options for the Windows Agent. Both installers use EFlow and result in the same installation.

- 1. Download Windows Agent. This link downloads the latest EFlow during the installation process
- 2. Download Windows Agent with EFlow. This link includes EFlow embedded in the installer.

Figure 6.2 Agent Download Links



Internet access is required to install the agent and receive updates, and for the agent to send data to the Environet[™] Connect platform.

IMPORTANT! Installing the Windows Agent on a virtual machine requires nested virtualization. Because of this, we recommend using the Linux agent if supported in your organization.

6.2 Windows Installation

6.2.1 System Requirements

The Windows Agent has the following minimum system requirements:

Table 6.1 Windows Agent Minimum Requirements

Requirement		Detail		
Operating System	Windows Server 2019/2022	All Windows operating systems must be minimum build 17763 with all current cumulative updates installed.		
	Memory	 Minimum Free Memory: 2 GB, 4 GB recommended. Memory used exclusively by the agent process. Total Minimum Memory: 4 GB, 8 GB recommended. Total memory required for the VM or bare metal machine (based on OS minimum + agent minimum). 		
Hardware	Disk Space	 Minimum Free Disk Space: 27 GB, 60 GB recommended. Disk space used exclusively by the agent. Total Minimum Disk Space : 60 GB, 100 GB recommended. Size of virtual or physical hard drive used by the OS and installed agent. 		
	CPU Cores	2+ Intel Xeon CPU E5-2673 v3 at 2.40 GHz or equivalent		

A dedicated VM or physical hardware ("bare metal") is recommended for the agent installation.

The following host hypervisors are supported as of this writing:

- Microsoft Hyper-V
- VMWare ESXi

Other hypervisors may be supported in later releases.

NOTE: Broadcast discovery may not be available in all environments. As of this writing broadcast scans are unavailable on Azure hosted virtual machines.

Hyper-V Host Hypervisor Additional Setup

If you are using Hyper-V as the host hypervisor for Windows, you will need to enable nested virtualization by running the following PowerShell Command on the host machine:

Set-VMProcessor -VMName <VMName> -ExposeVirtualizationExtensions \$true

To route network packets through two virtual switches, you must enable MAC address spoofing on the first (L1) level of the virtual switch. You can do this with the following PowerShell Command on the host machine:

Get-VMNetworkAdapter -VMName <VMName> | Set-VMNetworkAdapter -MacAddressSpoofing On

NOTE: The Windows Agent also uses Hyper-V for configuring EFlow, a dependency of IoT Edge in the Windows environment.

VMware ESXi Host Hypervisor Additional Setup

If you are using VMware ESXi as the host hypervisor, you'll need to enable hardware virtualization, enable CPU performance counters, and adjust your networking to allow for promiscuous mode.

Step 1: Enable Hardware Virtualization and Performance Counts

- 1. From the ESXi dashboard, navigate to the virtual machine for your agent and power it off.
- 2. After the VM has shutdown, edit the virtual machine settings.
- 3. Expand the CPU menu and select Hardware virtualization and Performance counters.

NOTE: These settings cannot be changed while the VM is running.

4. Click **Save** to save changes.

Figure 6.3 Edit VM Settings

🛱 Edit settings - WinSvr2019 (ESXi 8.0 virtual machine)						
Virtual Hardware VM Options		1				
🚍 Add hard disk 🛛 🚊 Add networl	adapter 🔠 Add other de	evice				
V 💭 CPU	4 ~ 9					
Cores per Socket	1 Sockets: 4					
CPU Hot Plug	Enable CPU Hot Add					
Reservation	None ~	MHz ~				
Limit	Unlimited ~	MHz ~				
Shares	Normal ~					
Hardware virtualization		tualization to the guest OS 🌖				
IOMMU	Expose IOMMU to the guest O					
Performance counters	C Enable virtualized CPU performance counters					
Scheduling Affinity	Hyperthreading Status: Active Available CPUs: 24 (Logical CPUs)					
		CANCEL				

Step 2: Enable Promiscuous Mode and Related Settings

- 1. Select the virtual switch(es) used for the agent.
- 2. Expand Security and select Promiscuous mode, MAC address changes, and Forged transmits.
- 3. Click **Save** to save the changes.

Edit standard virtual switch - vSwitch1					
🛱 Add uplink 🕨					
MTU	1500 🗘				
Uplink 1	vmnic1 - Up, 1000 Mbps Y				
> Link discovery	Click to expand				
\sim Security					
Promiscuous mode	• Accept O Reject				
MAC address changes	• Accept O Reject				
Forged transmits	• Accept O Reject				
> NIC teaming	Click to expand				
> Traffic shaping	Click to expand				
	CANCEL				

Step 3: Power on the Virtual Machine after all Changes Have Been Saved

6.2.2 Installation Steps

Installation Preparation

Validate that the OS is Hyper-V capable by opening a PowerShell and running the following command:

systeminfo

This produces a report on the system's capabilities. The Hyper-V section is near the bottom of the report and look like the following:

Figure 6.4 Hyper-V Section of System Info Report

Hyper-V Requirements:	VM Monitor Mode Extensions: Yes Virtualization Enabled In Firmware: Yes Second Level Address Translation: Yes
	Data Execution Prevention Available: Yes

If all requirements say Yes, then Hyper-V can be installed on the machine. If not, review the additional setup requirements for System Requirements on page 56.

IMPORTANT! Windows Local Agent is not officially supported on Windows 10 or 11 as of the date of this publication. For testing purposes the agent has been successfully installed on Windows 10 and 11.

Powershell Script Execution

The Windows Local Agent installer needs execution rights to run Powershell scripts. By default the execution policy is set to Restricted which prevents running any script on the system.

Use the following Powershell command to permit running only scripts that are digitally signed.

Set-ExecutionPolicy -ExecutionPolicy AllSigned

Prerequisite Check

After running the installer and clicking next, the Local Agent will run a check of your machine's prerequisites to confirm that the agent can be installed. Assuming that all checks pass you can proceed to the next step.

If any checks fail, refer to the troubleshooting guide for uninstalling a previous installation attempt or resize your agent's VM.

Network Configuration

The next step of the Windows installation process is network configuration. This involves the following:

- Selecting your network configuration (One NIC or Two NIC).
- Enabling or disabling broadcast discovery scans.
- Specifying the physical NICs for the selected networking configuration.
- Creating IPs for the agent (static or DHCP).
- Confirming default gateway and DNS settings.

Step 1: Select a Network Configuration

Depending on the networking configuration of the machine being used for the agent, you may choose either a one or two network interface card (NIC) setup.

- In a one NIC setup, devices can be found on the same network that can also be used to access the internet.
- In a two NIC setup, devices can be on a different network from the one used to access the internet. In this case, the agent has two static IPs: one on the device network and on the internet accessible network.

Figure 6.5 One NIC Configuration

Nertiv EnviroNet Connect - Agent Installer						-		×
				Enviro	Net Connec	t - Age	nt Insta	aller
Prerequisites	Network	Config	uratio	n				
Network Configuration	One NIC - for i	nternet and dev	/ice commur	lication				
Setup in the Cloud	○ Two NICs - on ✓ Enable broadca	e for internet ar		or device comr	nunication			
🔿 Install Agent		ast Discovery S	can					
Confirmation	NIC 1 (internet / d Physical NIC Ethernet	evices)	~					
	Enable DHCP IP Address 192.168.1.165	Prefix Length 24 255.255.255.0						
	SET GLOBAL SETT	NGS				NEX	т	

Step 2: Enable or Disable Broadcast Discovery Scans

By default, broadcast scans are enabled. This allows the agent to find devices that may have default or unconfigured IPv4 addresses. This also can be used to find configured devices without specifying an IP range. It is recommended that you enable Broadcast scans unless your network specifically does not support broadcast.

NOTE: If you do not enable broadcast scans, the agent is unable to receive traps from edge devices.

Step 3: Select Physical NICs for the Device and/or Internet Networks

🔞 Vertiv EnviroNet Connect - Agent Installe X 🗙 VERTIV 🗤 EnviroNet Connect - Agent Installer **Network Configuration** Prerequisites Network Configuration O One NIC - for internet and device communication • Two NICs - one for internet and another for device communication Setup in the Cloud Enable broadcast Discovery Scan Install Agent NIC 1 (internet / devices) NIC 2 (internet) Confirmation Physical NIC Physical NIC Ethernet Ethernet \sim \sim Enable DHCP Enable DHCP IP Address Prefix Length IP Address Prefix Length 192.168.1.164 24 🗸 192.168.1.165 24 🗸 255.255.255.0 255.255.255.0 SET GLOBAL SETTINGS NEXT

Figure 6.6 Two NIC Configuration

Figure 6.6 above shows the two NIC network configuration. The drop downs below Physical NIC include network interfaces that the installer has detected. In either the one or two NIC configuration, the first NIC should be the network that can communicate with devices.

With a one NIC setup, this also is the NIC that communicates with the internet. In a two NIC setup, the second NIC is reserved for communicating with the cloud and IPv4 address.

NOTE: WiFi adapters are not recommended for the Windows agent. This configuration may encounter an error when installing.

Step 4: Select IP Address(es) for the Agent

When broadcast is enabled, the agent requires an IPv4 address on the customer network for each NIC. If the network has a DHCP server, the agent can be auto-assigned an address by ticking the box next to "Enable DHCP." Enabling DHCP will fail to assign an address to the agent if DHCP is not enabled on the selected network.

NOTE: The IPv4 address of the agent cannot be the same IPv4 address as the host machine.

Alternatively, you can specify static IPv4 address(es) and subnet(s), in prefix format, for the agent, one for each NIC.

IMPORTANT! In a two NIC setup, each IPv4 address must be unique.

NOTE: For further information on the prefix format, refer to this article: <u>https://www.routerfreak.com/understand-</u>subnet-masks/.

Step 5: Confirm Default Gateway and DNS Settings

After completing Steps 1 through 4, click Next to go to the Global Settings dialog.

Figure 6.7 Global Settings

Nertiv EnviroNet Connect - Agent Installer		- 🗆 X
		EnviroNet Connect - Agent Installer
Prerequisites	Network Configur	ation
Network Configuration	Global Settings NIC 1	Global Settings NIC 2
Setup in the Cloud	Default Gateway 192.168.1.1	Default Gateway 192.168.1.1
Confirmation	DNS Server 1 8.8.8.8	DNS Server 1 10.200.203.200
	DNS Server 2 8.8.4.4	DNS Server 2 8.8.8.8
	PREVIOUS NEX	r

The Default Gateway and DNS servers are auto detected by the installer based on the physical NIC(s) selected in Step 3. These settings can be confirmed or modified on this page. You can also go back to the previous network configuration screen to make adjustments. Once all networking settings are as desired, click **Next** to continue with installation by registering the agent.

Registering the Agent

The next step is to register the agent with the Connect Cloud. This does require that you already have a login for Connect and a Customer in place to associate with the agent.

Figure 6.8 Code for Authorizing the Agent



The installer will generate a temporary registration code.

IMPORTANT! This code is valid for 15 minutes. If it expires you will need to restart the installation process.

Click the link in the installer to be automatically directed to the Connect platform. Login and then you are directed to the New Agent dialog. The code is auto filled when the link is clicked but you can also copy and paste it from the installer.

Figure 6.9 New Agent Dialog with Code

=	ENVIRONET [™] CONN	IECT	
n	Devices	Equipment / Local Agents / New Local Agent • New Agent	
	Groups		
		Information	© 🗡 🕯
	Configurations	SELECT YOUR CUSTOMER	ENTER THE AUTHENTICATION CODE FROM INSTALLER
	Firmware	Organizations * CVS Caremark	
٥		TYPE A NAME FOR THE NEW LOCAL AGENT	
?		Agant Nama* New Agent-1	DOWNLOAD AGENT INSTALLER

Select the customer from the drop down in the top-left of the new agent dialog (if not auto-filled). Choose a memorable name for the agent and confirm the code matches what you see in the installer. Once you click **Save**, the agent is created in the cloud, and the installation will automatically continue after a few moments.

Installing Pre-requisites, Configuring Switches

If Hyper-V is not enabled on the agent machine, the installer will install it and any dependencies. This may require a reboot to complete. When the reboot is finished, the installer will continue automatically. See Installation Steps on page 59.

Figure 6.10 Installing Hyper-V

Multiple Vertiv EnviroNet Connect - Agent Installer	- 🗆 X
VERTIV _™	EnviroNet Connect - Agent Installer
 Prerequisites Network Configuration Setup in the Cloud Install Agent Confirmation 	AGENT
	Installation Progress
	Verifying Pre-requisites
	A This installation may automatically reboot the computer.

During the virtual switch configuration phase, the agent may briefly lose network connectivity. If you are logged into the agent machine using RDP, you may briefly lose your connection.

Figure 6.11 Configuring Switches



Detailed installation progress can be toggled by clicking the Up/Down Arrows on the right side of the installer.

Up/Down Arrows

When installation is complete, the agent downloads additional components and updates. This process can take 10 to 15 minutes, or longer depending upon network speed and latency. Afterward, the agent is fully online and ready to scan for and poll devices.

Figure 6.12 Installation Success



Post Installation

View a list of all agents in the Equipment menu and then select Local Agents.

The status column shows if the agent is currently online. From this list, click on an individual agent to see its details.

Figure 6.13 Local Agents List

≡ 🐼	NVIRONET [™] CONNECT				7 9 3	P (W O WILEY E COYOTE * ? HELP *			
	Local Agents - 107							<u>^</u>	
10 of 107 local agents - 1 OF 11 PAGES									
	Search		a			🝸 FILTERS 🎽 🕂 🧪			
		Status	Name 个	Customer	Devices	Added			
						03-26-2024	:		
						03-25-2024	:		
		ž				03-26-2024	:		
		Я.				03-27-2024	:		
		ž				11-13-2023	:		
		Ŕ	Agent Malina TESTUT	EOCLAB	4	03-26-2024	:		

View the version information for the running agent using the Details tab.
Figure 6.14 Windows Agent Version Information

Equipment / Local Agents / View Local Agent	
중 Agent2941AU-STORE#4501	
Added 10-01-2024 CUSTOMER DIY Depot (DEMO) DEVICES 4	0 / T
Information Details Devices Diagnostic Logs Alarms	Logs
Version Information	Polling Rates
Agent Version 2025.3.25.12	Fast 180
ERow Version 1.4.14.0 Build 98895839	Stow 7200
Edge Version 1.4.33	
Agent Contiguration Date 04-22-2025	
Communication	
Agent IP Address(es)	
IPv4 Address Prefix	
• 10.162.29.41 /24	

The Agent, EFlow, and Edge versions will auto update as we release new versions of the agent.

NOTE: EFlow applies only to the Windows Agent. Linux Agents will not have an EFlow version.

6.2.3 Troubleshooting

Retrieving Local Agent IP Address

If you failed to record the IP(s) set for the agent during the networking step, or if they were configured via DHCP, you can retrieve them either directly in the Connect platform or locally. Both procedures assume a successful installation.

To find the IP address(es) in the cloud navigate to local agent and click the details tab. The IP address(es) will show in a list under the configuration date and will update if the networking configuration of the agent changes (see **Figure 6.14** above).

You can also retrieve the networking information directly on the local agent machine using the following procedure:

- 1. Open Windows PowerShell Administrator on the agent machine.
- 2. Run the following command to retrieve the networking settings for the agent.

Invoke-EflowVmCommand ifconfig

NOTE: You can find additional EFlow PowerShell Commands using this link: <u>https://learn.microsoft.com/en-</u>us/azure/iot-edge/reference-iot-edge-for-linux-on-windows-functions?view=iotedge-1.4.

3. Look for the **ethO** adapter. The IP address for this adapter can be used as the trap/inform target of the agent. It should also be the IP address used to view the local agent logs.

NOTE: inet is the IPv4 address and inet6 is the IPv6 address.





Alternatively, you can replace Step 2 with the following:

1. Invoke the following command to connect to the EFlow VM. This will make an SSH connection to the EFlow VM:

Connect-EflowVm

2. Wait for the connection to be made and then type the following:

ifconfig

3. Look for the **ethO** adapter. The IP address for this adapter can be used as the trap/inform target of the agent. It should also be the IP address used to view the local agent logs.

Figure 6.16 Results of Connected ifconfig Command



You may see the warning shown in when trying to run commands. You have two ways to respond:

- Type **R** to run once. This will warn you again the next time you run these commands.
- Type **A** to always run.

Figure 6.17 Command Warning



EFlow Virtual Machine Won't Respond to Ping (ICMP Traffic Requests)

By default, ICMP ping traffic response is disabled on the EFlow VM firewall. To respond to ping requests, allow the ICMP traffic by using the following PowerShell cmdlet:

Invoke-EflowVmCommand "sudo iptables -A INPUT -p icmp --icmp-type 8 -s 0/0 -m state --state NEW,ESTABLISHED,RELATED -j ACCEPT"

Installation Log Files

If the agent installation fails, you can download the log files by clicking the link in the installer. This opens a file dialog that will ask you to specify a name for the zip file containing the log files. Click **Save** to download.

Figure 6.18 Agent Installation Failed

Rentiv EnviroNet Connect - Agent Installer	- 🗆 X
VERTIV _M	EnviroNet Connect - Agent Installer
Prerequisites	Confirmation
Network Configuration	😣 Agent installation failed.
Setup in the Cloud	Error 1006: Configuring device certificates failed. Please check the log files. Log Files
🕏 Install Agent	
• Confirmation	Contact US Contact us for support at: Monitoring Tech Support 1-800-543-2378 DDNE

If you do not download the logs from the link, you can find them in one of these directories:

- C:\Users\<YourUser>\AppData\Local\Temp\LocalAgentInstaller\logs
- C:\Users\<YourUser>\AppData\Local\Temp\<#>\LocalAgentInstaller\logs (# will increment with each attempt to download)

Archived logs from previous installation attempts are stored in the archives folder under the LocalAgentInstaller root folder. Up to the 10 previous installation attempts are kept, with sub-folders for logs and scripts. The scripts folder contains scripts used by the installer to configure the EFlow VM.

Retrying Installation

Depending on where your installation failed, take the following:

1. Uninstall Azure IoT Edge LTS.

Figure 6.19 Uninstall Azure IoT LTS

Azure IoT Edge LTS		838 MB
1.4.12.05024		4/29/2024
	Modify	Uninstall

- 2. Remove any virtual switches created by the agent.
 - Two NIC setup only:
 - External Virtual Switch 1
 - External Virtual Switch 2
 - If broadcast discovery was not enabled:
 - Internal Virtual Switch 1
 - Internal Virtual Switch 2

The easiest way to do this is to use the Hyper-V Virtual Switch Manager. If you used Wi-Fi as the NIC for the agent, you may also need to manually delete a network bridge.

NOTE: You will only be able to remove virtual switches via the Hyper-V GUI if the Hyper-V installation is successfully completed.

Figure 6.20 Virtual Switch Manager

Virtual Switches	😤 Virtual Switch Properties —
X New virtual network switch	
📇 External-Virtual-Switch-1	Name:
DisplayLink Network Adapter NCM	External-Virtual-Switch-1
	Notes:
Lefault Switch	
Global Network Settings	
MAC Address Range	
00-15-5D-1B-41-00 to 00-15-5D-1	Connection type What do you want to connect this virtual switch to?
	External network:
	DisplayLink Network Adapter NCM \checkmark
	Allow management operating system to share this network adapter
	O Private network
	VLAN ID
	Enable virtual LAN identification for management operating system
	The VLAN identifier specifies the virtual LAN that the management operating system will use for all network communications through this network adapter. This setting does not affect virtual machine networking.
	Remove

Alternatively, you can run the following PowerShell command (as an administrator) to remove the switch:

Remove-VMSwitch "<NameOfSwitch>"

3. Optional. Remove installer reference data from registry.

CAUTION: We recommend that you complete this step only if you have had multiple failed installations.

- Open the Registry Editor. From the Windows Start menu, go to Search, and enter Registry Editor.
- With in the Registry Editor, find this folder: Computer\HKEY_CURRENT_ USER\SOFTWARE\Vertiv\LocalAgentInstaller
- Delete this folder. When prompted to confirm the deletion, click **Yes**.

Registry Editor e Edit View Favorites Hel					—	
mputer\HKEY_CURRENT_USER\S		WARE\Vertiv\LocalAgent	tinstaller			
> 7-Zip	^	Name	Туре	Data		
> Adobe		(Default)	REG_SZ	(value not set)		
Alps		ab DefaultGateway	REG_SZ	10.203.27.1		
> AppDataLow		ab DefaultGateway2	REG_SZ	10.203.27.1		
> AWIND		ab DnsServer1	REG_SZ	10.200.203.200		
> Chromium		ab DnsServer2	REG SZ	10.88.19.200		
Classes		ab DnsServer3	REG_SZ	10 200 202 200		
Classes		ab DnsServer4	REG SZ Confin	n Key Delete		
Edge		ab EnableBroadcast	REG SZ			
> Google		ab IsVirtualMachine	REG_SZ	Are you sure you want to permane	ntly delete this key and all of its sub	keys?
M Providers		ab IsWindowsServer	REG_SZ			
Intel		ab Nic1Dhcp	REG_SZ			
Jabra		ab Nic1lpAddress	REG_SZ		Yes	lo
MadCap Software		Nic1SubnetMas		0x0000019 (25)		
Microsoft		ab Nic2Dhcp	REG_SZ	False		
> Netscape		ab Nic2lpAddress	REG SZ	10.203.27.		
> ODBC		Nic2SubnetMas	-	0x00000019 (25)		
> Palo Alto Networks		ab OneNicConfig	REG SZ	True		
> Policies		ab SelectedPhysical	-	Ethernet 3		
> Realtek		ab SelectedPhysical	-	Ethernet 3		
📙 RegisteredApplications		Sciected Hysical	1120_32	Enemero		
SyncEngines						
> 🔤 TechSmith						
Vertiv						
🔄 📙 LocalAgentInstaller						
> Wow6432Node						
- ZoomUMX						
> Zscaler						
System						
Uninstall						
Volatile Environment						
HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE						
HKEY_USERS	~					

Figure 6.21 Registry Editor, Deleting Folder

4. Delete the failed agent from Connect Cloud. You can do this by selecting the agent in the local agent list and clicking the





After completing these steps, you can now re-try installation.

6.3 Linux Installation

6.3.1 System Requirements

The Linux Agent minimum requirements are listed in Table 6.2 below

Requirement		Detail
Supported Linux Distros	Ubuntu 22.04 LTS Desktop	Note: Not server versions.
	"Jammy Jellyfish"	
	Memory	 Minimum Free Memory: 2GB, 4GB recommended. Memory used exclusively by the agent process. Total Minimum Memory: 4 GB, 8 GB recommended. Total memory required for the VM or bare metal machine (based on OS minimum + agent minimum).
Hardware	Disk Space	 Minimum Free Disk Space: 27 GB, 60 GB recommended. Disk space used exclusively by the agent. Total Minimum Disk Space: 60 GB, 100 GB recommended. Size of virtual or physical hard drive used by the OS and installed agent.
	CPU Cores	2+ Intel Xeon CPU E5-2673 v3 at 2.40 GHz or equivalent

The agent is not supported on distro forks such as Lubuntu, Linux Mint, etc.

Additional distributions may be added in future releases.

6.3.2 Installation Steps

Installation Preparation

Before installing the Linux Agent, complete the following prerequisite steps.

- Grant the agent installer execution rights.
- Modify sudoers file to allow passwordless execution.
- Optional. Install Libfuse2. This step is required if the Ubuntu distro is FUSE 3.
- **Optional.** Install recommended packages.

Step 1: Grant Installer Execution Rights

The Linux installer requires execution rights before running. To grant execution rights, right-click on the installer and on the Permissions tab select **Allow executing file as a program**.

Figure 6.22 Grant Execution Rights

linuxlocal-agent-installer_1.0.0_09.09.AppImage Properties 🛛 🕺								
Basic	Basic			Permissions				
Owner:	Me							
Access:	Read and w	ite	•					
Group:	ben	•						
Access:	Read and w	ite	•					
Others								
Access:	Read-only		•					
Execute:	Allow exec	uting file as pro	gram					
Security context:	unknown							

Alternatively, you can run the following shell command from a terminal:

chmod a+x linux--local-agent-installer_<Version>.AppImage

Step 2: Modify the sudoers file to allow passwordless execution

The Linux agent installer requires the ability to execute and run commands as root (sudo). Currently, this requires direct modification of the sudoers file to allow for passwordless execution.

1. Run the following command in a terminal to modify this file:

sudo nano /etc/sudoers

2. The subdoers file opens in the nano editor. Append the following to the end of the subdoers file.

<<adminuser>> ALL=(ALL) NOPASSWD:ALL

NOTE: Replace <<adminuser>> with the admin/root user.

NOTE: Vertiv recommends attempting installation before modifying the file. The installer should display the required line for modification which you can copy/paste into the sudoers file.

3. Save changes to the file and then run the installer. If you fail to complete this step, the agent installation will fail and prompt you to make this modification.

Figure 6.23 Failed Installation Prompt



IMPORTANT! When you have finished installing the agent, we highly recommend removing the line you added from the sudoers file as a security measure.

Step 3: Install libfuse2 (if Required)

Ubuntu distros that are greater than the initial release of 22.04 LTS may include FUSE3 by default, not libfuse2. As of the date of the publication, libfuse2 is required for running AppImage installers.

NOTE: When AppImage is updated to support FUSE3 we will modify this document and the installer accordingly.

To install libfuse2 alongside the existing FUSE3 distro, run the following commands in a terminal.

sudo add-apt-repository universe

sudo apt install libfuse2

WARNING! Be certain to install *libfuse2* and not *fuse*. Installing the fuse package may break your systems. If you installed fuse, refer to Troubleshooting on page 80

Step 4: (Optional) Install Additional Recommended Packages

Vertiv recommends installing net-tools (used to run commands like if config to determine networking information).

• net-tools can be installed using the following command in a terminal.

sudo apt-get install net-tools

Vertiv also recommends you run all updates to your Ubuntu installation before running the installer.

Once you have completed the above steps, you can run the agent installer.

Registering the Linux Agent

The Linux agent does not require network configuration. Azure IoT Edge is designed to run natively in a Linux environment. However, you will still need to register the agent with the cloud. This process is the same as in the Windows Agent. See Downloading the Agent on page 55

Figure 6.24 Registering the Linux Agent Access Code



Figure 6.25 Registering Linux Agent

		EnviroNet Connect		- 😣
= 🐼 Er	nviroNet Connect	10 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	9 WILEY E COYOTE	? HELP -
	Equipment / Local Agents / N	New Local Agent		
	New Agent			
	Information		⊕ 🌶	T
	Organizations* ACME			
	Agent Name" Acme Agent Ubuntu Plex			
	Enter Code from Installer * BXNPWF			

The installer will generate a temporary code for registering the agent with the Connect platform.

IMPORTANT! This code is good for 15 minutes. If it expires you will need to restart the installation process.

Click the link in the installer and you are automatically directed to the Connect platform. Login and you will be directed to the New Agent dialog. The code is auto filled when the link is clicked, but it can also be copied and pasted from the installer. Choose the customer (if not auto filled) and a name for the agent. Click **Save**. When the agent is created, the installation continues.

When installation is complete, the agent downloads additional components and updates. This process can take 10-15 minutes. Afterward the agent will be fully online and ready to scan for and poll devices.

Figure 6.26 Installation Progress



Figure 6.27 Successful Installation Confirmation



6.3.3 Troubleshooting

Resolving GPU Error

Some users when running the installer have encountered the following error message:

FATAL:gpu_data_manager_impl_private.cc(415)] GPU process isn't usable. Goodbye.

Figure 6.28 GPU Error in Command Window

```
[7663:1108/134600.811695:FATAL:gpu_data_manager_impl_private.cc(415)] GPU process isn't usable. Goodbye.
Trace/breakpoint trap (cor<u>e</u> dumped)
```

1. To resolve this, run the agent installer from a terminal and add the disable gpu sandbox flag.

./linux--local-agent-installer_<Version>.AppImage --disable-gpu-sandbox

2. Alternatively, use the **no sandbox** flag.

./linux--local-agent-installer_<Version>.AppImage --no-sandbox

Installing Missing Library Dependencies

As an AppImage, the local agent requires libfuse2 to run. On some operating systems (Ubuntu 22.04.3+), FUSE3 is installed by default, resulting in the following error when running the installer:

dlopen(): error loading libfuse.so.2

Figure 6.29 Error Loading Libfuse in Command Window



Run the older version of FUSE by running this command in a terminal:

sudo add-apt-repository universe

sudo apt install libfuse2

Fixing OS after Installation of Older Fuse Library

If the wrong fuse library is installed, the GNOME settings functionality of the OS may be broken. If you have completed installation of the agent, revert to the newer FUSE3 to repair the broken settings dialog with the following commands.

sudo apt-get update

sudo apt-get install --reinstall gnome-control-center

This uninstalls the older fuse, and as part of the GNOME installation restores FUSE3 .

For further reference, please see https://askubuntu.com/questions/1420736/settings-window-does-not-open-in-ubuntu-22-04

Uninstalling the Linux Agent

To retry installation of the Linux agent, it may be necessary to remove a previous installation. The procedure below removes IoT Edge and any downloaded docker containers, users, and certificates .

NOTE: This procedure was derived from Microsoft documentation available here: <u>https://learn.microsoft.com/en-us/azure/iot-edge/how-to-provision-single-device-linux-symmetric?view=iotedge-1.4&tabs=azure-portal%2Cubuntu#uninstall-iot-edge</u>

1. Remove the IoT Edge runtime. Open a terminal and run the following:

sudo apt-get autoremove --purge aziot-edge

2. Removing IoT Edge stops the agent docker containers but these still need to be manually removed. See a list of the downloaded containers by running the following command:

sudo docker ps -a

A list of docker containers, as shown in Figure 6.30 below is displayed.

Figure 6.30 Agent Docker Containers



3. Deleting the containers by running the commands below from a terminal. These commands must be run in the order shown.

sudo docker rm -f LocalAgentWeb

sudo docker rm -f LocalAgentLib

sudo docker rm -f edgeHub

sudo docker rm -f edgeAgent

NOTE: edgeHub and edgeAgent are the two runtime containers provided by Microsoft as part of IoT edge.

To additionally remove any stopped containers and all unused images (not just dangling images), add the -a flag to the command:

sudo docker system prune --all --volumes

Run the following command after deletion to confirm that all containers have been deleted correctly. You should see any empty list:

sudo docker ps -a

4. Remove the container runtime from your device using the following command from a terminal. You do not need to complete this step is you use something else with containers on the agent machine.

sudo apt-get autoremove --purge moby-engine

5. Delete the installer-logs folder. (This folder should be in your home directory.)

IMPORTANT! If you do not delete this folder, future installation logs will be appended to the end of the current log.

6. Delete the **linux--local-agent-installer** folder. Open a terminal and navigate to the config directory. Run **ls** to see folders at this level.

cd .\config

ls

In this folder should be another folder that contains settings used by the previous installation. Delete this folder and its contents by running the following command:

sudo rm -r linux--local-agent-installer/

7. Delete the **iotedge-user** folder. From a terminal, navigate to your home directory. Run Is to see users at this level. You will see a folder named **iotedge-user**. Delete this folder and its contents by running this command:

sudo rm -r iotedge-user/

This removes any stray certs and logs used by the agent.

Once you have completed the steps above you can attempt to install the agent as normal.

6.4 Configuring Polling Rates

As of the latest release, the Local Agent supports two polling groups: fast and slow.

- The fast polling group is intended for data that regularly changes such as temperature, load, and current.
- The slow polling group is intended for more static data such as serial number and manufacturer.

Currently, which points are in which polling groups are defined in the device templates supplied by Vertiv.

Users can adjust at an agent level how slow or fast data is collected.

1. To edit the polling rates, navigate to an individual agent and click the

🖋 Edit icon.

2. Click on the **Details** tab. The two polling rates on the right-hand side.

Figure 6.31 Editing Polling Rates

= 🗙 ENVI	RONET™ CONNECT			C ²	A (1)	Swiley e coyote ▼	? HELP -
Equipm	nent / Local Agents / Edit Lo	cal Agent					
/	V-SAT-INFO-Agen	tW-FL					
Added	04-01-2024 CUSTOMER	V-SAT INFO	DEVICES 7			0 / T	
1	Information	Details	Devices	Diagnostic Log	s		
Version	Information			Polling Rates			
Agent Ver 2024.4				Fast 180 seconds			
EFlow Ver 1.4.12.0	^{rsion} 0 Build 86993002			Slow 7200 seconds			
Edge Vers 1.4.20							
	onfiguration Date)-2024						*

- 3. By default, the fast group is polled every 180 seconds (3 minutes). The slow group's default is 7200 seconds (2 hours). Currently, polling cannot be set faster than 3 minutes.
- 4. Polling rates can be adjusted (in seconds) up or down as desired. Click **Save** to apply the new polling rates to **all** devices sending data through this agent.

NOTE: This does not affect SNMP trap/inform data speeds. Traps/informs are sent from the device when the inciting event occurs and are processed and sent by the agent immediately.

6.5 Diagnostic Logging

Both the Windows and Linux Agents have locally available and cloud accessible logs.

6.5.1 Local Agent Local Webpage

On the agent machine or within the customer network, you can access a local agent webpage containing logging and metric information. The webpage runs on port 21000 and can be accessed via this URL:

http://<ipAddressOfAgent>:21000. See Retrieving Local Agent IP Address on page 67 to see the steps to retrieve the IPv4 address of the agent.

The Linux agent runs directly on the host Linux OS without virtualization, so the IP address of the agent should match that of the host machine. You can retrieve this address by running ifconfig in a terminal.

Figure 6.32 Local Agent Webpage

📔 Vertiv Local Agent Diagnostics - L 🗙 🕂			
← → C ▲ Not secure 192.168.1.130:2			
	Vertiv Local Agent D	iagnostics	Home Stats IoT Edge Agent Stats IoT Edge Hub Stats
	TimeStamp	Severity	Message
	09/21/2023 17:38:43	INF	Logging started at "/tmp/LocalAgentLib/Logs"
	09/21/2023 17:38:43	INF	Initializing the Device Client
	09/21/2023 17:38:43	INF	Found 3 files at /tmp/LocalAgentLib/DpsCert
	09/21/2023 17:38:43	INF	Loading the certificate
	09/21/2023 17:38:43	INF	Found cert at /tmp/LocalAgentLib/DpsCert/DpsCertificate.pfx
	09/21/2023 17:38:43	INF	Found certificate: /tmp/LocalAgentLib/DpsCert/DpsCertificate.pfx> First 8 thumb: 22F39828 O=Vertiv, OU=PROD, CN=1061; PrivateKey: True
	09/21/2023 17:38:43	INF	Using certificate First 8 thumb: 22F3982B O=Vertiv, OU=PROD, CN=1061
	09/21/2023 17:38:43	INF	Found certificate chain file at /tmp/LocalAgentLib/DpsCert/DpsCertificateChain.pem
	09/21/2023 17:38:43	INF	Initializing the device provisioning client
	09/21/2023 17:38:43	INF	Initialized for registration Id 1061 and scope Id 0ne00AE600A.
	09/21/2023 17:38:43	INF	Registering with the device provisioning service
	09/21/2023 17:38:48	INF	Registration status: Assigned.
	09/21/2023 17:38:48	INF	Device 1061 registered to iot-foundation-prod-eastus-001.azure-devices.net.
	09/21/2023 17:38:48	INF	Creating X509 authentication for IoT Hub
	09/21/2023 17:38:48	INF	Creating the Device Client
	09/21/2023 17:38:49	INF	Getting the Device Twin
	09/21/2023 17:38:50	INF	Desired property change (device):
	09/21/2023 17:38:50	INF	$\label{eq:localAgentId} \ensuremath{C}\xspace{\ensuremath{C}\xs$
	09/21/2023 17:38:50	INF	Device Client Created Successfully
	09/21/2023 17:38:50	INF	Initializing the Module Client from the environment
	09/21/2023 17:38:51	INF	IoT Hub module client initialized, reading module twin.

If you can see the webpage, this means the agent has finished downloading its post installation files and is actively running. Latest log entries are at the bottom of the webpage. All times are in UTC.

The stats tab shows the message throughput for the agent and when the last messages were sent. The agent sends regular heartbeat messages to the Connect platform every 30 seconds and sends telemetry in compressed format.

The other two tabs contain statistics for the Microsoft made containers inside the agent. Edge Agent is the container orchestrator and runs all the other docker containers within the agent. Edge Hub is the container that manages the message connection to the Connect platform.

6.5.2 Retrieve Agent Logs from the Cloud

You also retrieve agent logs directly from the Connect web application. Navigate to the individual agent by going to the Local Agents list (under the Equipment menu) and click on the name of the agent. If the agent is online, you can retrieve logs on the Diagnostic Logs tab.

≡ \$	ENVIRONET [™] CON	INECT		(⁷⁹ 🔒 (⁹ (4)	O WILEY E COYOTE ▼	? HELP -
	Equipment / Local Agent	s / Edit Local Agent				<u>^</u>
	🖍 V-SAT-INFO	D-AgentW-FL				
	Added 04-01-2024	CUSTOMER V-SAT INFO DEV	ICES 7			
	Information	Details	Devices	Diagnostic Logs		
	Date Range					
	Start Time	End Time				
	02-May-2024 09:34:48	02-May-2024 10:04:48				
	Select logs to download					
	Edge Agent Logs					
	Edge Hub Logs					
	🗾 Local Agent Lib Logs					
	Local Agent Web Logs					
		DOWNLOAD				
		DOWNLOAD				-

Figure 6.33 Diagnostic Logs Tab

The local agent has four logs, one for each of the container running inside the agent. By default, Local Agent Lib logs is selected, which contains most of the relevant information on device polling, discovery operations, provisioning operations, and other statistics.

The full description of logs:

- Edge Agent Logs—Microsoft component. Orchestrates other containers.
- Edge Hug Logs—Microsoft component. Logs communication with cloud.
- Local Agent Lib Logs—Vertiv component. Information about polling, operations, and other troubleshooting. Typically, this is the log most needed by tech support.
- Local Agent Web Logs—Contains information about the local agent webpage.

You can select one or more logs by ticking the boxes next to each log. By default, the page will retrieve logs for the past 30 minutes, but you can adjust this time as needed . If you are troubleshooting an issue, be sure to pull the logs for when you are having the issue as soon as possible. Click download to Download an individual log, or a zip file containing multiple logs.

NOTE: Log history is only retained for a short period in the Connect cloud. At most, data is retained for a few hours, although this time limit can be shorter if an operation is particularly noisy.

6.5.3 Local Agent Events and Alarms

The **logs** tab of the local agent contains events, alarms and audit records for the agent itself and any devices monitored by that agent. These records are retained on the same cycle as other event logs in the platform and will not roll-over as quickly as the diagnostic logs, but they have a less granular level of detail.

Figure 6.34 Local Agent Events

	ent / Local Agents / View Loca													
🗟 Ag	ent2941AU-STORE	¥4501												
In	formation De	tails	Devices	Diagnostic		Alarms	Logs							
Search	۹				Start Time 01-Apr-20	25 11:39:08 💼	End Time 09-May-2025 11:39:08					T		a 2
Severity	Timestamp ↓	Category	Entity		Activity	Description								
•	05-05-2025 23:08:15.927	LocalAgent			۵	Local Agent Agent2941/	NU-STORE#4501 started com	municating.						
	05-05-2025 23:08:13.620	LocalAgent			•	Local Agent: Agent2941	AU-STORE#4501 modified by	/ System						
	05-05-2025 23:08:13.570	LocalAgent			٥	Agent IP Address(es) up	dated to 10.162.29.41, fe80::2	15:5dff:fe1d:28	301%2, 172.18.0.1, fe80::42:5ff:1	fe2b:cac7%4, fe80=4t	05:a5ff:fe42:37	34%10, fe80=c	18a3:73ff:fe3d:949	19%12.
•	05-05-2025 23:08:07.460	LocalAgent			۵	Local Agent Agent2941/	NU-STORE#4501 is not comm	nunicating whi	ich is a CRITICAL severity al	larm condition.				
•	05-04-2025 23:29:50.090	Rack PDU			\$	Device GU2-rPDUA2_AU	-SYD started communicating	j .						
•	05-04-2025 23:27:26.217	Rack PDU			\$	Device GU2-rPDUA2_AU	I-SYD is not communicating t	which is a CRI	TICAL severity alarm condit	ion.				
•	05-04-2025 23:21:14.990	Rack PDU			۹	Device GU2-rPDUA2_AU	-SYD started communicating	ŀ						
•	05-04-2025 23:21:14.793	LocalAgent			\$	Local Agent Agent2941/	U-STORE#4501 started com	municating.						
•	05-04-2025 23:11:30.450	LocalAgent			۵	Local Agent Agent2941/	AU-STORE#4501 is not comm	nunicating whi	ich is a CRITICAL severity a	larm condition.				
•	05-04-2025 23:09:17.497	LocalAgent			۵	Local Agent Agent2941/	NU-STORE#4501 started com	municating.						
										Show 10				> >I
											cı	OSE		

All columns can be sorted, filtered, or searched. The date range is the last day by default but this can be adjusted.

NOTE: Since device events can be frequent, longer date ranges may take longer for the page to load.

The logs for the agent can be exported to a CSV by clicking the



The date range can be refreshed back to current by clicking the



You can view the active alarms for any device monitored by the agent, or for the agent itself, by clicking on the Alarms tab. Currently an alarm will be created for the agent when it goes offline that will clear when communication is restored.

Figure 6.35 Local Agent Alarms

E	quipment / L	ocal Agents 🖌	/ View Local Agent				
(•	Agent2	941AU-S	STORE#4501				
Add	led 10-01-20	124 CU S	STOMER DIY Depot (DEMO)	DEVICES 4			
	Informati	on	Details	Devices	Diagnostic Logs	Alarms Logs	
	Search		٩				T FILTERS •
		Severity	Timestamp 🗸	Category	Entity name	Description	
			12-01-2024 22:45:44.580	UPS		System Output Off active for ITA2-UPS_AU-SYD which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.	
		A	12-01-2024 22:45:44.530	UPS		Input Frequency Deviation active for ITA2-UPS_AU-SYD which is a WARNING severity alarm condition.	
		A	12-01-2024 22:45:30.727	UPS		System Input Power Problem active for ITA2-UPS_AU-SYD which is a WARNING severity alarm condition.	
			12-01-2024 22:45:30.687	UPS		Bypass Input Voltage Fault active for ITA2-UPS_AU-SYD which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.	
		A	12-01-2024 22:45:30.547	UPS		Bypass Not Available active for ITA2-UPS_AU-SYD which is a WARNING severity alarm condition.	
			10-10-2024 13:28:49.727	UPS		Internal Communications Failure active for ITA2-UPS_AU-SYD which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.	
			10-08-2024 00:57:54.610	Local Agent		Local Agent ECAgent-AU-SYD is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.	
						Shaw 10 💌 1-7d7	

Alarms can be sorted, filtered, or searched. You can also manually clear one or more alarms by clicking the box next to the alarm and clicking the

Clear alarm icon.

See Manually Clearing Alarms on page 139 for more information about manually clearing alarms.

Vertiv[™] Environet[™] Connect User Manual

This page intentionally left blank

7 Device Management

With the Local Agent installed, users can add devices for monitoring. See Installing the Local Agent on page 55.

There are two ways to add devices for monitoring:

- Run a Discovery Scan of the network. This locates and identifies devices. The user can then add for monitoring in bulk.
- Devices can also be added manually. This can be used to pre-load devices into the system prior to installation.

This section covers adding devices to monitoring to the system, device details pages, and the device dashboard. It will also cover grouping devices into Sites and Device Groups.

7.1 Adding Devices via a Discovery Scan

Users can add devices from several places within the Connect platform. Users can add devices from the Devices List (under the Equipment menu) which shows all the devices a user can access. If the user is a partner or Vertiv user, this will include devices across multiple customers. Users can also add devices from the Devices tab of a local agent.

For most users, the simplest place to add devices is on the Assets tab under a specific customer. This allows a user with a wider scope of responsibility to be sure they are adding devices to the right place.

To begin discovering devices, click the Devices tab under a customer and then click the

Add icon.

Then click Scan for devices from drop down menu.

Figure 7.1 Adding a Device Under a Customer

	ECT		¢	BB A 2 👎 (m)	WILEY E COYOTE	? HELP -	
Accounts / Customers / View Customer	er						
😋 CVS Caremark						Details View	≣ 🙆
Added 05-09-2022 Sites 0	Users 1						
< Information	License	Preferences	Sites	Users	Devices	Agents	>
Search Q						⊕ • ∕ ⊗ /	ħ Ŧ
Status	Name 个	Site	Group(s)	• •	() Alarm Deta	aile Scan for devices 🔶	Scan for
No matching results.						Add Device Manually	Devices
				Sho	w <u>10 ▼</u> 0 of		>1
						CLOSE	

When you select Scan for devices, a dialog box opens with discovery scan options.

Figure 7.2 Broadcast Discovery Scan

Device discovery scan	
Organizations CVS Caremark	
Local Agent * Local Agent #2	
Protocol* SNMPv2c	
Public community string	_
Scen type Broadcast	
	CANCEL BEGIN SCAN

Since the user in this case initiated the scan from under a customer, the Organization (Customer) is auto selected. If the customer has only one local agent, this is auto-selected as well. If the customer has multiple local agents, they can select the one from which they wish to scan from the drop down.

NOTE: If you start a scan from the Devices List, you'll need to select the organization manually.

For most devices , the discovery scan uses SNMP polling to identify a device using common fields such as manufacturer and model. From the scan dialog the user can provide the SNMP credentials for the devices to be scanned.

There are two scan options: **Broadcast** and **IP Range**. Choose the scan type by selecting the **Scan Type** from the drop down.

If default credentials are provided at the customer level, these will be populated in the Discovery dialog. See SNMP Credentials on page 35.

IMPORTANT! Currently devices communicating through an Intellislot card (Unity/RDU101) and third party devices require SNMP to be enabled to be identified via a scan. Geist devices (Watchdogs, Geist Upgradeable rPDUs, etc.) can be identified via proprietary protocols that do not require SNMP.

Broadcast scans can take a longer than IP range scans (15 to 90 minutes) but can find both configured and factoryfresh cards and devices on the customer network. This is required for provisioning factory fresh devices that do not have a configured IPv4 address. See Provisioning a Factory Fresh Device on page 141. For the Windows Agent the user will need to have specified a fixed IP address for the agent to run a broadcast scan. See System Requirements on page 56.

IP Range scans can scan one or multiple ranges of IPv4 addresses on different subnets. An IP range scan will only find devices with a configured IPv4 address, either statically defined or assigned by a DHCP server.

Figure 7.3 IP Range Scan with Multiple Ranges

Device discovery scan		
Organizations Testing Customer #001		
Local Agent * Testing-Agent-001		
Protocol* SNMPv2c		
Public community string		۲
Soan type IP range		
Start 1921681.202	End — 192.168.1.206	•
Start 10.241.13.152	End 10.241.13.158	• •
	CANCEL	IN SCAN

Additional IPv4 ranges can be added by clicking the

Add icon.

Delete an undesired range by clicking the

Delete icon next to the range.

After the customer, agent, specified SNMP credentials, and set the type of scan have been selected, click **Begin Scan** to run the discovery scan. Discovery scans run as a background process, so the user can conduct other activities in the platform while the scan is running.

IMPORTANT! IPv6 range scan is not supported.

Check the status of a running scan or cancel a discovery by clicking the

(1) Discovery icon

in the top right corner of the header bar.

Figure 7.4 Running a Scan



The platform pushes a toast notification when the scan has completed. Additionally, a number is displayed next to the Discovery icon. If the scan failed, try to repeat the asset discovery scan.

When the scan is successful, view the results of the scan by clicking the **Discovery** icon and then clicking **View**.

When the Discovery scan results screen opens, it updates information about discovered devices and devices that have been previously monitored.

Figure 7.5 Loading Discovery Results

= 😒 en	IVIRONE	r™ connect					P A O WILEY E COYOT	е * ? нецр *
E	Equipment /	Discovery scan results	1					<u>^</u>
	Discove	ry scan result	s					
e -	Search	۹						
		Status	Туре	Model	MAC Address	IPV4 Address	Device Name	
		Not monitored	Unknown	Unknown	0009F52997D9	FE80:209:F5FF:FE29:97D9	FE80:209:F5FF:FE29:97D9_unknown	
		Not monitored	Unknown	Unknown	0002992DD0FC	FE80:202:99FF:FE2D:D0FC	FE80::202:99FF:FE2D:DOFC_unknown	
		Not monitored	UPS	Vertiv GXT5	0009F52E6F19	192.163.8.99	GXT5	
		Monitored	Rack PDU	Vertiv GU2	001985214C28	192.168.8.7	192168.8.7_GU2	
		Monitored	Rack PDU	Vertiv GU2	00198520D946	192.168.8.5	192168.8.5_GU2_ZK22122977	
		Monitored	Sensor	Vertiv RTAFHD3 Sensor			192168.8.4_RTAFHD3 Sensor_B9000000E96C7D12	
		Monitored	Sensor	Vertiv Analog 1 Sensor			192168.8.4_Analog 1 Sensor_97E8EB1BEAA028C30	
		Monitored	Sensor	Vertiv Analog 2 Sensor			192168.8.4_Analog 2 Sensor_97E8EB1BEAA028C31	

NOTE: Multiple simultaneous discovery scans are not supported currently. We also recommend the user remain logged-in during the scan.

Devices that have been monitored previously are indicated in the Status column. If the device model is recognized, information about the type of model of the discovered device is provided.

Devices that cannot be identified are listed as type and model unknown.

NOTE: Connect supports the GXT4, GXT5, PSI5, ITA2, CRV, Watchdog 15, Watchdog 100, GU1, and GU2. The list of supported models will expand as new templates are built. To request new template see Request a New Template on page 188.

The MAC address for the device, if applicable, is also stored as a unique identifier.

Select devices to add for monitoring by selecting the checkbox to the left of each device and selecting an asset group for the devices. Click **Add Selected** to add the devices.

A few default asset groups are created for each customer, including **Unassigned** and **New Devices**. Or users can create their own asset group by clicking the

Add icon.

Figure 7.6 Selecting Devices for Monitoring

=	ENVIRONE	T [™] CONNECT						
	Equipment /	Discovery scan results	3					<u>^</u>
	Discove	ry scan result	ts					
	Search	٩	-				T FILTERS	•
	<mark>⁄</mark> 3	Status	Туре	Model	MAC Address	IPV4 Address	Device Name	
		Not monitored	Unknown	Unknown	0009F52997D9	FE80:209:F5FF:FE29:97D9	FE80-209:F5FF:FE29:97D9_unknown	
	<u>~</u>	Not monitored	Unknown	Unknown	0002992DD0FC	FE80:202:99FF:FE2D:D0FC	FE80=202:99FF:FE2D:DOFC_unknown	
	<u>~</u>	Not monitored	UPS	Vertiv GXT5	0009F52E6F19	192.168.8.99	GXT5	
		Monitored	Rack PDU	Vertiv GU2	001985214C28	192.168.8.7	192168.8.7_GU2	
		Monitored	Rack PDU	Vertiv GU2	00198520D946	192.168.8.5	192.168.8.5_GU2_ZK22122977	
		Monitored	Sensor	Vertiv RTAFHD3 Sensor			192.168.8.4_RTAFHD3 Sensor_B9000000E96C7D12	
		Monitored	Sensor	Vertiv Analog 1 Sensor			192.168.8.4_Analog 1 Sensor_97E8EB1BEAA028C30	
		Monitored	Sensor	Vertiv Analog 2 Sensor			192168.8.4_Analog 2 Sensor_97E8EB1BEAA028C31	
								· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Figure 7.7 Adding a Device Group from Discovery

Add group		
Group Name * Coyote Devices		
	CANCEL	SAVE

NOTE: Each device that is to be added for monitoring must have a unique IPv4 address (within the customer). It must have SNMP enabled. Unknown devices can be added for monitoring and users can later select the type, manufacturer, model, and template when editing the device.

Once the devices have been added for monitoring their status will change to **Monitored**. Connect stays on the scan results screen to allow for adding multiple devices. To close the scan results screen, either select **Cancel** or navigate to elsewhere in the product using the menu.

Figure 7.8 Devices	Successfully	Added for	· Monitoring
--------------------	--------------	-----------	--------------

✓	Not monitored	Unknown	Unknown	0002992DD0FC	FE80-202-99FF:FE2D:D0FC	FE80-202-99FF:FE2D:DOFC_unknown	
	Not monitored	UPS	Vertiv GXT5	0009F52E6F19	192.168.8.99	GXT5	
	Monitored	Rack PDU	Vertiv GU2	001985214C28	192.168.8.7	192168.8.7_GU2	
	Monitored	Rack PDU	Vertiv GU2	00198520D946	192.168.8.5	192.168.8.5_GU2_ZK22122977	
	Monitored	Sensor	Vertiv RTAFHD3 Sensor			192.168.8.4_RTAFHD3 Sensor_B9000000E96C7D12	
	Monitored	Sensor	Vertiv Analog 1 Sensor			192168.8.4_Analog 1 Sensor_97E8EB1BEAA028C30	
	Monitored	Sensor	Vertiv Analog 2 Sensor			192.168.8.4_Analog 2 Sensor_97E8EB1BEAA028C31	
	Monitored	Sensor	Vertiv Analog 3 Sensor			192.168.8.4_Analog 3 Sensor_97E8EBIBEAA028C32	
	Monitored	Sensor	Vertiv Analog 4 Sensor			192168.8.4_Analog 4 Sensor_97E8EB1BEAA028C33	
						Show 10 → 1-10 of 11 < < > >	
Group * Coytoe Dev	ices	+				Adding devices for moni	itorin

From the Devices tab, you can see devices selected for monitoring as well as unmonitored devices found by the scan.

Unmonitored devices are indicated by a

((p)) Discover icon.

Figure 7.9 Device List with Monitored and Unmonitored Devices

= 😒 E	NVIRONE	T™ CONNI	ECT						(P) (WILEY	е соуоте 🔻	? HELP -
		omers / View									
		st custo		Details View 🗮 🕲							
Add >	ed 08-22-20	23 Site Preferences	s 2 Users 1 Sites Users		Devices		Agents		Logs Al	arms 🗲	
	Search		۹								
		Status	Name 个	Site	Group(s)		A		Alarm Details		
									Device 192.168.86.200_GU2_ZU1902 00	:	
		((ๆ))								:	
									Device 192.168.86.202_GU2_ZU2303 00	:	
		((ආ))								:	
									Device 192.168.86.204_GXT5_190630 0_	:	
		ž								:	
		((ආ))								:	
							si	10 wo			
											~

Unmonitored devices may be devices that do not have a configured IPv4 address or SNMP credentials, or they may simply be devices the user chose not to add for monitoring.

NOTE: Unmonitored devices do not collect data or create alarms. They can be provisioned (see Provisioning on page 141) or added for monitoring later. Only monitored devices count against the Partner's or Customer's license since unmonitored devices do not collect data or send alarms.

To add these devices later for monitoring, select the checkbox next to the unmonitored device and select **Add for Monitoring** from the

Add icon drop down menu.

Another discovery scan is not needed to be run. This option is only available for unmonitored devices. A device can also be added for monitoring by editing the device and clicking **Add for monitoring in the device details.**

Unmonitored devices can also be deleted by selecting the checkbox next to each device and clicking the

Delete icon.

Monitored devices show their online and offline status with the **Online** and **Offline** icons. Monitored devices collect data, send trap notifications, and can create alarms and will count against the partner or customer's device and datapoint licenses/allocations. See Creating Customers on page 26.

Online icon

🔭 Offline icon

7.2 Adding Devices Manually

Add a device manually by navigating to the Device tab of a specific customer, click the

Add icon

and then select Add Device Manually.

Figure 7.10 Add Device Options from Device Tab Under Customer

	ECT		(B A C (1)	O WILEY E COYOTE	? HELP -	
Accounts / Customers / View Custom	er						
🥪 CVS Caremark					[Details View 🛛 🖁	≣ 🐵
Added 05-09-2022 Sites 0	Users 1						
< Information	License	Preferences	Sites	Users	Devices	Agents	>
Search Q					Filters •	+ - / 8 Å	T T
Status	Name 个	Site	Group(s)	• •	i Alarm Detail:	Scan for devices	Add Device Manually
No matching results.						Add Device Manually	
				She	ow <u>10 ▼</u> 0 of 0		>1
						CLOSE	

The required information for a device is on two tabs: Information and Communication.

7.2.1 Information Tab

Figure 7.11 New Device Information Tab

≡ S ENVIRONET™ CONNECT	
Equipment / Devices / New Device	A
New Device	
Information Details Communic	ation
Customer* CVS Caremark	Local Agent #2
Site CVS Site #99	1874 Address * 1921681.205
Location Network Closet	Configured IP Address - cannot use factory default IP address Device Name * UPS_182:1681.1205_CVS-Local Agent
Device type * UPS	Device Name - Default is Device Type + IP Address + Local Agent Name Serial Number 123456789
Device Manufacturer* Vertiv	eroups Revolups New Devices So Create new
Device Model * GXT4 Device	
Device Template GXT4 #1	

The Information tab provides basic identifying information about the device (model, location, IP, etc.) and has fields as listed in **Table 7.1** below.

Field	Required or Optional	Description
Customer	Required	Drop down list for the customer that owns the device. This field auto-populates if adding the device from a customer or agent.
Site	Optional	The site where the device is physically located. Drop down list is populated by the sites created in the customer.
Location	Optional	Free form text field for detailed information about the device's location, such as the 2nd floor network closet.
Device Type	Required	Drop down list for the type of device (UPS, Thermal, etc.) being monitored.
Device Manufacturer	Required	Drop down list of manufacturers for supported devices.
Device Model	Required	Drop down list of supported models. Model is a broader category than a specific SKU, more akin to a model family.
Device Template	Required	Drop down list of templates available for the selected model.
Local Agent	Required	The local agent monitoring the device. This auto-populates if adding the device from an agent. Currently, Connect requires a local agent for all monitored devices.
IPv4 Address	Required	IPv4 address of the monitored device. Must be unique within the customer.

Table 7.1 Information Tab Fields

Field	Required or Optional	Description
Device Name	Required	Free-from text field to enter the device name. A default name is built from the Device Type, Agent, IPv4 address selected.
Serial Number	Optional	Serial number of the device. This is also polled from the device (if available) after communication is established.
Groups	Optional	The device groups to which the device belongs. A single device can be a part of multiple device groups. See Device Groups on page 108.

7.2.2 Communications Tab

Figure 7.12 Device Communications Tab

= 🐼 ENVI	RONET" CONNECT	PPP (1) O WILEY E COYOTE ? HELP *
	Equipment / Devices / Edit Device	A
	CRV600A_ROW06	Details View 🗮 😂
	Thermal Vertiv CRV 4176316204.2013FEB270034 ADDED 04-03-2024 CUSTOMER V-SATINFO AGENT ConnectAgentU-OH08	⊕ 🖍 🕇
	Information Details Communication Advanced Networking Push Configuration Log	s Alarms
	NETWORKING PROTOCOLS	
	Level Agent Connect/AgentU-OH08 ADVANCED NETWORKING Network N	ENABLE SNMP
	MAC Address - 000299000074	۲
	Rad Community String Ph4 Addess ' Wits Community String 10/20383861	•
	Configured IP Address - cannot use factory default IP address Write Community Birling IP-VG Address a	
	COMM. CARD DETAILS	
	Unity Card	
	Interface Card Firmware Version UPDATE FIRMWARE	
	PROVISIONING CREDENTIALS	
	Admini tumuma General Admini tumumas	
	Admin Password	
	······ •	
	Admin Password	

The Communication tab includes more advanced network information (including SNMP credentials, MAC address, comm. card, and provisioning credentials). The fields on this screen are detailed in **Table 7.2** below

Field	Required or Optional	Description
Local Agent	Required	Synced with the selection on the Information tab.
MAC Address	Required	Used to uniquely identify a device within the customer's network This is especially relevant where multiple factory-fresh devices have the same default IPv4 address.
IPv4	Required	Synched with the value on the Information tab.
IPv6	Optional	This is read-only when adding a device manually. It is populated when a broadcast scan finds a device.

Table 7.2 Communications Tab Fields

Field	Required or Optional	Description				
Interface Card Type	Required	The communications card of interface used to connect a device to the customer network. For Geist devices (Watchdogs, Geist Upgradeable rPDUs, etc.), select Integrated .				
Interface Card Firmware Version	Read-only	This is populated after the communications card/interface is communicating with the Connect platform.				
Provisioning Credentials (Admin Username)	Optional	Used to authenticate provisioning actions or to create an admin user on a factory-fresh device. See Provisioning a Factory Fresh Device on page 141.				
Provisioning Credentials (Admin Password)	Optional	Used to authenticate provisioning actions or to create an admin user on a factory-fresh device. See Provisioning a Factory Fresh Device on page 141.				
SNMP Version	Required	Connect supports SNMPv1, v2c, and v3.				
Read Community String	Required	SNMP v1, v2c only. Used to poll data from the edge device.				
Write Community String	Optional	SNMP v1, v2c only. Used for pushing device configurations on devices that communicate via an Intellislot communications card. See Pushing Configurations 1 Cards and Edge Devices on page 154.				
Authentication Type	Required	SNMP v3 only. Drop-down menu of authentication type options for SNMP v3. Possible values: None, MD5, SHA-1, SHA-256, SHA-384, SHA-512, Not all devices supported by Connect support all possible authentication types.				
SNMP Username	Required	SNMP v3 only. Used with authentication secret to authenticate and poll data for SNMP v3. See SNMP Credentials on page 35				
Privacy Type	Required	SNMP v3 only. Drop down menu of privacy type options for SNMP v3. Possible values: None, DES, Triple DES, AES, AES-192, AES-256. Not all devices supported by Connect support all possible privacy types. See SNMP Credentials on page 35 to confirm privacy type is supported on the specific device.				
Authentication Secret	Required	SNMP v3 only. Required if Authentication Type is not None. Used with username to authenticate and poll data for SNMP v3.				
Privacy Secret	Required	Required if Privacy Type is not None. Used to authenticate and poll data for SNMP v3.				

Table 7.2 Communications Tab Fields (continued)

SNMP and provisioning credentials auto-populate if the customer has provided default credentials at the customer level. See Customer Preferences on page 34.

7.2.3 Details Tab

The Details tab contains optional information used for device and lifecycle management tracking.

Figure 7.13 Device Details Tab

≡ 😵 ENVIRONET™ C	CONNECT			S wiley e coyote ▼	? HELP -
Equipment / Devices / New Devices	vice				
Hew Device					
Information	Details	Communication	ı		
Device Firmware Version			Battery EOL Date 1/30/2025		
Manufacture Date 11/29/2023			Battery EOL estimate Last Battery Replaced Date 3/26/2024		
Manufacture Date Installation Date 3/6/2024			Last Battery Replaced Date		
Installation Date Warranty Expiration 1/1/2026					
Warranty Expiration Support Provider Vertiv Support Provider - OPTIONAL					

Details on the Detail tab are listed in Table 7.3 below

Table 7.3 Detail Tab Fields

Field	Required or Optional	Description
Device Firmware Version	Read Only	Reported from the device after it is communicating with Connect.
Manufacture Date	Optional	Manual date picker entry for when the device was manufactured. Some MIBs provide this a pollable information. However, for the current version of Connect, the field is set with manual entry.
Installation Date	Optional	Manual date picker entry for when the device was installed.
Warranty Expiration	Optional	Manual date picker entry for when the warranty will expire for the device.
Support Provider	Optional	Free-form text entry field for an organization task providing service to the specific device (repair companies, preventative maintenance, etc.).
Battery EOL Date (UPS Only)	Optional	Manual date picker entry for when the UPS battery is expected to expire.
Last Battery Replaced Date (UPS Only)	Optional	Manual date picker entry for when the battery was last replaced in the UPS.
Notes	Optional	Free-form text entry for any device information not captured by other fields.

7.3 Device List

The device list shows a list of the devices that have been added to the system, either manually or via discovery. It includes devices added for monitoring and unmonitored devices. Many context-specific device lists exist underneath other entities in the system. The local agent, customer, asset group, and site entities all have device lists as a tab, and there is also a general device list under the Equipment menu. The functionality of all these lists is the same, and devices can be added from any of these places.

	S E	NVIRONE	T™ CONNECT				đ	⁹	<mark>ም</mark> (ቁ)	O WILEY E C	оуоте 🔻	? HE	LP 🔻
E	Equipment /	Devices											Â
I	Devices	- 162											
1	10 of 162 o	devices -	1 of 17 pages										
s -	Search		<u>م</u>						FILTERS	* 🕂 * 🧪	● ₼	i 🗊	
		Status 🕇	Name	Customer	Site	Group(s)	A		Alarm Det	ails			
												:	
									System	Status has a value	of Norma	:	
						rPDU-FL						:	H
						rPDU-FL						:	
												:	
						rPDU-FL						:	

The Device list columns are described in Table 7.4 below.

Table 7.4 Device List in Equipment Menu

Column	Description				
Status	Has four possible values:				
	Online				
	• Offline				
	Unmonitored				
	Disabled				
Name	Name of the device. Clicking Name takes you to the details page.				
Customer	The customer who owns the device.				
	IOTE: On some tabs, this column is hidden since the customer is known from context.				
Site	If a site has been assigned to the device, it is displayed here.				

Table 7.4 Device List in Equipment Menu (continued)

Column	Description
Group(s)	If the device has been assigned to 1-n groups, they are displayed here. This field is a drop down.
Alarm Counts	Shows the count of active alarms on each device, split by severity (critical, warning, informational). Each count can be sorted individually.
Alarm Details	Shows the description of the most recently received alarm for the devices.

Like other lists in Connect, each column is searchable, sortable, and filterable.

From the device list, these actions can be completed: adding new devices, editing existing devices, adding/removing devices from device groups, and deleting devices. These actions are available by clicking an individual device, clicking the pull down menu, or clicking an action button in the top right.

7.4 Device Details

Clicking on an individual device takes you to its read-only device details page.

Figure 7.15 Information Tab Read-Only Devices

= 😒	ENVIRONET" CONNECT	PPP (1) OW O WILEY E COYOTE Y ? HELP Y
	Equipment / Devices / View Device	A
	🛜 10.241.13.152_Watchdog 100_22E8EB1BDA8D3EC3	Details View 🗮 🕲
	Monitor Vertiv Watchdog 100 22E8E818DA8D3EC3 ADDED 04-25-2024 CUSTOMER Delaware Lab Customer #001 AGENT RDU301-DelawareAg	ent-UAT-Trube-001 🕀 🖍 👕
	Information Details Communication Logs	Alarms
	Customer Delaware Lab Customer #001	LOCAL AGENT RDU301-DelawareAgent-UAT-Trube-001
	site -	IPV4 ADDRESS 10.241.13.152
	LOCATION -	device NAME 10.241.13.152_Watchdog 100_22E8EB1BDA8D3EC3
	ADDRESS -	serial numeer 22E8EB1BDA8D3EC3
	groups New Devices	DEVICE MODEL Vertiv Watchdog 100 (Monitor)
		TEMPLATE WatchDog 100 Template #1

See Information Tab on page 96Device Details above, and Details Tab on page 99

After a device has been added to the system, logs for any event that have occurred on the device (including audit logs for changes to device configurations) and a list of active alarms can be seen. You can toggle between the details view and the visual view (dashboard) by clicking the

Details icon

Dashboard icon

7.5 Device Dashboard

Users can toggle to the dashboard from the device details page by clicking the

Dashboard button.

The device dashboard is a collection of widgets showing important current values, graphs of trended information, active alarms, and logs. The exact dashboard is determined by the model and template selected. Devices of the same model and template will have the same dashboard configuration.

NOTE: Device dashboards are not editable or customizable.

Figure 7.16 Example Dashboard with an Active Alarm

= 😒 :	ENVIRONET™ CONNECT				₫₽₽₽₽	(n) O WILEY E COYOTE	? HELP -
	Equipment / Devices / View Device	9				<u>^</u>	
	10.241.13.152_Watchdog 100_22E8EB1BDA8D3EC3				Vis	sual View : 🙆	
	Monitor Vertiv Watchdog 100 22E8E ADDED 04-25-2024 CUSTOME	EBIBDA8D3EC3 R Delaware Lab Customer #001		G 🖍 📋			
	🥑 Internal Temp : Inter	rna 22.44 ° 🔨 🗙	📀 Internal Humidity : Interr 48 %F 🔨 🗙		📀 Internal Dew Point : Inte: 10.89 🔨 🗙		
	22.44 ° C		48 %RH		10.89 ° C		
	MIN 21.83	MAX 22.78	MIN 48	MAX 57	MIN 10.89	MAX 13.39	
	Internal Analog Sensors	^ X	System Info	^ X	1 Active Alarms	^ 🗙	
	Description	Value Units	Description	Value Units	▲ Severity Timestamp ↓ Cate	egory Description	
	Internal IO1	99	Product Serial Number	TB22100061	05-01-2024 0	Device 10.241.13.152_ Watchdog 100_22E8E B1BDA8D3EC3 is not	
	Internal IO2	99	Product Platform	bb100	9:57:31.5731	communicating whic h is a CRITICAL seve rity alarm condition.	*

For this current release, device dashboards can include:

- Value Widgets—These highlight a critical value on the device and can be numeric or text.
- Group Widgets—Show a related data (text and numeric) in a single widget.
- Active Alarms—Shows any alarm that is active on the device.
- Notes—Provide area to enter notes about the device directly from the dashboard.
- Line Graph
- Bar Graph

Additional widgets and capabilities will be added in future releases.
Figure 7.17 Mobile Dashboard View

9:10	☜⊿∎
♪ S-001.azurew	ebsites.net + 4
EnviroNet Connect	❶ ¹ (ŋ) ♀ ▼ ? ▼
Equipment / View Asset 192.168.1.206_Wa hdog 15_3E049162E83 0C3	
Watchdog 15	• / •
🖉 Internal Temp	o: Internal 22.06 ° 🗸
Internal Humi	dity : Intern 48 %F 🗸
Internal Dew	Point : Inter 10.56 ' 💛
System Info	^
Description	Value Units
Product Serial Number	TB22010473
Product Platform	bb015
Product Version	3.4.0
•	•

Connect is designed to be viewed on both desktop and mobile devices. On mobile devices, you can minimize/maximize individual widgets by clicking the **Minimize** and **Maximize** icons.

Minimize icon



The headers of value widgets show the current value when minimized widget headers will also change color if alarm conditions are active.

Figure 7.18 Dashboard with Normal Widgets

=		Г					(° 4 ² (P 仰 ❷ WILEY E COYOTE ▼ ? HELP ▼
ft	Devices Groups	Equipment / Devices		15_3E	E049162E83D70	C3		Visual View 🗮 🕲
¢	Local Agents	Monitor Vertiv Watch ADDED 02-21-2024			esting Customer #001	GENT RDU301-BenHome		© 🗡 🕯
	Configurations	🥝 Internal Te	emp 21.0(🔨	×	🥝 Internal Hum	nid 44 : 🔨 🗙	📀 Internal Dew Pi 8.21 🔨 🔀	🚺 Internal Avail : Avai 🔨 🔀
	Firmware							
¢		21. MIN 20.94	00 ° C		44 9 MIN 44	%RH MAX 46	8.28 ° C MIN 8.28 MAX 9.56	Internal Avail : Available
		System Info	^	×	Notes	~ X	1 Active Alarms	× ×
		Description	Value U	nits			Internal Humidity	~ X
		Product Serial Nu mber	TB22010473					Day Week Month
		Product Platform	bb015				50	
		Product Version	3.4.0				40	
		Product Title Product Friendly N	Geist WD15 Geist%20WD15					

Some information, like maps, graphs, or lists, are best viewed when expanded. Users can expand an individual widget, so it takes up the full view. Toggle back to the normal view by clicking the collapse button.

Expand icon

K Collapse icon

Figure 7.19 Dashboard with Expanded Graph Widget



A snapshot of the device dashboard can be exported to PDF. This can be helpful in sharing diagnostic information with a third-party who might not have access to Connect, or for documenting problem states for error reporting.

To save a device dashboard to PDF, click the



in the top right-hand corner of the dashboard (between the edit and delete icons). The buttons will disappear momentarily while Connect takes a snapshot of the page, and then a file with a name in the form *{device_name}_ Dashboard_{datetime}.pdf* will be created and downloaded.

Figure 7.20 Dashboard Exported to PDF

Thermal Vertiv CRV ADDED 12-10-2024 CUSTOMER DIV De	pot (DEM	O) AGENT	Agent86HQ-NY-DIY		
System Status : Normal Wit	h Wa	^ X	🧭 Return Air Temperature : 23.2(🔨 🔀	🔗 Return Dew Point : Retur 12.10 🔨 🔀	🔗 Return Humidity : Retu 49.70 % 🧥 🔀
System Status	•		23.20 °C	12.10 °C	49.70 %RH
Normal With Wa		ing			
		J	MIN 22.80 MAX 214748370	MIN 8.40 MAX 214748370	MIN 36.60 MAX 429496740
Fan Speed		~ ×	Compressor Utilization 🔥 🗙	✓ 0 Active Alarms	^ X
60				Severity Timestamp ↓ Category	Description
50				No matching results.	Сезацион
40				No matching results.	
8 30 10 84			Unit of measure (8)		
مع المع المع المع المع المع المع المع ال			t of me me 		
20 <u> </u>			5		
10					
o					Show 10 ▼ 0 of 0 < < > >
Setpoints		^ X	System Info	~ 8	Notes ^ 🔀
Description	Value	Units	Description	Value Units	
Air Temperature Set Point		°C	System Model Number	Liebert DS	
Humidity Set Point	60	%RH			
Fan Speed Manual Set Point		×			
Fan Speed Minimum Set Point	54	×			
Fan Speed Maximum Set Point	100	×			
Cooling Proportional Band		°C			
Temperature			~ 🗴	Fan Speed	~ %
			Day Week Month		Day Week Month
250M				sc	
0 200M				8 4C	
35 5 100M				i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	
- SUM					
12:00 15:00	18:0	0 21	:00 21. Apr 03:00 06:00 09:00 Period	12:00 15:00 18:00 21:0	0 21. Apr 03:00 06:00 09:00 Period
		Return A	Nr Temperature	+ F	an Speed

7.6 Editing Devices

Users can edit the details of their existing devices by clicking the **Edit** icon from the device details or visual views.

Fdit icon

Figure 7.21 Editing a Device

≡	S ENVIRONET™ CONNECT	P P P WILEY E COYOTE * ? HELP *
	Equipment / Devices / Edit Device	
	192.168.8.7_GU2_ZK23101022	Details View 🗮 🙆
	Rack PDU Vertiv GU2 ZK23101022 ADDED 04-30-2024 CUSTOMER Cluj Lab Linux - Customer AGENT !Cluj-Agent-LINUX	⊕ ≯ †
	Information Details Communication Advanced Netwo	working Push Configuration Logs Alarms
	Outomer Cluj Lab Linux - Customer	Looil Agent ICluj-Agent - LINUX
	Site	1705. Addense * 192.168.8.7
		Configured IP Address - cennot use fectory default IP eddress
	Location	Device Name * 192.168.8.7_GU2_2K23101022
		Device Name - Default is Device Type + IP Address + Local Agent Name
	Device type " Rack PDU	Seriel Number ZK23101022
	Device Menufecturer * Vertiv	Groups
	Device Model * GU2	Create New gropu Discovery screen 🛞 New Devices 🛞 Create new
	Tampiasa " (Default) GU2 Device Template 1	

The customer and local agent fields cannot be changed after a device has been added to the system. Devices can be moved from one site to another and can be added/removed from groups. Devices cannot be moved from one agent to another or to one customer to another and retain historical data. To move a device, you must delete it from the system and then re-add it manually or via a scan to a different agent or customer.

If the device was first discovered as an unknown device, the user can set the device type, manufacturer, model, template, and comm. card to correctly identify the model (if the model is supported by Connect).

NOTE: Changing the IPv4 address using the field on the Information or Communications tab does not change the IP address on the edge device. Changing the IP address on the Information or Communications tab changes the IP address that the agent polls for this specific device. Users can change the IP address via the provisioning process. See **10** on page 141. Changes to the serial number may be reverted to a value for the serial number is polled from the edge device.

7.7 Deleting Devices

Delete devices by selecting one or more devices from the device list and clicking the

Delete icon

Individual devices can also be deleted from its device details page or by using the



Deleting a device deletes device asset data such as name, model, and installation date but also historical data stored for that device. It also clears active alarms pertaining to that device. The device and its associated datapoints are freed up from license utilization. Historical data such as alarms, logs, and trends are removed when deleting a device. Re-adding a device will have history from the point it was re-added.

Only users with access to a specific device and the Device management permission can delete devices.

Deleting a device is irreversible. However, if the device is still communicating on the customer network, it can be readded to the system manually or via a device discovery.

NOTE: If an unmonitored device is deleted, it may be re-added to the system via another discovery if the device is still active on the network.

7.8 Device Groups

Device groups are a generic grouping mechanism for signifying sets of devices.

They can be used to signify device in the same physical location such as a specific row/rack or even devices working together as a single device.

Device groups can also be used generically to classify or group devices in such ways as "noisy devices" or "Steve's devices." Groups are contained within a specific customer. A single group cannot contain devices from multiple customers.

Figure 7.22 New Device Group

■	P A O WILEY E COYOTE	? HELP -
Equipment / Groups / New Group		
New Group		
Information		
Organizations * Cleveland Hospital		
Group Neme * Sth Floor Network Room		
Notes		

Add groups from the Device Groups list under the Equipment menu by clicking the



Groups can also be created when editing a device by typing a new group name in the groups field for the device and then clicking **Add**.

Figure 7.23 Add Group from the Groups Field in a Device

ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT	
Equipment / Devices / Edit Device	
Nashville-Lab-rPDU-2	Details View 😕 🕝
Rack PDU Vertiv GU2 ZU23100009 ADDED 03-25-2024 CUSTOMER Nashville Lab - Trey Ackerman AGENT Nashville Agent-1	⊕ ∕ Ť
Information Details Communication Advanced Netwo	rorking Push Configuration Logs Alarms
Customer Nashville Lab - Trey Ackerman	Looil Agent Vashville Agent-1
Site	1946 Address * 192168.100.199
	Configured IP Address - cannot use factory default IP address
Location Garage	Dwice Name * Nashville-Lab-rPDU-2
	Device Name - Default is Device Type + IP Address + Local Agent Name
Dwice type * Rack PDU	Seriel Number ZU23100009
Device Menufecturer *	
Vertiv	Crops Laycrest 🛞 New Devices 🛞 Cleveland Hospital ADD
Device Model * GUZ	PDUs
Templets * (Default) GU2 Device Template 1	Add New Group while editing device

The only required field for a group is **Name**. There is an option to add notes and an option to customize the dashboard for the group.

The system provides several system groups that include Unassigned, Unknown, and New Devices.

Figure 7.24 Default Group Dashboard

E S ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT							88 2	🥐 (တု) 🤒 WILE	E COYOTE	•	? HELP
Equipment / Groups / View Group											
Cluj Gropu 1								Visu	al View	≣	2
Added 04-22-2024 Devices 1											
										e	• 🗎
Plan	^	X	٥	8	Notes	^	X 8	0 Entities in Al	irm 🗸	××	8
+								Alarmed Customer Entity		A	
								No matching results.			
								4			Þ
				Leaflet							

See Basic Dashboard Editing on page 119and Widgets on page 122 for further details on configuring dashboards.

A device can belong to one or more asset groups. Users can add devices to groups in multiple ways. The easiest for an individual device is to go to its device details page and select the group(s) it is part of from existing groups or to add more as shown in **Figure 7.23** on the previous page.

If multiple devices need to be added to a group there are two ways to accomplish this:

- Grouping Devices from the Device List below
- Grouping Devices from a Device Group on page 112

7.8.1 Grouping Devices from the Device List

On the device list the user can select one or more devices, then click the group button to add or remove groups from those devices.

Select one or more devices on the device list and then click the

Group icon

to add or remove groups from those devices.

The selected devices must be all under the same customer, otherwise the Group icon is unavailable.

		/IRONET [™] C	CONNECT			P P P M O WILEY E COYOTE * ? HELP *
Eq	quipment / C	Froups / View G	roup			
S	COOLIN	NG Cbus				Details View 🗮 🞱
Add	ed 04-11-20	24 Device	es 3			
	Informati	on	Devices	Logs	Alarms	Group
	Search		<u>م</u>			
	2	Status		Name 个	Customer	Site
		?				
	V	*				
		ž				
						Show $10 - 1$ 1-S of 3 $ \langle \langle \rangle \rangle$
						CLOSE

Figure 7.25 Multiple Devices Selected to Add to a Group

A dialog opens to show the available groups for the devices selected. Select one or more groups to assign to the selected devices and click **Save Changes**.

Figure 7.26 Adding Select Devices to a Group



If a device has been added to multiple groups, click the drop down Groups(s) field on the device list. This will show all groups that contain the device.

RONET™ C	ONNECT							🥐 🕵 🥐 🦚 😝 don	INA MCMANUS Y ? HELP
Search		<u>م</u>						🍸 FILTERS 🍷 🕂 👻 🚷 🥼	
	Status	Name 个	Customer	Group(s)		A		Alarm Details	
	ž							Device 10.108.32.130_GXT5_1914500 6	:
	ž								:
	ž								:
	×							Device belongs to two groups: UPS and New	:
	ž			New devices	0	0	•∕	devices.	:
	ž			New devices 🔻				Device 10.108.32.143_GU2_ZY190308 7	:
									:
	×				<u>h</u>			Device 10.108.32.143_unknown_ZY19 0_	:
	×.			UPS 🔻	1	0	0	Device 10.108.32.145_GXT5_1835500 4.	:
	ž								:
						Shov	v 10 ·	▼ 1-10 of 162 < < >	ы

Figure 7.27 Device within Multiple Groups

7.8.2 Grouping Devices from a Device Group

Devices can also be added to a group by going to the Device Groups list and clicking on a specific Device Group.

P P WILEY E COYOTE ? HELP 🔽 S ENVIRONET™ CONNECT Equipment / Groups Groups - 698 Q, Search 🍸 FILTERS 🎽 🕂 🍸 🚽 A Status Alarm De Device 10.241.13.180_GU2_MP200604 0 0 0 0 Ø From the Devices tab of the group, click the

Figure 7.28 Device Groups List

Add icon

to add existing devices to the group.

Figure 7.29 Device Tab for a Group

= 😪 ENVIRONE	T™ CONNECT		┍╸┍╸	(i) O WILEY E COYO	TE • ? HELP •
Equipment / Groups				Details View	≣ ②
Added 04-29-2024	Devices 1 Devices Logs	Alarms			
Search	<u> </u>		FILTERS	+ / 8 🗄	V –
Stat	us Name 个		Customer	Site	
			Show 10 👻		
				CLOSE	

The list of devices includes devices that are not already a part of the group is provided. Select one or more devices and scroll down to click **Save Changes** to add the devices to the group.

Figure 7.30 Adding Existing Devices to Group

Devices	- 10					^
	evices	- 1 OF 1 PAG Q				
Search					Filters	
	Status	Alerts	Name 🗸	Site	Group(s)	
	((†))	alerts count	_RTAFHD3 Sensor_B9000000E96C7D12		New devices	
	((†))	alerts count	_Analog 4 Sensor_97E8EB1BEAA028C33		New devices	
	((†))	alerts count	_Analog 3 Sensor_97E8EB1BEAA028C32		New devices	
	(m)	alerts count	_Analog 2 Sensor_97E8EB1BEAA028C31		New devices	
	(m)	alerts count	_Analog 1 Sensor_97E8EB1BEAA028C30		New devices	Ţ

Remove devices from the group by selecting one or more devices and clicking the

Remove icon.

7.8.3 Deleting Device Groups

Delete device groups created from an individual group or from the device group list by selecting one or more groups and then clicking the

Delete icon

and then selecting the Delete option from the drop down menu.

When deleting a group, there are two choices:

- Delete Groups Only
- Delete Groups + Devices

Figure 7.31 Deleting Groups

=	ENVIRONI	ET™ COI	NNECT				(PPP (***) O WILEY E COYOTE * ? HELP *
	Equipment /	Groups						
	Groups	- 698						Delete icon with drop down menu
	5 of 698 (Groups -	3 OF 140 PAGES					×
	Search		<u> </u>					🍸 FILTERS 🎽 <table-cell-rows> 🎽 🕇</table-cell-rows>
	=1	Status	Name 个	Devices	Customer	A		Alarm Details 🗍 Delete Group(s) Only
		0						Device 10.241 T Delete Group(s) + Devices 5
		0						;
		0						:
	~	0						:
		0						:
						Sho	w <u>5</u>	T1 - 15 of 698 I

When choosing **Delete Group(s) Only**, devices in that group are removed from the group and the group is deleted. The device asset, historical, and alarm data is retained.

When choosing **Delete Group(s) + Devices**, all devices in the group are deleted including historical, asset, and alarm data and then the group itself is deleted.

To delete a group, you must have access to the group and to the devices within that group as well as the Device Management permission.

NOTE: Users cannot delete system groups.

7.9 Sites

Sites are a grouping mechanism within Connect that is intended to correspond to physical customer locations with an address. A device can only be physically located within one site, unlike groups which can span across sites, with devices that can be part of multiple groups.

The sites list is located under the Accounts menu and can also be accessed for a specific customer on the Sites tab of that customer.

Figure 7.32 Sites List

=		ст						₽4 ³ 6 ⁹ (w) ⊖ w	LEY E COYOTE 🔻	? HELP -
f	Partners	Accounts /								
¢.	Customers	Sites - 9	9 1							
			ites - <mark>5</mark> Ol	= 19 PAGES Q						
		Search							FILTERS 🍷 🕂	
			Status	Site 个	Customer	Devices	A	Alarm Details	Added	
٥			0						04-24-2024	:
?			0						09-07-2023	:
			0						04-04-2024	:
			0						04-22-2024	:
			0					Device SteveFranksCo1-CRV600 o) is n 04-04-2024	:
								Show 5 	91 < <	> >I

Add a new site by clicking the

Add icon

Figure 7.33 New Site with an Address

	? HELP ▼
	^
vered by Go	

A site requires a name and the parent customer to be created. Sites are contained within a single customer. However, most sites will also have an address. Connect supports searching for addresses using the Google API, which recognizes both street addresses and place names.

When a new site has been added, it can be selected on an individual device level by clicking the sites field and selecting the site from the drop down. This will also populate an address for the device if the address for that site is specified.

Sites are created with a default dashboard that can be customized to better match the site layout. See Basic Dashboard Editing on page 119 and Basic Dashboard Editing on page 119

Figure 7.34 Default Site Dashboard

■ Y ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT			P P WILEY E COYOTE ? HELP *
Accounts / Sites / View Site Moapa Valley Added 05-01:2024 Devices 0			Visual View 🗮 🙆
Added 05-01-2024 Devices 0			● 🖪
Plan	~ X ¢ 8	Notes 🔨 🗙 😣	0 Entities in Alarm 🧥 🎇 😣
+			Customer Alarmed
			No metching results.

If the site has an address, it is automatically added to the map widget for the customer and partner dashboards. Clicking on the pin shows information about the site, as well as the counts for any alarms that may be active for devices in the site.





7.9.1 Deleting Sites

Sites have two delete options:

- Delete Site(s) Only
- Delete Site(s) + Devices

Access to the site and all devices is required in order to delete the site.

Figure 7.36 Deleting a Site

≡ \$		ONET™ C	ONNECT					₽₽₫	<mark>ب</mark> ې ۹		соуоте 🖌 🤶	HELP V
	Accounts / Sites											
	Sites - 9	2							elete icon op down r			
	5 of 92 si	tes - <mark>5</mark> OF	19 PAGES									
	Search		Q						T FILTE	rs 🎽 🕂	1 1	
	=	Status	Site 🕇	Customer	Devices		A	Alarm Details	1	Delete Si	ite(s) Only	
		0							Ĩ	Delete Si	ite(s) + Devices	
		9							09-	07-2023	:	_
		9							04-	04-2024	:	
		0							04-	2-2024	:	
		9						Device SteveFranksCo1-CRV60 o_	0 is n 04-	04-2024	:	
								Show 5 💌 21	- 25 of 92	< <	> >I	
				4								

When choosing **Delete Site(s) Only**, only the sites selected are deleted. Devices within that site and related data—asset, historical, and alarm data—is retained.

When choosing **Delete Sites(s) + Devices**, the sites selected and any devices within that site are deleted. Related device data—asset, historical, and alarm data—is deleted.

To delete a site, you must have access to the site and to the devices within that group as well as the Device Management permission.

Vertiv[™] Environet[™] Connect User Manual

This page intentionally left blank

8 Dashboard Management

Dashboards are visual views that provide an at-a-glance view of the Connect product and can show a partner or customer a high-level perspective of what is going on with their devices.

Dashboards consist of widgets that have different capabilities. Widgets can be sized and moved, can be configured, and can be expanded to fill the whole view or minimized so that only the header is visible.

As Connect is developed to provide new capabilities, the set of available widgets will grow.

When a partner, customer, site, or group is created, they are created with a default dashboard that can be customized. For partners and customers, this dashboard serves as their home dashboard.

NOTE: Devices also have a dashboard that is part of the device template. Unlike the dashboards for partners, customers, sites, and groups, dashboards that are part of the device template cannot be customized.

8.1 Basic Dashboard Editing

To edit their organization's dashboard and the dashboards of any customers, sites, and groups, users must have Dashboard Management permission.

A dashboard can be modified from the single entity view (partner, customer, site, group). For example, as a partner to edit their home dashboard, the user goes to the partners list, clicks their partner, and toggles to the visual view.



Figure 8.1 Partner Dashboard

To add a widget, click the

Add icon

and select a widget from the drop down menu.

Figure 8.2 Adding a Widget

= 🔇	ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT			đ	• 🖓 🛟 (4) 🛛 🖓 WILEY E CO	OYOTE Y ? HELP
	Accounts / Partners / View Partner					
	Acme Crates				Visual View	≡ ⊘
	Since 04-28-2024 Customers 0 Users 1				Add Widget	▲⊕ 🖻
	Мар	9 ^ X ¢ Ø	Notes	^ X 8	O Entities in , Notes	\otimes
	Sity Jilinos Indiana West Vropna/	New Incl Boston Postadelphia Washington- Urigina Beach tigh			Customer Alarmer Map Entity Alarm Summary No matching result Alarm Summary Active Alarms	0
	Misuissippi Alabama Ceorgia	Leaflet © OpenStreetMap contributors			< 0 of 0 < <	> >I

Some widgets can only be added once to a dashboard:

- Map
- Notes
- Alarm Summary
- Active Alarm

When one of these widgets has been added once to the dashboard, the option is grayed out.

Other widgets like the Plan widget can be added multiple times.

Delete a widget by clicking the

Delete icon

at the top right-corner of the widget. When the widget is removed, the remaining widgets may auto-arrange to fill the gap left by the widget that was removed.

Resize the widget by dragging the edge of the widget. This may also resize adjacent widgets. The dashboard fits a maximum of four widgets per row. A row is typically one widget tall although widgets can be arranged so that some widgets in the row are stacked.

Figure 8.3 Two Widgets Stacked in a Row

	P P P WILEY E COYOTE Y ? HELP Y
Accounts / Partners / View Partner	
Acme Crates	Visual View 🗮 🕝
Since 04-28-2024 Customers 4 Users 1	
	⊕ 🖻
Marion, Ohio Site 💡 ^ 🗙 🗘 😣 🛛	0 Entities in Alarm 🔨 🔀 😣
물 전화 소문화 관계에서 관계하는 것이 좋아.	Customer Alarmed Entity () A () Details
Leafet © OpenStreetMap contributors O Active Alarms	show <u>s</u> o of0 < < > > Notes ∧ X ⊗
Severity Timestamp 🤳 Category Entity name Description	
No matching results.	

Widgets can be moved by clicking and dragging the widget by the header.

Some widgets can be configured by clicking the

Settings icon

in the top-right corner of the widget.

To save changes to the widgets or to the arrangement or configuration of the widgets, or any widgets that may have been added or removed click the

🗎 Save icon

8.2 Widgets

8.2.1 Map Widget

IMPORTANT! The Map Widget is only available on the Partner and Customer dashboards. Groups and devices are not shown on the map widget.

The Map widget is a geographic view of the partners, customers, and sites to which the user has access. If the partner, customer, or site has an address saved, a pin will automatically appear on the map.



Figure 8.4 Map Widget

If an address has not been specified or if the partner, customer, or site has been removed from the map, add a pin for the entity by clicking the

Pin icon

A dialog pops up to choose the entity from a drop down menu and to specify an address.

Figure 8.5 Address Search to Add Pin

• Add new entity location	n	8
Entity name *		
Address 1240 State St #100, Pa		
9 1240 South State Street Pa	ark Boulevard, Chicago, IL, USA	
1240 North State Street Pa	rking lot, Chicago, IL, USA	
North State Street Parking Id	ot, Chicago, IL, USA	-
Panda Express South State S	Street, Chicago, IL, USA	
Palomar Hotel North State St	reet, Chicago, IL, USA	
		powered by <mark>Google</mark>
	CANCEL	

If the location does not have a precise address, double click a location on the map and select an entity from the drop down. A pin will be placed where the map was clicked.

To remove a pin, click Remove Pin. This removes the pin only. It does not affect the entity.

Figure 8.6 Remove Pin



The map widget has a configurable title. To change the title, click the

Settings icon

at the top-right corner of the widget.

Figure 8.7 Map Widget Settings



Change the map title and click Save Changes.

8.2.2 Floorplan Widget

The Floorplan widget shows the physical locations of devices or groups of devices. The widget permits .PNG and .JPEG images to be uploaded to the Connect platform. Pins can be placed on the floorplans, similarly to how pins can be placed on the Map widget.

Floorplan widgets can be added only to site or group dashboards. Multiple floorplans can be added to the same site or group. Only groups or devices are available to add as pins to the dashboard.

To upload a floorplan image, click the

Settings icon

in the top right-hand corner of the widget. A dialog box opens to let you navigate to find the file on your hard drive. Select the image file and click **Open**.

🧿 Open				×
\leftarrow \rightarrow \checkmark \uparrow \square \Rightarrow This	PC > LENOVO (D:) > Work > Testing >	ب< 5	Search Testing	
Organize 🔻 New folder				
This PC	Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
3D Objects	📙 Config	10/17/2023 5:11 PM	File folder	
Desktop	Firmware	10/19/2023 3:47 PM	File folder	
Documents	Floorplan_2D_Test.png	11/30/2022 11:55 AM	PNG File	281
Downloads				
Music				
Pictures				
Videos				
L Windows (C:)				
LENOVO (D:)				
🕙 Warehouse 12 (E				
🕑 Warehouse 13 (C 🗸 🗸	c la			>
File nar	me: Floorplan_2D_Test.png	~ Cus	tom Files (*.jpg;*.pn	a:*.ipec ∨
	riccipian_co_ricciping			
			<u>O</u> pen (Cancel

Figure 8.8 Upload a Floormap Image

After choosing the file, the Plan Widget Settings dialog opens. You can change the title of the widget here as well. Click **Save** to upload the file to Connect and place it in the widget.



Plan Widget Settings	s 😣 .
Cbus Device Locations	
CHOOSE FILE	orplan Site 2.jpg
CANCEL	SAVE

Like the Map widget, uploaded images can be zoomed in and out. Multiple floorplan widgets can be added to the same dashboard.

Figure 8.10 Site with Multiple Plan Widgets



To place devices or groups on the plan widget, double-click the location of the device or group you wish to add. A dialog opens to select the device or group to be added. Groups and devices are categorized within the drop down. After the entity has been added, click **Save** to add the pin to the floorplan.

Pins can be picked up and dragged after they have been added.

- If the floorplan is in a site, only devices that are in that site or groups within the customer can be added.
- If the floorplan is in a group, devices contained within the group or other groups within the customer can be added.

Pins cannot be added multiple times to the same floorplan, but they can be added to multiple floorplans.



Figure 8.11 Floorplan Widget with Pins Added

8.2.3 Other Widgets

Active Alarm Widget

The Active Alarm widget shows a list of active alarms for the devices at the current level and below.

- At the partner level, the Active Alarm widget shows alarms for devices for all customers managed.
- At the customer level, the Active Alarm widget shows alarms for all their devices.
- For sites, the Active Alarm widget shows alarms for devices in the site.
- For groups, the Active Alarm shows alarms for devices within the group.

Each active alarm is shown as an individual row.

Figure 8.12 Active Alarm Widget

! 10 A	ctive Alarms			× × ⊗
Severity	Timestamp ↓	Category	Entity name	Description
•	04-25-2024 05:59:33. 5933	Thermal	CW_CRAH-A03	Device CW_CRAH-A03 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.
•	04-24-2024 19:20:18.2 018	Thermal	CW_CRAH-A02	Device CW_CRAH-A02 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.
A	04-24-2024 19:16:40.1 640	Thermal	CW_CRAH-A03	Aux Air Temp Device Communication Lost active for CW_CRAH-A03 which is a W ARNING severity alarm condition.
•	04-24-2024 19:16:39.1 639	Thermal	CW_CRAH-A03	Water Under Floor active for CW_CRAH-A03 which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.
•	04-23-2024 22:47:07. 477	UPS	UPS2A-GXT5F 7-FL	Device UPS2A-GXT5F7-FL is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity ala rm condition.
~	04-17-2024 20:23:42.		CRV600A RO	Device CRV600A ROW06 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity ala
				Show <u>10 ▼</u> 1-10 of 10 < < > >

Only one active alarm widget can be added to a partner, customer, site, or group dashboard. This widget requires no configuration.

The widget shows only alarms that are currently active. If the alarm clears it will be removed from the widget. If no alarms are active the header will be neutral (gray), otherwise it reflects the severity of the highest active alarm.

Alarm Summary Widget

The Alarm Summary widget is a summary of devices with active alarms. It displays counts of alarms on each device. Each device with an alarm is an individual row in the widget.

() 6 Entities in	n Alarm	~ X Ø		
Customer	Alarmed Entity		0	Details
V-SAT INFO	CW_CRAH-A03	2 1	0	Device 10.241.13.152_Watchdog 100_22E8EB1 BDA8D3EC3 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.
V-SAT INFO	CRV600A_ROW06	2 0	o	Device 10.241.13.152_Watchdog 100_22E8EB1 BDA8D3EC3 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.
V-SAT INFO	CW_CRAH-A02	1 1	o	Device 10.241.13.152_Watchdog 100_22E8EB1 BDA8D3EC3 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.
V-SAT INFO	UPS1A-MEP-OH	1 0	0	Device 10.241.13.152_Watchdog 100_22E8EB1 BDA8D3EC3 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.
			Show 5	Device 10.241.13.152 Watchdog 100 22E8EB1 • 1-5 of 6 <

Figure 8.13 Alarm Summary Widget

Only one alarm summary widget can be added to a partner, customer, site, or group dashboard. This widget requires no configuration.

The Alarm Summary widget shows only devices with active alarms. If all alarms are cleared for a device, they are removed from the widget. If no alarms are active the header will be neutral (gray), otherwise it reflects the severity of the highest active alarm.

Vertiv[™] Environet[™] Connect User Manual

This page intentionally left blank

9 Alarms

Alarms notify users of bad conditions in their units. The Connect platform highlights alarms in many ways throughout the product and via external notifications. The general goal is to highlight problem areas and drive the user to the details of the problem as quickly as possible.

9.1 How Alarms Work

Connect handles two types of data: polled data and asynchronous data. Polled data includes readings and events that are checked on the device at regular intervals. Asynchronous data includes traps (or informs) for SNMP, which are sent as soon as error conditions are present.

Many devices have alarms that are specified on the edge device itself. In these cases, it's the edge device that looks at readings and fires an event when conditions are not normal. Connect sees the event fired by the device and creates an alarm. How to set edge device alarms is covered in Use Case: Setting Agent as the Trap Target on page 156 and in Use Case: Setting Alarms on page 164

In other cases, Connect looks at device readings and can create an alarm based on those readings. These alarm rules are specified in templates which are currently supplied by Vertiv. Finer grain control of alarms in Connect including creating different rules for different devices and/or customers building their own templates will be introduced with later versions of the platform.

NOTE: For Geist devices, users need to specify alarms on the edge device as none are specified in the templates.

Whether an alarm is device generated or Connect platform generated, it shows in the same places and trigger the same notifications. When conditions return to normal, Connect will close the alarm. Alarm history is logged and can be queried on log pages and widgets.

9.2 Alarm Counts

Alarm counts display current active alarms, categorized by severity. Alarms are displayed in the top header bar on lists and on pins within floorplans and maps.

Figure 9.1 Alarm Counts Top Header



The header bar alarm counts reflect current active alarms for the user's organization and for organizations managed by the user. For partners this is a roll-up of all their customers' alarms, and for an individual customer this is a roll-up of all alarms for all their devices. Clicking the alarm counts in the header bar takes the user to the active alarm tab of their parent organization.

Alarm counts are seen on most lists either as a tab of one entity or in the standalone list.

Figure 9.2 Alarm Counts on a List

ENV	/IRONET	™ CONNECT					PA	3 <mark>(</mark>)		COYOTE	•	? не	_₽ ▼
Accounts / C	Customers												
Custome	ers - 228												
5 of 228 c	ustomers	5 - 19 OF 46 PAGES											
Search		<u> </u>								• 🕀			
	Status	Company Name 🕇	Sites	Devices	Users	A		Alarm Details					
	0											:	
	0											:	
	0			21				Device UPS_1 t	10.108.32.145_Ne	w-Agen		:	
	0											:	
	0											:	
							Show 5		of 228 🛛 🕻	: <	>	>I	

In a list alarm counts can be sorted and filtered by severity. The alarm detail column shows the description of the most recent highest severity alarm.

On a mobile display, the informational severity count column is hidden, but the details of the alarm can be seen in the active alarm log.

9.3 Alarms on Widgets

Alarming is a central feature of most widgets. At the partner or customer level, the map widget will show a pin for the sites managed by the partner or customer.

Мар		Q	^	X	٥	8	
Ann Neverlar	Name: Birch Lane School Type: Customer Address: 100 Green Meadows Dr S Center, OH 43035, USA Active Alarms: ● 1 Critical ▲ 0 Warning ● 0 Info	S, Lewi	S	Ren	nove p	in	
				Street		htributors	

Figure 9.3 Map with Pin and Mouse Over

If there are no alarms present, the pin is green.

If alarms are active:

- The pin is red, indicating a critical alarm.
- The pin is orange, indicating a warning.
- The pin is blue, indicating informational.

Clicking a pin to show a count of active alarms and provides navigation to the object by clicking the name.

Floorplans on sites and groups works much the same.

Figure 9.4 Pin on a Floorplan



On a device dashboard, Connect uses header color and text color to highlight alarm conditions.

Figure 9.5 Device Dashboard with Active Alarms

=		[™] CONNE	ст						79	₽₽₽ ₩ 6	WILEY E COYO	те 🔽	HELP 🔽
	Equipment / Devices / I	Edit Device											^
	10.108.32.1	l43_unkr	nown							Visu	al View	≣ 🙆	
	Rack PDU Vertiv GU2 ZY ADDED 03-27-2024		EOCLAB	AGENT Agent Malina TEST	гит						⊕	/	
	Phase C		^ 🗙	Total	^	×	🦺 1 Ao	ctive Alarms				^ X	
	Description	Value	Units	Description	Value	Units	Severity	Timestamp ↓	Category	Description			
	Energy C			Energy				04-26-2024 08:02: 20.220	Rack PDU	Device 10.108.32.143_ur which is a CRITICAL se			
	Real Power C			Real Power									
	Apparent Power C			Apparent Power									
	Power Factor C			Power Factor									
	Volts C			Product Warning Count									
	Amps C			Product Alarm Count					Show 10	▼ 1-1of1		> >1	-

The header color on individual readings will be highlighted if there are active alarms. For group widgets the text color will change if an alarm is active for that reading.

There are two widgets specifically dedicated to alarms:

- Active Alarm widget
- Alarm Summary widget

See Other Widgets on page 127

Figure 9.6 Active Alarm Widget

10 /	Active Alarms			~ 🗙 😣
Severity	Timestamp 🦆	Category	Entity name	Description
	04-25-2024 05:59:33. 5933	Thermal		Device CW_CRAH-A03 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.
	04-24-2024 19:20:18.2 018	Thermal		Device CW_CRAH-A02 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.
A	04-24-2024 19:16:40.1 640	Thermal		Aux Air Temp Device Communication Lost active for CW_CRAH-A03 which is a W ARNING severity alarm condition.
	04-24-2024 19:16:39:1 639	Thermal		Water Under Floor active for CW_CRAH-A03 which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.
	04-23-2024 22:47:07. 477	UPS		Device UPS2A-GXT5F7-FL is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity ala rm condition.
	04-17-2024 20:23:42.			Device CRV600A ROW06 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity ala
				Show 10 - 1-10 of 10 < < > >

The active alarm widget shows each active alarm in a separate row. On a device dashboard, an active alarm widget contains active alarms for that device only. If the widget is included on a site, group, customer, or partner, it shows all active alarms contained within that area and includes navigation to the affected device. The view is sorted to show the most recent alarm first by default.

6 Entities in <i>i</i>	Alarm			^ X ⊗
Customer	Alarmed Entity	● + ▲		Details
V-SAT INFO		2 1		Device 10.241.13.152_Watchdog 100_22E8EB1 BDA8D3EC3 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.
V-SAT INFO		2 0		Device 10.24113.152_Watchdog 100_22E8EB1 BDA8D3EC3 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.
V-SAT INFO				Device 10.24113.152_Watchdog 100_22E8EB1 BDA8D3EC3 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.
V-SAT INFO				Device 10.24113.152_Watchdog 100_22E8EB1 BDA8D3EC3 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.
			Show 5	Device 10.24113.152 Watchdog 100 22E8EB1

Figure 9.7 Alarm Summary Widget

The alarm summary widget shows alarm counts for devices in alarm, with one row for each device. Both widgets include pagination and sorting controls and can be expanded to fill the whole screen.

9.4 Alarm Notifications

Connect supports external notifications for alarms via email and SMS. User Notification Preferences on page 49

NOTE: SMS requires an SMS phone number to be entered for the customer. Message and data rates may apply.

Emails from the Connect platform contains details for one or more active alarms on multiple devices.

Figure 9.8 Alarm Notification Message



There is usually a short delay (about 10 seconds) between the time that an alarm is shown on the platform and the time that a notification is sent to the user. This is to allow for the roll-up of multiple alarms that are received in a short period of time. In addition to the alarm detail, each alarm entry will include a direct link to the alarming device's dashboard as well as a general prompt to log into Connect.

Text messages follow a similar format but contain only active counts without additional detail.

9.5 Alarm Logs

There are two main alarm logs:

- Active alarm table shows alarms that are currently active (when alarms are cleared this table is empty).
- Alarm/event log shows a time stamped historical view of alarms as well as events and audit actions in context with those alarms. It shows both the alarm activation and the alarm clearing.

Figure 9.9 Active Alarms Tab

= 6		RONET [™] CONNECT					79 A3 🛟 (1)		OTE	? HELP -
A	Accounts / Si	ites / View Site								<u>^</u>
0	V-SAT-	INFO Datacenter O	Н				D	etails View	≣	
Add	ded 04-03-2	2024 Devices 8								
	Informat	tion Devices		Logs	Alarms					
	Search	٩						T	FILTERS	•
	Severity	Timestamp ↓	Category	Entity name	Description					
		04-25-2024 10:38:36.3836	UPS		Device UPS1A-MEP-OH i	s not communicating which is a CRITIC	CAL severity alarm condition.			
		04-25-2024 05:59:33.5933	Thermal		Device CW_CRAH-A03 is	not communicating which is a CRITIC	AL severity alarm condition.			
		04-24-2024 19:20:18.2018	Thermal		Device CW_CRAH-A02 is	not communicating which is a CRITIC.	AL severity alarm condition.			
	A	04-24-2024 19:16:40.1640	Thermal		Aux Air Temp Device Co	mmunication Lost active for CW_CRAH	I-A03 which is a WARNING se	everity alarm condition	in.	
		04-24-2024 19:16:39.1639	Thermal		Water Under Floor active	for CW_CRAH-A03 which is a CRITIC	AL severity alarm condition.			
		04-17-2024 20:23:42.2342	Thermal		Device CRV600A_ROW0	6 is not communicating which is a CRI	TICAL severity alarm condition	in.		
		04-17-2024 20:23:42.2342	Thermal		Device CRV600B_ROW0	6 is not communicating which is a CRI	TICAL severity alarm conditio	n.		
		04-16-2024 08:02:01.21	Thermal		Compressor1 Low Suctio	n Pressure active for CRV600A_ROW0	6 which is a CRITICAL severi	ty alarm condition.		-

The Active Alarms list can be viewed on the Alarms tab of the Details view of most entities and unlike the active alarm widget, filters can be applied to the list of alarms and search within fields. The widget can only be sorted.

The Logs tab shows historical alarm data and events that triggered alarms.

Figure 9.10 Alarm Logs

S ENV	/IRONET [™] CONI	NECT							P	🖓 🕐 🕪 🛛 WILEY E O	соуоте 🔻	? HELI
🕑 Cluj I	Lab Linux - Cı	ustomer								Details View	:	2
Added 02-	-05-2024 Sites	5 User	s 2									
< nces	Site	5	Users	Devices			Agents		Logs	Alarms		>
Search		٩		Start Time 29-Apr-2024 11:44	:36		End Time 30-Apr-2024 11:4	4:36	•		•	0
Severity	Timestamp ↓	Category	Entity	User	Activity	Desc	ription					
	04-30-2024 06:55: 03.553	UPS				Dev	ice: 192.168.8.6_ITA2	_2101201803	2235010010 mo	odified by ciprivertivuser@getnada.	.com	
	04-30-2024 06:51: 13.5113	User				A02		2_ZK23101022		2K22122977,192.168.8.4_Watchdog 1 ity Card_417831G429J2023MAR23		
	04-30-2024 06:49 :19.4919	Rack PDU				Dev	ice: 192.168.8.5_GU2	_ZK22122977	deleted by cipri	rivertivuser@getnada.com		
	04-30-2024 06:49 :19.4919	UPS				Dev	ice: 192.168.8.3_GXT	5_2228101970	DAFMC6 deleter	d by ciprivertivuser@getnada.com		
	04-30-2024 04:37: 21.3721	User				Dev	ice: 192.168.8.5_GU2	_ZK22122977	created by cipr	rivertivuser@getnada.com		
	04-30-2024 04:36 :25.3625	User				Dev	ice: 192.168.8.3_RDU	101_00B5 cre	eated by ciprive	ertivuser@getnada.com		
	04-30-2024 03:01: 17.117	UPS				Dev	ice: 192.168.8.6_ITA2	_2101201803;	2235010010 del	leted by ciprivertivuser@getnada.c	om	
	04-30-2024 03:01: 17.117	Sensor				Dev	ice: 192.168.8.4_Anal	log 1 Sensor_9	97E8EB1BEAA0	128C30 deleted by ciprivertivuser@	getnada.com	

This list can be queried by date as well as by standard filter and search options. If the audit log permission is active, this table will also show user actions on the device in context with other events.

Rows in this log can be filtered by type: alarm, audit, event.

NOTE: Showing event data may result in longer loading times, particularly at higher levels such as partner and customer.

You can refresh the log view to see any events, alarms, and so on. that may have occurred since the page was loaded, by clicking the



Refresh Icon

in the top-right (next to the Export to CSV button). This will update the time range to one day ago through now.

The current log view (with filters and the time range applied) can also be exported to CSV.

To export the logs to CSV, click the



Export to CSV Icon

in the top-right hand corner (next to the filters drop-down). This will create and download a CSV file of the form *[device name] LogExport {datetime].csv*. This file can be viewed in Excel or other comparable software.
9.6 Manually Clearing Alarms

Most alarms will clear on their own when the conditions that created the alarm return to normal. However, sometimes the alarm conditions remain active even though the device is in normal working order. Users may also determine that the alarm condition no longer needs to be shown in Connect. For these and other similar situations, Connect offers the capability to manually clear alarms singly or in bulk.

On partner, customer, site, group, or device dashboards, you can clear individual alarms from the Active Alarm widget by clicking the vertical 3-dots menu next on the row of the alarm you want to clear, then clicking the



NOTE: Clearing an alarm manually will create a clear event in the log and will send out "alarm cleared" notifications to subscribed users.

Figure 9.11 Clearing a Single Alarm on the Active Alarm Widget

! 6 A	ctive Alarms				~ ※ ※
Severity	Timestamp 🗸	Category	Entity name	Description	
•	12-09-2024 13:59:24.717	UPS		Device 10.241.13156_GXT4 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.	
0	12-09-2024 13:59:21.897	UPS		Device 10.241.13.153_GXT4 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.	Clear Selected Alarm(s)
•	12-09-2024 13:59:18.833	UPS		Device 10.24113155_GXT4 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.	
•	10-18-2024 23:32:38.467	Local Agent		Local Agent RDU301-DelawareAgent-UAT-Trube-001 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.	
•	10-17-2024 23:39:32.503	Monitor		Device 10.241.13.152, Watchdog 100, 22E8E81BDA8D3EC3 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.	
•	05-13-2024 05:56:18.767	Monitor		Device 10.241.13152_Watchdog 100_22E8E81BDA8D3EC3 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.	

IMPORTANT! Manually clearing an alarm does NOT change the conditions on the edge device. Threshold based alarms (like overload or high temperature) will become active again on their next polling cycle.

You can clear multiple alarms from the alarms tab on partners, customers, sites, groups, devices, or agents. Select one or more rows and click the



Clear Selected Alarm(s) button

to clear the selected alarms. Each alarm will be cleared separately in the event log, though notifications should be batched.

NOTE: You can also clear alarms individually from the 3-dots menu on each row.

Figure 9.12 Clearing Multiple Alarms from the Alarm Log

	Informatio	n	License	Users	Customers Li	.ogs	Alarms		Clear	Selected A	larm(s)
Sear	ch		٩						T FIL	TERS 👻	*
	2	Severity	Timestamp 🗸	Category	Entity name		Description				
	<u>~</u>		12-09-2024 13:59:24.717	UPS			Device 10.241.13.156_GXT4 is not communicating whic	ch is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.			
	<u>~</u>		12-09-2024 13:59:21.897	UPS			Device 10.241.13.153_GXT4 is not communicating which	ch is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.			
			12-09-2024 13:59:18.833	UPS			Device 10.241.13.155_GXT4 is not communicating which	ch is a CRITICAL severity alarm condition.			
			10-18-2024 23:32:38.467	Local Agent			.ocal Agent RDU301-DelawareAgent-UAT-Trube-001	is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity alarm	condition.		
			10-17-2024 23:39:32.503	Monitor			Device 10.241.13.152_Watchdog 100_22E8EB1BDA8D3E	EC3 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity al	arm condition.		
			05-13-2024 05:56:18.767	Monitor			Device 10.241.13.152_Watchdog 100_22E8EB1BDA8D3E	EC3 is not communicating which is a CRITICAL severity al	arm condition.		
								Show 10 👻 1-6			

10 Provisioning

Provisioning is a powerful capability of the Connect product that enables lifecycle management during device commissioning and operation. It is available exclusively for Vertiv-manufactured devices and includes two major areas: configuration and firmware update. The product specifically calls out basic configuration actions for initial setup such as creating an admin user, configuring the device's network, and enabling SNMP. Advanced configuration actions such as NTP settings, alarm thresholds, and device metadata are managed through configuration files.

10.1 Provisioning a Factory Fresh Device

Connect can take devices that have just been connected to the customer network and configure them from factoryfresh to fully monitored. The process can also be applied to already configured devices, though most Vertiv devices only allow the setting of an admin user once.

IMPORTANT! Configuring a factory fresh device requires that the local agent to be installed with Broadcast Scan enabled (Windows Agent only) and that the device and agent are in an IPv6 multicast friendly environment. See Installing the Local Agent on page 55.

10.1.1 Running a Broadcast Scan

The first step in configuring a factory-fresh device is a discovery scan.

Start a discovery scan from the device list by clicking the

Add icon

and select Scan for devices from the drop down. The Discovery Scan dialog opens.

Devices in their default configuration use a default IPv4 address if DHCP is not enabled on the customer network. An IP range scan will not be able to uniquely distinguish new devices from each other. If IPv6 is implemented on the network, each device has a unique IPv6 address based on their MAC address in the network which can then be used to tell the devices apart.

After selecting the customer, agent, and specifying SNMP credentials, select Scan Type **Broadcast** and then click **Begin Scan to** run the discovery scan.

Broadcast scans can take 15 – 90 minutes to complete, depending on the number of devices in the customer network. While the scan operation is running, you can check the status of the running scan by clicking the

(1) Discovery scan icon in the top right header bar.

Figure 10.1 Running Broadcast Scan

	Discovery Icon
(¹² (¹² ((1))	O WILEY E COYOTE ? HELP
Device Discovery	_
Cluj Customer 1 min. ago CANCEL	Details View : 🞱

When the scan is complete, a notification toast pops up in the bottom right. Click **View** to see the broadcast discovery results.

Figure 10.2 Broadcast Discovery Scan Results

≡	S ENV	IRONET™ CONN	IECT					COYOTE • ? HELP •
	Equipment /	Discovery scan results						<u></u>
	Discove	ry scan result	s					
	Search	٩	•					T FILTERS
		Status	Туре	Model	MAC Address	IPV4 Address	Device Name	
		Not monitored	Unknown	Unknown	0009F52997D9	FE80::209:F5FF:FE29:97D9	FE80::209:F5FF:FE29:97D9_unknown	
		Not monitored	Unknown	Unknown	0002992DD0FC	FE80::202:99FF:FE2D:D0FC	FE80::202:99FF:FE2D:D0FC_unknown	
		Monitored	UPS	Vertiv GXT5	0009F52E6F19	192.168.8.99	192.168.8.99_GXT5	
		Monitored	Rack PDU	Vertiv GU2	001985214C28	192.168.8.7	192.168.8.7_GU2_ZK23101022	
		Monitored	Rack PDU	Vertiv GU2	00198520D946	192.168.8.5	192.168.8.5_GU2_ZK22122977_addForMontio	ring
		Not monitored	Sensor	Vertiv RTAFHD3 Sensor			RTAFHD3 Sensor	
		Not monitored	Sensor	Vertiv Analog 1 Sensor			Analog 1 Sensor	
		Not monitored	Sensor	Vertiv Analog 2 Sensor			Success Updating discovered devices	s succesfully finished
		Not monitored	Sensor	Vertiv Analog 3 Sensor				
		Not monitored	Sensor	Vertiv Analog 4 Sensor	-	-	Analog 4 Sensor	•

When the results page load there are notification toasts update Connect's inventory of any devices found. This allows Connect to retain device information, even if a device is not added for monitoring.

For a device to be added for monitoring, it must have the following:

- An IPv4 address that is unique within the Customer's environment
- SNMP credentials
- An admin user, if using Connect to configure the IPv4 addresses and SNMP credentials

A factory-fresh device will not meet the above criteria, but the system can still retain information about the device as an unmonitored device, which allows the user to provision and configure the device for monitoring.

After the Discovery Scan page has loaded, press **Cancel** to return to the Assets screen. Assets that were found by the scan are added as unmonitored devices which are indicated with a purple

(1) Discovery icon.

Figure 10.3 Unmonitored Devices in Device List

	ENVI	RONET™	CONNECT						79	3 <mark>(</mark> 9)	O WILEY E COYOTE		HELP 🕶
	Equipment /	Devices											<u>^</u>
l	Devices	- 162											
	10 of 162 o	devices -	2 OF 17 PAGES										
1	Search		<u>م</u>						1	FILTERS	+ 🗸 🖉 👘	Î	
		Status	Name 个	Customer	Site	Group(s)		A		Alarm Details			
		((ආ))										:	
		((p))										:	
		((ๆ))										:	
		(ආ)										:	
		(ආ)										:	
		((¶))										:	
		×								Device 10.162. e	29.154_UPS_AUCustom	:	
		×				Unassigned				Device 10.203 	.82.166_GU2_TN2310111	:	
		*	10.203.82.187_GU2_TN22010010	Renter's test Or		New devices	1	0	0	Device 10.203	.82.187_GU2_TN220100	:	-

Interact with these device records and save details as you would with a monitored device. The main difference is that unmonitored devices will not collect data or create alarms, but they also do not count against the license for the partner or customer.

10.1.2 Creating an Admin User

A factory fresh communication card or controller running the latest firmware requires a configured administrative user before you are able to log into the web page for that device. An admin user also authenticates significant configuration or firmware updates taken on that card.

NOTE: The admin user is not the same user that is used to login to Connect. The admin user is used to log into and authenticate with the edge device.

Connect provides the ability to configure the admin user from the cloud rather than setting up an admin user locally on each edge device. Connect retains administrative credentials to authenticate any other configuration actions. This permits Connect to be the central point of configuration for all customer equipment.

When logging into an Intellislot card (Unity and RDU101), the screen to create an admin user is shown in **Figure 10.4** on the next page.

Figure 10.4 Creating an Administrator Account on a Unity Card

•	0	EnviroN	let Connect	×	S [fe80::202:99ff:fe17:7350]/web/ ×	+					-		×
÷	\rightarrow	G	▲ Not secure	[fe80::20	02:99ff:fe17:7350]/web/add-user.html		©₽	☆	0	Ď	₹	•	:
	,	VER	D TIV.										
						Administrator Level Account							
					Username (1) Password (1)	•							
					Confirm Password Add User								
					The card security has been upda	ted to align with current best practic	es.						

Instead of configuring this information locally, you can instead enter it in the Connect cloud on the Communications tab of single devices, or in bulk as we'll see in Update Firmware on page 168.

The information can be entered in the Connect cloud on the Communications tab of a single device or in bulk. See Bulk Actions on page 171 for further details.

Figure 10.5 Provisioning Credentials Section on a Communications Tab on a Device

PROVISIONING CREDENTIALS	
Admin Username	CONFIG. CARD ADMIN
Admin Username	
Admin Password	۲
Admin Password	

To configure the edge device credentials, go to device edit mode by clicking the

🖍 Edit icon

on the Communication tab. Type in a user name and password and click **Config Card Admin**. When complete, a success toast will pop up in Connect and you are able to log into the device using those credentials.

IMPORTANT! Admin credentials can usually only be set once on the edge device. If admin credentials are already set on the edge device, Connect will display a failure toast notification indicating that credentials are already in place. If an admin user already exists on the edge card, save your credentials to Connect so that you can authenticate any further actions. Enter a user name and password in the Provisioning Credentials and click the device **Save** button or icon.

Configuring or saving admin credentials is not required to monitor devices but is required for any of the provisioning actions in this section.

10.1.3 Setting Advanced Network

A factory fresh Intellislot card or Geist IMD controller ships with a default IP address and with DHCP enabled. If the device is in a DHCP friendly environment, it picks up an initial unique IPv4 address, though this may not be the address the customer intends to assign to the device long-term. If DHCP is not enabled on the network, the device is inaccessible via its default IPv4 address except by directly connecting to the device, but the local agent can access it via its IPv6 address.

Setting the advanced networking configures the static IPv4 address, subnet mask, gateway information and DNSs in the network on the edge device. This can be done with a factory fresh device, or with an existing device that is being moved.

NOTE: You do not need to set the advanced networking on a device that has already been configured; discovery or adding manually prompts for the minimal information required to monitor the device.

To configure the Advanced Networking, enter the edit mode of the device by clicking the

Fdit icon

on the Communication tab. Then click the Advanced Networking link.

Figure 10.6 Configuring Advanced Networking

Equipment / Devices / Edit Device 10.108.32.130_GXT5_1914500657AFME3	Details View 🗃 🖉
UPS Vertiv GXT5 1914500657AFME3 ADDED 03-28-2024 CUSTOMER EOCLAB AGENT New Agent-SORIN Information Details Communication Advanced Networking Pus	sh Configuration Logs Alarms
IPv: Address * 10:108:32:130	
Configured IP Address - connot use factory default IP address Submet Mask	
Default Guteway 10:108:32:1	
Primary DNS	
Secondary DNS	

The IPv4 address entered on this page is synchronized to the fields on the Communication and Information tabs. . The minimum required fields are the IPv4 Address, Subnet Mask and Default Gateway. It is also recommended to set at least one DNS.

NOTE: Most cards will default to the Google DNSs: 8.8.8.8 or 8.8.4.4. However, these DNSs may not be accessible within a customer network.

To configure the networking on the edge device, click the **Config. Card Networking** button. This will pop up a prompt asking if you wish to continue.

Figure 10.7 Networking Reboot Prompt



Configuring network settings requires a reboot for the new settings to be put into effect.

Click **Yes** to apply the network settings to the edge device.

Click Cancel to leave existing networking settings in place.

A reboot takes from 3 to 5 minutes to complete and is triggered automatically by the provisioning action.

When the networking settings have been applied, a success toast pops up, notifying the reboot is in progress.

Figure 10.8 Success Toast



NOTE: Connect may briefly lose connectivity with the device during the reboot as the new IP address is put into place.

10.1.4 Enabling SNMP Polling

Connect's initial release relies on SNMP polling and trap decoding to collect data from the edge device. Some of communication cards do not ship with SNMP enabled by default, but this can be enabled or adjusted from Connect.

NOTE: There is no need to enable the SNMP credentials to monitor a device, just save the credentials that are already in place to Connect on the individual device. The action is mainly required for factory fresh device where SNMP is disabled, or if a user wishes to change the credentials used to poll devices.

To enable SNMP on the edge device, click the

🖍 Edit icon

on a device's communication tab. The SNMP credentials saved on the individual device are what will be sent to the edge device. In this case, the same form is used.

Figure 10.9 SNMP Protocol Section of the Communication

PROTOCOLS		
SNMP Version SNMPv1	-	ENABLE SNMP
Reed Community String public		<i>¥</i>
Reed Community String		
Write Community String		
private		<i>₹</i>
Write Community String		

NOTE: Connect supports setting on v1, v2c, or v3 credentials. While v3 is supported on Vertiv communication cards, not all available encryption and privacy methods may be implemented. Check the communication card documentation for supported encryption.

Click the Enable SNMP button to set the SNMP credentials on the edge device. A warning pops up to ask to reboot the card. Rebooting the card is required for the new SNMP credentials to be applied.

- Click **Yes** to continue.
- Click **Cancel** to leave the SNMP settings as they are.

NOTE: Connect may briefly lose connectivity with the device during the reboot and as the new SNMP credentials are being put into place.

10.2 Advanced Configuration

Connect incorporates some device settings directly into its user interface. However, communication cards and edge devices can support an array of configurations. These configurations can be enhanced with new firmware versions. Connect supports generic ways of setting all other device settings on the communication cards and edge devices. The goal is to enable Connect to set communication cards and edge device settings via the device webpage or the device API.

Exact methods and formats can vary depending upon the type of equipment. The following subsections walk through some of the variations and indicate where samples can be found in the Connect product. In general the process is the same: upload a configuration file to the Connect platform that was modified locally and push the file to the edge device. A sample in the platform can be used or a configuration from an already configured device can be used and applied to devices in your site.

10.2.1 Configuration File Types

Configuration files come in three main variations, driven primarily by model and communication card.

Intellislot Card Configuration File

On the Connect platform, the Intellislot card configuration file is an .ini file and the file will be either

- Card Config Unity
- Card Config RDU101

depending upon the model of communication card. When you export the file from the card, it will have a .txt extension. This file includes documentation within the file on the format and possible values for each reading. These files apply only to Unity or RDU101 Comm. Card settings and will NOT affect settings on the edge device.

Device Configuration Unity/RDU101 Communication Device

When uploading or selecting files this is a Device Config - Unity/RDU101 communicating device configuration type. These files apply only to devices communicating via a Unity Card or an RDU101. Vertiv supplies sample files that include all the points that can be configured on each model. Values are set using SNMP writes from the local agent, so valid SNMP credentials are required to change device configuration values.

The format is CSV with the following columns:

- Label
- OID
- Data Type
- Value
- Description

When modifying files provided by Vertiv, only the value column needs to be modified. The data type column offers a guide to the sorts of values that are valid but you may need to review the device manual for a full list of valid ranges.

Gauge and Integer are numbers. The device may scale the value automatically. For example: CRV High Supply Air Temperature Threshold is divided by 10. OctetString is text.

Device Configuration Geist (Host/Device/Alarm)

In the Connect platform this will be one of the following

- Device Config Geist Device Configuration
- Device Config Geist Host Configuration
- Device Config Geist Alarm Configuration

Configuration files for Geist devices are in JSON format. They are split by functional area, with communication values in host files, device specific settings/labels in device files, and alarm configurations in alarm files. These correspond to JSON files that can be retrieved from the edge device. See Pulling Configuration Files from the Edge Device on the facing page.

The format of these JSON files is described in detail in the Geist Public API document.

Download the latest version from https://www.vertiv.com/49e32f/globalassets/products/critical-power/power-distribution/geist-api-specification-api-specifications-sl-70874.pdf

It is recommend to set one device manually using the device's webpage, extracting the JSON settings from the device, then making any minor adjustments needed to apply the file more broadly to other devices.

10.2.2 Pulling Configuration Files from the Edge Device

There are several methods used to pull configurations. These methods are based on the model and type of configuration.

Intellislot Configuration File

On the Communications tab of the card, navigate to the Support, Configuration Export/Import sub-menu. From there, enable the Export/Import commands. You may need to log in with the card's admin credentials to do this. Export the current running configuration from the card by clicking **Export**. A file will be downloaded in your browser.

Figure 10.10 Configuration Export on Intellislot Card

VERTIV	GXT4-1500RT120 Communication	ns
	Configuration Export/Import:	Updated: December 8, 2023 01:38:33PM
Identification Uninitialized Uninitialized Uninitialized	Commands Export configuration file Import configuration file	Enable Cancel Export exporting
Status GXT4-1500RT120 Normal Operation Communications Normal Operation	• Import log file	
 Summary Active Events Downloads Configuration System Local Users (10) Remote Authentication Network Web Server LIFE (TM) Remote Service Velocity Protocol Messaging Third Party Integrations Status Status Support Active Networking Firmware Update Configuration Export/Import 		

Geist Device Configuration (Host/Device/Alarm)

The method for all Geist configurations is similar and can be done from the browser. Navigate to the web page of the edge device or you can paste its IPv4 address into a browser if you are on the same network.

Host Configuration

From the web page, add this URL to retrieve the configuration file:

Host configuration: <<ipAddress>>\api\conf

Figure 10.11 Example Host Configuration



Device Configuration

From the web page, add this URL to retrieve the configuration file:

Device configuration: <<ipAddress>>\api\dev.

Figure 10.12 Example Device Configuration

• 10.203.82.170/api/dev	< +				-		×
\leftarrow \rightarrow C \textcircled{A} Not secure	10.203.82.170/api/dev	☆	0	Ċ		B	:
<pre>rPDU","label":"GU1_RACK_PDU-3A"," {"type":"apparentPower","value":"224" {"type":"apparentPower","value":"24 {"type":"owerFactor","value":"37 {"type":"owerFactor","value":"37 {"type":"ovltageMan","value":"32 {"type":"voltageMan","value":"32 {"type":"currentMan","value":"0.63", {"type":"currentMan","value":"0.63", {"type":"currentPaak","value":"0.64 {"type":"currentPaak","value":"0.66 {"type":"currentPaak","value":"0.65", {"type":"currentPaak","value":"0.65", {"type":"currentPaak","value":"0.65", {"type":"currentPaak","value":"119" {"type":"ealPower","value":"119" {"type":"energy","value":"117" {"type":"energy","value":"24 {"type:"currentPaak","value":"24 {"type:"currentMax","value":"24 {"type:"currentMax","value":"24 {"type:"currentMax","value":"24 {"type:"currentMax","value":"24 {"type:"currentMax","value":"0.65", {"type::"currentMax","value</pre>	<pre>'IT-02","state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""},"name":"G tity":{"0":{"name":"Total","label":"Total","alarm":{"state":"none","sever state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"1": 0","state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3": "state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3": "state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3": "state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"state":"name":" "y":"},"measurement":{"0":{"type":"voltage","vulue":"212.7","state":"nor","severity":""}},"3": ","state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3": ","state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3": ","state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"6": ',"state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"6": ',"state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"7": ","state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"8": 'state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"8": 'state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"8": 'state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"8": 'state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"8": 'state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"9": '1","state":normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3: 'state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3: '',"state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3: '',"state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3: '',"state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3: '',"state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3: '',"state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3: '',"state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3: '',"state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3: '',"state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3: '',"state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3: '',"state":"normal","alarm":{"state":"none","severity":""}},"3: '',"state":"nor</pre>	<pre>'Yhase AB", " 'Phase AB", " 'mal", "alarn 'none", "seve 'Phase BC", " 'mal", "alarn 'none", "seve</pre>	<pre>interpretation interpretation i</pre>	':"Phas ""}}," ':"Phas	e 2": e 2":		

Alarm Configuration

From the web page, add this URL to retrieve the configuration file:

Host configuration: <<ipAddress>>\api\alarm

Figure 10.13 Example Alarm Configuration



To save the configuration locally to your computer, right click the browser window and choose **Save As**. The file is automatically named conf.json, but it can be renamed although the .json extension must be kept. For example, new-conf.json.

The file can be cleaned up using tools such as JSON Beautify, Notepad ++, or Visual Studio Code. Visual Studio Code has a Format Document option that adds indenting and context highlight to the configuration file.

Figure 10.14 Cleaning Up a Configuration File



Cleaning up the file is not required to upload to Connect. It is suggested to make modifications to the file directly as it is easier to read and to see formatting issues.

10.2.3 Uploading Configuration Files

Vertiv provides sample configuration files for each configuration file type, but you may also upload your own configuration files specific to a partner or customer. These will be available only to you, or if you are a partner only to you and the customers you manage.

To upload configuration files to the Connect platform go to the **Equipment, Configurations** menu to see a list of available configurations. By default, this will be filtered to show only configurations uploaded by you or others in your organization, though you can change this filtering to show configurations available from Vertiv.

Figure 10.15 Configuration Library

= 🐼 E	NVIRONET™ CONNECT			7 3	() O WILEY E COYOTE	? HELP -
Equipment /	/ Configurations					^
Configu	irations - 120					
10 of 120	Configurations - 1 OF 12 PAGES					
Search	<u>م</u>				T FILTERS T 🕂 🦯	ī 🛆
	Configuration Name 🦊	Configuration Type	Model	Revision Date	Author	
		Device Config - Geist Device Configuration	Watchdog 15	10-20-2023	Vertiv	:
		Device Config - Geist Device Configuration	Watchdog 15	10-17-2023	Raz-UAT-Partner	:
		Device Config - Geist Host Configuration	Watchdog 15	10-13-2023	Vertiv	:
		Device Config - Geist Host Configuration	Watchdog 15	10-17-2023	Raz-UAT-Partner	:
		Device Config - Geist Host Configuration	Watchdog 15	10-17-2023	Raz-UAT-Partner	:
		Device Config - Geist Host Configuration	Watchdog 15	10-17-2023	Raz-UAT-Partner	:
		Device Config - Geist Host Configuration	Watchdog 15	10-17-2023	Raz-UAT-Partner	:
		Device Config - Geist Host Configuration	Watchdog 100	10-13-2023	Vertiv	:
_				44 04 0000		•

To upload a new file, click the

Add icon

The new Configuration Dialog opens. All fields are required.

Figure 10.16 New Configuration Dialog

=	\checkmark	ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT		(*)	O WILEY E COYOTE	? HELP -
	Equip	ment / Configurations / New Configuration				
	Ð	New Configuration			🕈 🧪	
		Information				
	Name RDU	y* 1/01 Config Test	Configuration Type * Card Config - RDU101			
	Mode GXT		UPLOAD			

Enter a name for the configuration file and select a configuration type from the drop down.

CAUTION: Select the configuration type carefully. The type of configuration you select affects the devices to which the configuration file can be pushed. If you are unsure of which configuration type to select, see Configuration File Types on page 148.

Select a model. Depending on the configuration type, choose this by either model of the edge device or the model of Intellislot card (Unity or RD1010) in the case of card configurations. Be sure to select the correct model.

To upload the configuration file, click **Upload** to browse for the location and to choose the file on your local hard drive where the configuration file is stored. Select the file and click **Open** to upload to the platform.

When all fields are completed and the configuration file is uploaded, click **Save** to finalize the configuration file record in the configuration library.

Like other lists with in Connect, files can be managed individually or in bulk. To edit the name or upload a replacement file, click **Edit** from the

Pulldown icon.

To delete one or more files, select the checkbox next to the file and click the

Delete icon.

NOTE: You may only edit or delete configuration files that have been authorized by your organization.

To download a configuration file, click the **Pulldown** menu and choose the

Download icon

You can download any configuration file that you have access to, including samples from Vertiv.

10.2.4 Pushing Configurations to Cards and Edge Devices

Configuration files that are uploaded to the platform on each device can be pushed to each individual device or in bulk action. See Bulk Actions on page 171 for further information.

NOTE: Use only configuration files you or a managing partner have uploaded. Vertiv files are intended as examples and should be modified and saved as new, unique configuration files before uploading to a device.

To push a configuration file to a card or a device, enter the edit mode for the device by clicking the

🖊 Edit icon.

Click either the **Push Configuration** button or **Push Configuration** tab to push the configuration to the edge card or device.

► ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT		
Equipment / Devices / Edit Device		*
UPS1A-GXT5F7-FL		Details View : 🞱
UPS Vertiv GXT5 ADDED 04-05-2024 CUSTOMER V-SAT INFO AGENT V-SA		
Information Details Commun	ication Advanced Networking Push Configuration	Logs Alarms
SELECT CONFIG FILE TO PUSH		
Configuration Type * Author Device Config - Unity/RDU101 communicating d Vertiv		
Configuration Name	Revision Date	
BenTrube_031324_GXT5_DocumentationTest	03-13-24	
MisanTest-GXT5	03-25-24	
MisanTest-GXT5-2	03-25-24	
MisanTest-GXT5-3	03-25-24	
MisanTest-GXT5-4	03-25-24	
Example of GXT5 device configuration	04-04-24	
PUSH SELECTED CONFIG.		
		·

Figure 10.17 Card Configuration File Example

The push configuration dialog has several drop down options that narrows the files available. The configuration type corresponds to the configuration file types covered in Configuration File Types on page 148The values of these two drop downs filter the list of options available at the bottom of the window.

To push a file, select it from the list and click **Push Selected Config**. Only one file can be pushed to a device at a time.

Like other settings, pushing a device or card configuration may require a reboot for the settings to be applied. A dialog warning you that the card will pop up asking if you wish to continue. Click **Yes** to apply the selected file or **Cancel** to go back to the previous dialog.

Once the configuration file has been applied, a status toast notifies the user whether the operation has succeeded or failed. If the operation has failed, this may be due to a lack of communication with the edge device or a formatting error in the configuration file.

NOTE: Review any configuration files thoroughly before applying to the edge devices to check for any formatting or value errors.

10.3 Use Case: Setting Agent as the Trap Target

For the local agent to receive traps from the edge device, the IPv4 Address of the agent must be configured as a trap target on the device. This is done via configuration files for both Intellislot Card communicating devices and for Raven-Based Geist devices.

Intellislot Cards

Configuration files for Intellislot cards (Unity and RDU101) are text-based .ini files. For more details, refer to Device Configuration on page 150.

When exporting a configuration .ini file, protected fields like passwords, community strings, or authentication secrets are not displayed by default, but they can be manually entered into the file.

Figure 10.18 Intellislot .ini Configuration File: SNMPv1 Trap

```
[SNMPv1 Trap.1]
# SNMP Trap Target
#
  Configure a network host destination for SNMPv1 Traps. The trap target may be a
hostname or an IP address. Note: Maximum length is 125 characters.
# maximum length: 125
SNMP Trap Target: "192.168.1.125"
# SNMP Trap Port
   Port on the trap target to which to send SNMPv1 traps.
  range: 1 to 65535
#
SNMP Trap Port: 162
# SNMP Trap Community String
  Password string used by the trap target to authenticate traps. Printable
characters are allowed with the exception of <, >, comma, semicolon, and space. Note:
Maximum length is 32 characters.
   maximum length: 32
#
# ** Protected value not displayed. Uncomment following line to import new value:
SNMP Trap Community String: "public"
```

The Intellislot card supports up to 20 trap targets for v1/v2c traps. Each target consists of three values:

- SNMP Trap Target (an IPv4 address)
- Trap Port
- Trap Community String

NOTE: The community string must be set to public for the local agent to receive and interpret the trap. This will be revised in the future.

SNMP v3 Traps/Informs are also supported (up to 20). The trap target information is embedded as an attribute of the SNMPv3 user.

Figure 10.19 Intellislot .ini Configuration File: SNMPv3 Username, Access Type, and Authentication

```
[SNMPv3 User.1]
# SNMPv3 User Enable
# Enable or disable reading, writing, or sending traps with the user's credentials.
# 0: disabled
# 1: enabled
SNMPv3 User Enable: 0
# SNMPv3 Username
# Username for authentication and privacy settings. Printable characters are
allowed with the exception of <, >, colon, semicolon, space, tab, double quote, and
question mark.
# maximum length: 32
SNMPv3 Username: ""
# SNMPv3 Access Type
# Select the SNMPv3 access type: Read Only, Read/Write, or Traps Only.
# 0: Read Only
# 1: Read/Write
# 2: Traps Only
SNMPv3 Access Type: 0
# SNMPv3 Authentication
#
   Algorithm used for authentication: None, MD5, or SHA-1.
# 0: None
# 1: MD5
# 2: SHA
SNMPv3 Authentication: 0
```

Figure 10.20 Intellislot .ini Configuration File: SNMPv3 Authentication and Authentication Secret

```
SNMPv3 Authentication Secret: ""
# SNMPv3 Privacy
  Algorithm used for encryption: None, DES or AES128.
#
   0: None
#
  1: DES
#
# 2: AES
SNMPv3 Privacy: 0
# SNMPv3 Privacy Secret
  Password for generation of the SNMPv3 privacy key. Printable characters are
#
allowed with the exception of <, >, colon, tab, double quote, and question mark.
Note: The entry must be 8 to 64 characters.
   maximum length: 64
#
SNMPv3 Privacy Secret: ""
# SNMPv3 Trap Targets
# Configure one or more network host destinations for SNMPv3 Traps. Each trap
target may be a hostname or an IP address. Multiple targets must be separated by
commas ','. Note: Maximum length is 125 characters.
# maximum length: 125
SNMPv3 Trap Targets: ""
# SNMPv3 Trap Port
  The IP port number for SNMPv3 traps.
#
# range: 1 to 65535
SNMPv3 Trap Port: 162
```

After modifying the configuration file, upload it to the Connect platform and push it to the edge device. Refer to Uploading Configuration Files on page 152Pushing Configurations to Cards and Edge Devices on page 154.

Geist Configuration

For Geist Raven-based devices, Vertiv recommends that you manually configure the first device via the device's local webpage, export the configuration, and then apply the settings to multiple devices.

WARNING! Older Blackbird-based devices (GU1 with an IMD2 or the Watchdog 15/100) are not supported.

Configure SNMP settings by clicking System Menu and selecting SNMP.

								admin Log Out		
VEI	RTIV.	Sensors	System	Help				<u>A</u> 0	. 0	
			▶ Users	_						
SNMP			Network							
SINNE			▶ Web Server							
		Download	▶ Display							
			► Email							
		SNMP-V1/V2c	► SNMP		~					
		SNMP-V3	Syslog		~					
			► Admin							
			► Locale							
			▶ Utilities							
L										
Users										
	Туре	Na	me		Authenti	cation	Privacy			
	V1/V2c Read Community	pu	blic		_		_			
	V1/V2c Write Community	pr	ivate		_		_			
	V1/V2c Trap Community	pr	ivate		-		-			
	V3 Read				None		None			
	V3 Read/Write				None		None			
	V3 Trap				None		None			
Traps										
⊡	IP Address			P	ort	Version				
1	10.207.120.32			1	62	2c				

Trap targets are added at the bottom of the page. Click the

Add icon

to open the Add Trap Target dialog.

Figure 10.21 Add Trap Target

Add	
IP Address	[192.168.1.125]
Port	162
Version	v2c ~
	Save Cancel

Geist devices can have both v1/v2c SNMP credentials and v3 credentials active. Unlike Intellislot, they have a single set of credentials for each version but can have multiple targets.

Selecting the SNMP version associates the trap with specific SNMP credentials. Click **Save** to add the new target.

The SNMP configuration including trap targets is in the Host configuration file. Retrieve the host configuration via this URL:

<<ipAddress>>\api\conf

Replacing <<ipAddress>> with the IPv4 address of the edge device. Paste this address into a browser window. Refer to Pulling Configuration Files from the Edge Device on page 149

Figure 10.22 Host Configuration in a Browser

✓ ♥ 10.203.82.170/api/conf ×	+				-		×
← → C ⋒ ▲ Not secure 1	10.203.82.170/api/conf		\$	a Ö	⊉ □	В	÷
<pre>{"data":{"network":{"ethernet":{"typ 0","order":0,"removable":false,"enab ["port0","port1"],"address":{"0":{"a {"address":"E80::5610:ECFF:FE18:85D {"address":"0.8.4.4","mutable":true}, {"address":"0.8.4.4","mutable":true}, {"enabled":false,"maxAge":0,"mode":" 0","order":1,"removable":false,"enab {"state":"up","uptime":90250,"speed" ["10baseT/Half","10baseT/Ful1","100b {"type":"port","name":"Port 1","100b {"description":"6-branch C13/c19","1 {"label":"GUI_RACK_PDU-3A","hostname {"server":","port":25,"sender":"," OK"}},"smp": ["uv2Ecnabled":true,"v3Enabled":tru {"tupe":","privPasswordSet":fal "Read"},"1": {"username":","privPasswordSet":fal "Harie","2": {"username":","privPasswordSet":fal "Trap"},"engineID":"0x80","http":{ {"defaultLang":"en","units":"imperial</pre>	<pre>bled":true,"macAddr":"54:10:EC'18:82 iddress":"10.203.82.170","prefix":22 iddress":"10.203.82.170","prefix":22 iddress":"102.03.82.170","prefix":22 ifalsevay":"102.168.123.1","interfac "stp","forwardDelay":0, "helloTime":(ildd":true,"bridge":"ethernet","lind ":"100Mb/s","duplex":"full","suppor aseT/Half","100baseT/Full"]},"stp" :11:"iPort 1","order":2,"removable": aseT/Half","100baseT/Full"]},"stp" :0cation":"DCIM Lab","contactEmail": ":"BB5410EC1855D6"},"email": username":","passwordSet":false,"f us,"port":161,"readCommunity":"publi :":"10.207.120.32","port":"162"})," ise,"privPassword":null,"privType": ise,"privPassword":null,"privType":" "httpEnabled":true,"httpPort":88,"</pre>	<pre>5:D6", "dhcpOn":false,"i 5:D6", "dhcpOn":false,"i 5:Jmutable":true),"1": dns":("0":{"address":"2 ce":"all", "mutable":tru 9}),"port0":{"type":"po ": tedModes": ("cost":0,"role":"unkn false,"enabled":true,"b tedModes": ("cost":0,"role":"unkn :"","contactName":"Jim password":null,"sslEnab ic","writeCommunity":"p user":("0": "none","authPasswordSet "none","authPasswordSet ttpsPort:":443),"syslog</pre>	8.8.8.8", "mutable":true 8.8.8.8", "mutable":true ue}}, "link":{"state":"up ort", "name": "Port 0", "la nown", "state": "disabled" bridge": "ethernet", "link nown", "state": "disabled" Hercules", "contactPhone bled":false, "target": {}, private", "trapCommunity" t":false, "authPassword": t":false, "authPassword": t":false, "authPassword": g":("enabled":false, "tar	<pre>,,"1": ,,"uptime ,bel":"Port)},"port1 ":" ,"status": ':"privateull,"autull,"</pre>	a":92041},"sf rt 1": tact": ystem": :{"0":{"msg": : ","target": thType":"nond thType":"nond thType":"sid),"	:"Email {"0": e","typ e","typ e","typ "locale	pe": pe": pe": e":

Right-click the file and Save As a JSON file to your local computer.

Geist configuration files are not export with any credentials, although the configuration file will include community strings. If you import the file and credentials are blank, existing credential remain in place.

Figure 10.23 SNMP Configuration Geist Host File



IMPORTANT! Modify the JSON file to look like the example above so as not to import other settings when applying the configuration file to multiple devices. Include everything between the SNMP braces { } and the wrapping attributes as shown above.

After you have modified the configuration file, upload it to the Connect platform and push it to the edge device. See Uploading Configuration Files on page 152Pushing Configurations to Cards and Edge Devices on page 154.

NOTE: Format of JSON files is described in detail in the Geist Public API document. You can download the latest version of the API document here: <u>https://www.vertiv.com/49e32f/globalassets/products/critical-power/power</u>distribution/geist-api-specification-api-specifications-sl-70874.pdf.

The URL for the API is here: <u>https://www.vertiv.com/en-us/products-catalog/critical-power/power-distribution/vertiv-geist-updu-universal-power-distribution-unit/#/downloads.</u>

10.4 Use Case: Setting Intellislot Device Parameters

Vertiv provides CSV formatted example device parameter files for all Intellislot devices supported by Connect. Users can apply all the settings in the file or a subset.

To download an example configuration file, go to the **Configurations** sub-menu under **Equipment**. Change the **Author** filter to Vertiv. Configurations supplied by Vertiv are located here.

For this section you are looking for the configuration type **Device Config – Unity/RDU101 Communicating Device**. Click on the name of the configuration to load its details, then click the download link to download the file. You then edit the .CSV file in Excel, Notepad++, or another editor.

NOTE: Data parameters can be modified when opened in Excel.

	А	В	с	D	E
1	Outlet Group User Assigned Label	.1.3.6.1.4.1.476.1.42.3.9.20.1.20.1.2.1.4359.1	OctetString	Alpha	The user assigned outlet group name
2	Outlet Group User Assigned Label	.1.3.6.1.4.1.476.1.42.3.9.20.1.20.1.2.1.4359.2	OctetString	Beta	The user assigned outlet group name
З	Outlet Group User Assigned Label	.1.3.6.1.4.1.476.1.42.3.9.20.1.20.1.2.1.4359.3	OctetString	Charlie	The user assigned outlet group name
4	Outlet Group User Assigned Label	.1.3.6.1.4.1.476.1.42.3.9.20.1.20.1.2.1.4359.4	OctetString	Delta	The user assigned outlet group name
5	Outlet Group Power Control	.1.3.6.1.4.1.476.1.42.3.9.30.1.20.1.2.1.4365.1	Gauge	0	Outlet Group Power Control (OFF, ON, Cycle, etc)
6	Outlet Group Power Control	.1.3.6.1.4.1.476.1.42.3.9.30.1.20.1.2.1.4365.2	Gauge	1	Outlet Group Power Control (OFF, ON, Cycle, etc)
7	Outlet Group Power Control	.1.3.6.1.4.1.476.1.42.3.9.30.1.20.1.2.1.4365.3	Gauge	1	Outlet Group Power Control (OFF, ON, Cycle, etc)
8	Outlet Group Power Control	.1.3.6.1.4.1.476.1.42.3.9.30.1.20.1.2.1.4365.4	Gauge	2	Outlet Group Power Control (OFF, ON, Cycle, etc)

The CSV file format includes these columns:

- Point Name
- OID
- DataType
- Value
- Description

You only need to modify the Value column. The type and description columns offer additional information on valid values, though you may adjust these settings on one edge device before applying to multiple.

VERTIV	GXT5-2000LVRT2UXL Communications	
	Outlet Group [1]: Updated: March 13, 20	24 01:40:44PM
Identification	Status	Value Units
What We Do In The Shadows Wellington, NZ	Uutlet Group Identifier	1
Vampire Roommates	Settings Edit Save Cancel	Units
Status	Outlet Group User Assigned Label Alpha	
GXT5-2000LVRT2UXL	V Outlet Group Power Control	~
GXT5-2000LVRT2UXL		
Summary Active Events Downloads File Transfer Input Bypass Battery Output Output Group (4) Outlet Group [1] Outlet Group [2] Outlet Group [3] Outlet Group [4]	»»	
ECO Mode ⊇System ⊕System Configuration		

Figure 10.25 Outlet Group 1 Settings after Applying Configuration

If an invalid value is put in the CSV, that parameter will be ignored. If the CSV file format is corrupted, the configuration file cannot be applied and pushing the configuration will fail.

IMPORTANT! Vertiv recommends that you apply this configuration file to a single device before applying in bulk.

After modifying the configuration file, upload it to the Connect platform and push it to the edge device. See Uploading Configuration Files on page 152Pushing Configurations to Cards and Edge Devices on page 154.



CAUTION: Device parameters on Intellisiot cards use SNMP writes to set the parameters. Ensure that you have proper write credentials specified for your device or the parameter setting will fail.

10.5 Use Case: Setting Alarms

For Raven-based Geist devices (GU2 or GU1s with the IMD3 controller), use Connect to push alarm configurations to the edge device.



WARNING! Older Blackbird-based Geist devices, GUI1 with an IMD2 and the Watchdog 15/100 are not supported.

NOTE: For Intellislot devices, well-known alarms are already configured. Some of these alarms have thresholds that can be set using device parameters. See Use Case: Setting Intellislot Device Parameters on page 162.

Vertiv recommends configuring alarms as desired on one device via the device's local webpage, then exporting that configuration and applying it to other devices. This is to ensure correct formatting and that all necessary parameters are in place.

To manually configure an alarm, click the Sensors menu on the local device web page and select Alarms & Warnings.

Figure 10.26 Alarms & Warnings Page

		Sensors	System Help			_	Log Out		
•••			Overview					A 0	00
			Alarms & Warnings						
Alarms	& Warnings								
State	O	Label	Trigger	Severity	Туре	Value	Notify		
		GU1_RACK_PD	U-3A						
	۵	Circuit 1	Current	Alarm	High	200.00	[1]		

To add an alarm, click the

Add icon to open the Add dialog.

Add										
Name Trigger	Phase AB Real Power	v v								
Delays are in seconds.										
Severity	Alarm	~								
Туре	High	~								
Threshold Value	110									
Clear Delay	0									
Trip Delay	0									
Latching Mode										
Enabled 🖸 Target	Delay	Repeat								
□ 🖋 💼 10.207.120.32	0	0								
		Save Cancel								

Figure 10.27 Add Dialog to Add Another Trap Target

The targets shown in this dialog must be added in the SNMP configuration section first before being able to be added as an alarm target. Refer to Use Case: Setting Agent as the Trap Target on page 156.

NOTE: Be sure to select the checkbox next to each trap target when configuring the alarm. Otherwise, those targets will not be associated with the alarm.

Click Save to add the alarm to the edge device. When the alarm is active, it is evaluated to see if alarm conditions are met and will trigger active alarms.

Figure 10.28 New Alarm Added

VERTIV.	Sensors	System		Help		admin Log Out
Alarms & Warnings						
State Label	Trigger	Severity	Туре	Value	Notify	
GU1_RACK_PDU-34	λ					
o 🌶 💼 Circuit 1	Current	Alarm	High	200.00	[1]	
A 💉 💼 🖌 Phase AB	Real Power	Alarm	High	110.00	[1]	

The SNMP configuration including alarms is in the Alarm configuration file. Retrieve the alarm configuration via the following URL:

<<ipAddress>>**\api\alarm**

Edit the URL to replace <<ipAddress>> with the IPV4 address of the edge device.

Refer to Pulling Configuration Files from the Edge Device on page 149.

Figure 10.29 Extract Alarm Configuration



Right-click the file and save as a JSON file to your local computer. **Figure 10.30** below shows the contents of an extracted alarm configuration. Maximized sections are for the alarm added in previous screenshots.

Figure 10.30 JSON Alarm Configuration Example



Alarm configurations can be applied to multiple units as long as both units have the same configuration (i.e., the same number of outlets, phases, are both WYE or DELTA based, etc.). All three sections (trigger, action, target) are required and are interconnected.

When an alarm or device file is extracted, it has a specific serial number for the component. For example, FE5410EC1B85D6C3 in **Figure 10.30** on the previous page. Replace this Replace this with 16 zeroes (0000000000000) in all places within the file when using generically across multiple devices.

NOTE: Alarms have a tie back to host configurations for SNMP trap targets. Be sure that the configuration file for alarms is applied with its companion host file (ideally sourced from the same original first device).

After you have modified the configuration file, upload it to the Connect platform. See Uploading Configuration Files on page 152Pushing Configurations to Cards and Edge Devices on page 154.

NOTE: Format of JSON files is described in detail in the Geist Public API document. You can download the latest version of the API document here: <u>https://www.vertiv.com/49e32f/globalassets/products/critical-power/power-distribution/geist-api-specification-api-specifications-sl-70874.pdf</u>.

The URL for the API is here: <u>https://www.vertiv.com/en-us/products-catalog/critical-power/power-distribution/vertiv-geist-updu-universal-power-distribution-unit/#/downloads.</u>

10.6 Update Firmware

Connect can update the communication card and device firmware for a limited set of Vertiv devices. Connect requires devices to be upgraded to a base level of firmware before supporting all provisioning capabilities.

Refer to Supported Devices on page 173 for further details.

Vertiv maintains a library of firmware available to all users. The latest firmware is marked (latest).

Figure 10.31 Firmware List

=	ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT		Firmware indicate	ed		<mark>അ 🐴 </mark> എ		соуоте 🔻	? HELP -	
ft	Devices	Name V		Model	Version	Revision Date	Author	Notes		-
4	Groups	Unity - 8.4.1.0_00150 (Latest)		Unity Card	8.4.1.0_00150	12-05-2023	Vertiv		:	
	Local Agents			Unity Card	8.3.1.0_00141	07-06-2023	Vertiv		:	
	Configurations	Unity - 8.3.0.0_00138		Unity Card	8.3.0.0_00138	03-28-2023	Vertiv		:	
		Unity - 8.2.3.0_00134		Unity Card	8.2.3.0_00134	08-23-2022	Vertiv		:	
٥		Unity - 8.2.2.0_00131		Unity Card	8.2.2.0_00131	06-24-2022	Vertiv		:	
?		Unity - 8.2.1.0_00129		Unity Card	8.2.1.0_00129		Vertiv		:	
		Unity - 8.2.0.0_00125		Unity Card	8.2.0.0_00125	02-18-2022	Vertiv		:	
		rdu101-image-1.8.1.0_0000002 (L		RDU 101	1.8.1.0	07-31-2023	Vertiv		:	
				RDU 101	1.8.0.0	05-23-2023	Vertiv		:	
				RDU 101	1.7.0.0	12-13-2022	Vertiv		:	
						Show 10 💌	1 - 10 of 21	I< <	> >।	Ŧ

The firmware version that is currently running for Intellislot cards is reported on the **Communications** tab, under **Interface Card Firmware Version**.

≡				
	Equipment / Devices / View Device			·
	🕅 10.108.32.143_GU2_ZY19030876			Details View 🗮 🕝
	Rack PDU Vertiv GU2 ZY19030876 ADDED 03-26-2024 CUSTOMER EOCLAB AGENT			G 🖍 🕇
	Information Details	Communication Logs	Alarms	
	LOCAL AGENT New Agent-SORIN MAC ADDRESS 001985F03DC9 IPV4 ADDRESS 10.108.32.143		SNMP VERSION SNMPV1 READ COMMUNITY STRING 	
	IPV6 ADDRESS			
	INTERFACE CARD TYPE			
	RDU 101			
	INTERFACE CARD FIRMWARE VERSION 6.1.1	Intellislot card, interface firm	ware card	
	ADMIN USERNAME	version		
	ADMIN PASSWORD			

Figure 10.32 Intellislot Card Device, Interface Card Firmware Version

For Geist devices, the firmware currently running is reported on the **Details** tab and the **Communications** tab.

Equipment / Devices / View Device	
	Details View 🖼 🙆
Rack PDU Vertiv GU2 ZY19000876 ADDED 03-26-2024 CUSTOMER EOCLAB AGENT New Agent-SORIN	© 🗡 🕇
Information Details Communication Logs Alarms	
DEVICE FIRMWARE NOTES 6.1.1 Geist device card, interface manufacture date firmware card version - INSTALLATION DATE - WARRANTY EXPIRATION Not specified Support PROVIDER Not specified	CLOSE

Figure 10.33 Geist Device Firmware

To update the firmware of an individual device, go to the individual details of that device, click the **Communications** tab, and then click the

💉 Edit icon.

Locate the Comm. Card Details

Figure 10.34 Update Firmware for a Communication Card

COMM. CARD DETAILS	
Interface Card Type RDU 101	PUSH CONFIGURATION
Interface Card Firmware Version	UPDATE FIRMWARE

Click Update Firmware. A list of available firmware opens.

	SELECT FIRMWARE FILE TO PUSH						
	Current Firmware Version						
	Firmware Name	Revision Date					
	rdu101-image-1.8.1.0_0000002 (Latest)	07-31-2023					
	rdu101-image-1.7.0.0_0000003	12-13-2022					
	rdu101-image-1.8.0.0_0000003	05-23-2023					
	UPDATE SELECTED FIRMWARE						

Select a single firmware from this list to apply to the edge devices. The list of available firmware will not include all released firmware but will include the last few public releases.

NOTE: Vertiv recommends to always update to the latest firmware, unless card documentation or market memo indicates that an interim upgrade version is required.

After selecting the firmware versions, click Update Selected Firmware to start the update and confirm when asked to proceed. Firmware updates can take 10 - 15 minutes per device. This includes sending the new firmware to the device, flashing the device memory, and rebooting the device if the flash was successful.

Figure 10.35 Firmware Operation Start Toast



IMPORTANT! Firmware updates can be applied to monitored and unmonitored devices, including those with only an IPv6 address. However, it is recommended to specify a unique IPv4 address before upgrading firmware in most cases.

10.7 Bulk Actions

All the provisioning actions described in this section can be taken singly or in bulk. Trigger provisioning actions from any device list, under a partner, customer, site, or group in the **Devices** sub-menu under **Equipment**.

Figure 10.36 Selecting Devices to Bulk Provision

	ONET™	CONNECT						P	<mark>∕₽</mark> ₽ (w) ⊖	WILEY E COYOTE	? HELP -
Equipment /	Devices										<u>^</u>
Devices	- 162							В	ulk Provisioning		
10 of 162 o	devices -	1 OF 17 PAGES									
Search		<u>م</u>						Ĩ	🕇 FILTERS 🍷 🕂 👻	/ 🛛 🚠 🕯	1
=	Status 🕇	Name	Customer	Site	Group(s)		A		Alarm Details		
										:	
_					White Space, OH					:	
					White Space, OH					:	
_					White Space, OH					:	
<u>~</u>										:	
										:	
					New devices					:	
	?	10.207.58.114_GU2_TN22 101253	Trube Operations Custom er #001		Unassigned	0	0	o		:	

To trigger actions in bulk, select two or more devices from the list and click the

Bulk Provisioning icon

The Bulk Provisioning dialog opens. If you are a partner user, all devices must be in the same customer.

IMPORTANT! Pushing configuration files and firmware updates require that all devices be the same model. Other actions can be taken on a mix of devices.

Figure 10.37 Bulk Provisioning Dialog, Select Provisioning Action



The Bulk Provisioning dialog provides a summary of the models and devices selected. Check to ensure it matches your intention.

Select a provisioning action. Some actions are disabled based on the devices selected. Some actions apply the same settings to all devices:

- Creating Provisioning Credentials
- SNMP Credentials
- Pushing Configurations
- Applying firmware

Networking permits setting some common values such as subnet DNS, and default gateway while applying a unique value to each device selected (IPv4 address).

Figure 10.38 Bulk Provisioning Networking

🛔 Bulk Provisioning							
4 device(s) selected. Model: GU2, GXT5. Comm. Card: Integrated, Rdu/Unity							
Selected Bulk Set IPv4 Networking							
Subnet Maek * 255.255.128.0							
Defeult Getewey* 192.168.1.1							
Primary DNS 8.8.8.8							
Secondary DNS 8.8.4.4							
Name	IP Address						
rPDU3A-GUF7-FL	10207.58.215						
rPDU2A-GUF7-FL	10.207.58.115						
rPDU1A-GUF7-FL	10207.58.114						
UPS4A-GXT5F7-FL	10.207.58.119	-					

Complete all fields and click **Run Action** to run the provisioning action. An operation log opens to show the status of each action.

Figure 10.39 Operation Log



WARNING! While running provisioning actions, do not navigate away from the page while the operation is running. If you navigate away, the operation will be halted and not completed. To continue making changes in the product, open a new tab. The only exception to this is updating firmware, which will allow you to navigate away.

10.8 Supported Devices

Table 10.1 Device Configuration and Firmware Updates Supported on Vertiv Devices

Type of Action	Supported Models	Base Firmware Required	Comments
Intellislot Card Configuration	Unity and RDU101 cards	Unity: 8.2.0.0_00125+ RDU101: 1.7.0.0_0000003+	
Device Configuration via Intellislot Card	APM, APS, DS, EXM, EXL-S1, EXS, EDGE, GXE3 2kVA, GXT4/5, CRV, ITA2, Mini-Mate2, Mini-Mate 3, PDX, PSI5	Unity: 8.2.0.0_00125+ RDU101: 1.7.0.0_0000003+	Additional models may be supported between releases as new device templates are added to the system. Includes Li-Ion variants as applicable.
Card Firmware Update	Unity and RDU101 cards	Unity: 8.2.0.0_00125+ RDU101: 1.7.0.0_0000003+	
Geist Configuration (Raven-Based Models)	GU2 (with IMD-05 or IMD-03 controller), GU1 (with IMD-03 controller)	Raven 5.9.0 - 6.3.0+	
Geist Firmware Update (Raven-Based Models)	GU2 (with IMD-05 or IMD-03 controller), GU1 (with IMD-03 controller	Raven 5.9.0 – 6.3.0+	

Vertiv[™] Environet[™] Connect User Manual

This page intentionally left blank
11 Reports

Environet[™] Connect offers predefined reports designed to help users manage their fleet of monitored devices. Reports can be run on an ad hoc basis by the user and can be found under the



These reports include:

- Device Report: Designed for Basic Life Cycle management of monitored devices.
- UPS Fleet Management Summary Report: Designed to pinpoint problems within your UPS fleet.
- UPS Fleet Management Detailed Report: Designed to act as a Detailed overview of your existing fleet.

New reports will be added with upcoming versions of Connect.

Based on their permissions these reports allow the end user to customize the scope of the report based on the following hierarchy:

- Partner
- Customer
- Site
- Group

NOTE: The Device Report, and the UPS Fleet Management Report can be sorted and filtered based on the predefined drop-down lists.

11.1 Device Reports

Device reports are located under the

Reports icon

within Connect. Connect supports exporting device lifecycle information on an ad hoc basis. Reports cannot be scheduled. Reports are scoped to device metadata that is either static or changes infrequently (for example, serial number or firmware version). Users with Device Reporting permission are able to generate reports.

The report is generated as a comma separated (.csv) file that can be opened in Excel or a report processor for more detailed analysis and presentation.

Additional reports will be provided in future releases of Connect.

Figure 11.1 Device Report Screen

■ S ENVIRONET [™] CONNECT			78 3	<mark>ም</mark> (ቁ)	Swiley e coyote	Y ? HELP ▼
Reports / Device Reports						
REPORT SETTINGS Report Scope - All	SORT / FILTER Sort Order					
Delaware	Primary Sort:	Field Customer		Sort Ascending		
Device Name, Device type, Manufacturer, Model, Serial Number, Customer, Site, Location, Group(s), Device Firmware Version, Interface Card Type, MAC Address, INvA Address, Interface Card Firmware Version, Warranty Expiration Date, Manufacture Date, Installation Date, Battery POI: Date, Last Battery	Secondary Sort:	Field Device Name		Sort Ascending		
Replaced Date, Support Provider	Tertiary Sort:	Field Device type		Sort Ascending		
	Filters					
					ADD FILTER	

To run a device report, select the report scope from the drop down. The can be all customers to which you have a view or the devices or a specific customer. By default, the report gathers data for all devices to which you have visibility.

Figure 11.2 Selecting a Customer to Scope the Device Report

REPORT SETTINGS		
Report Scope - All Delaware		
Vertiv		^
Vertiv		
Partners		
!test ramon		
!testlicense1		

By default, all device fields are selected for the report. The information gathered for the report can be narrowed by clicking the



This opens a dialog showing all available fields that can be included in the report. Select or deselect fields as needed. Some fields may not contain a value for all devices, such as manually entered values like installation date. Save the fields to include in the report by clicking **Save**. Click **Cancel** to keep the original selected fields.

Options to sort and filter are on the right side of the report screen. The device report supports up to three sorts to allow sorting within categories. Any field can be sorted.

Figure 11.3 Report Sort and Filter

SORT / FILTER Sort Order						
Primary Sort:	Field Customer		Sort Ascending			
Secondary Sort:	Field Device Name		Sort Ascending			
Tertiary Sort:	Field Device type		Sort Ascending			
Filters						
Field * Installation Date		Condition * Greater than	-	/alue * 9/1/2020	ē	Ť
			Μ	/M/DD/YYYY		
					ADD FILTER	s

Only the following fields can be filtered:

- Device Type
- Manufacturer
- Model
- Warranty Expiration Date
- Battery EOL Date
- Installation Date
- Support Provider

Additional filters can be added by clicking Add Filter. An unlimited number of filters can be added.

To remove a filter, click the

Delete icon next to the filter.

11.2 UPS Fleet Management Summary Report

The UPS Fleet Management Summary Report is designed to help the user proactively detect issues with their UPS Fleet. The report supports both UPS using valve regulated lead acid batteries (VRLA) and lithium ion (Li-Ion) batteries. This report analyzes system data and UPS readings to identify the following critical conditions:

- UPSs where the load is at risk due to the UPS being On Battery or Bypass, or where the last battery self-test failed.
- UPSs with VRLA batteries greater than 3 years old.
- UPSs with Li-Ion Batteries greater than 5 years old.
- UPSs older than 7 years with VRLA batteries.
- UPSs older than 10 years with Li-Ion batteries.
- UPS with VRLA Batteries in high temperature environments greater than 27 °C.

- UPS with Li-Ion Batteries in high temperature environments greater than 50 °C.
- UPS with greater than 80% load.

The UPS Fleet Summary Report is located under the



Figure 11.4 UPS Fleet Management Summary Report Screen

Reports / UPS Fleet Management Summary Report	
UPS Fleet Management Summary Report	
REPORT SETTINGS	
Report Scope - All	6

To run this report, you will need to select the scope of the report from the drop-down menu. The default scope is all devices to which you have access, but this can be narrowed down to specific customers, sites, or groups.

Figure 11.5	UPS Fleet	Management	Report	Scope
-------------	-----------	------------	--------	-------

Reports / UPS Fleet Management Summary Report	
UPS Fleet Management Summary Report	
REPORT SETTINGS	
Report Scope - All	
DS	-
Delaware Product Lab	
Hedrick	
MLR Networks	
Metro Tech, CA	
NAKA Tech	w

After selecting the scope, the report will begin gathering data to populate the results in the Web browser.

Figure 11.6 UPS Fleet Management Report

UPS Age	Battery Age
VILA U(5: 57 years ofd U-for U(5: 51 i) yea	V&A fatteren 2 3 yaar sid 🔹 Liben fatteren 2 3 yaar sid 🔹 Enters/Age Delsone 🔹 Ret of Fatt
UPS Runtime Impacted by Temperature	High Load
It is its US: reveling for Co 27C for VEA () > 50C for E-lont = Ret of Flat	In the second seco
UPS Where Load is at Risk	
	\cdot
O Tran	ľ
	e Beit of masseer (2011)
UPS Where Load is at Risk	
Derin None Aleron Provet Serial Nonber Privi Adense	On Delitory On Pypens Entirery Soft True Amount
UPSs with VRLA Batteries Greater than 3 Years Old	

This report can be exported to PDF for distribution or use later. To export the report, click the



in the upper right-hand corner of the report view.

NOTE: This button will be inactive until you select a report scope.

11.3 UPS Detailed Report

The UPS Detailed Report is designed to give users a clear view of the UPS devices deployed across their environment. It includes key details such as device specifications, network configuration, physical location, firmware versions, and battery lifecycle status. The report supports both VRLA and Lithium-Ion UPS systems and helps users manage their fleet more effectively by providing the information needed for maintenance planning, support coordination, and risk mitigation.

The UPS Detailed Report is generated as a comma separated (.csv) file that can be opened in Excel or a report processor for more detailed analysis and presentation.

The UPS Detailed Report is located under the



Figure 11.7 UPS Detailed Report Screen

Reports / UPS Detailed Report						
🖬 UPS Detailed Report						
REPORT SETTINGS Report Scope - All	SORT / FILTER Sort Order					
Selected Fields	Primary Sort:	Field		Sort Ascenc	ling	
Device Name, Customer, Site, Location, System Status, Model, Serial Number, Manufacturer, Manufacture Date, Installation Date, Device Firmware, Card Model, Card Firmware, Battery State Of Health, Battery Installation Date, Battery Technology, Battery Time Remaining, Battery Current Discharge Time, Number of Battery Discharges, Total	Secondary Sort:	Field		Sort Ascence	ling	
Discharge Time, Battery Temperature, Alarms Present, On Bypass, On Battery, Battery Self-Test Failed, Inlet Air Temperature, Device Model, Manufacturer	Tertiary Sort:	Field		Sort Ascence	ling	
	Filters				RESET SORT	
					ADD FILTER	
			CANCEL		EXPORT TO CSV	

To run the UPS Detailed Report, select the report scope from the drop-down. The scope will include the customers, sites, or groups to which you have visibility. Every device at or below your chosen scope will be included in the report.

Figure 11.8 Selecting Report Scope

REPORT SETTINGS	
DS	Ô
Delaware Product Lab	
Hedrick	
MLR Networks	
Metro Tech, CA	
NAKA Tech	v

By default, all UPS device fields are selected. The information gathered for the report can be narrowed by clicking the

Settings button.

This will open a dialog box displaying all the available fields that can be included in the report and allow you to select or deselect the fields as needed. Some fields may not contain a value for all devices, such as manually entered values or values not supported by the device being monitored.

Save the fields to include in the report by clicking **Save**.

Click **Cancel** to keep the originally selected fields.

User can apply the various filter by using sort/filter options from the right side of the report screen. See **11.3** on page 180 for more information. The UPS Detailed Report supports up to three sorts to allow sorting within categories. Any field can be sorted. Click the Reset Sort to reset the sorts/filter.

Figure 11.9 Report Sort and Filter



Filters can be added for only the following fields:

- Battery Technology
- Device Model
- Card Model

- Manufacturer
- Manufacture Date
- Installation Date
- Battery Installation Date

An unlimited number of filters can be added by clicking Add Filter. To remove a filter, click the

Delete icon next to the filter.

Vertiv[™] Environet[™] Connect User Manual

This page intentionally left blank

12 Support

12.1 Documentation and Resources

Documentation for Connect can be downloaded from the product page on <u>Vertiv.com</u>. Within Connect you can access the following documents and resources. These documents are accessible within Connect from the **Support** menu.

- Get Started Quick start guide which walks the user through registering with Connect and initial setup steps.
- User Guide This document.
- **Training Videos** Instructional videos that walk the user through the most common features used in the Connect Platform.
- Release Notes Details about the latest updates and patches to Connect.
- Report an Issue Allows users to submit support tickets from within the platform.
- Feedback/Suggestions Allows users to provide Feedback on Enhancements or suggestions to improve the platform.
- **Request a new template** Allows users to request new device support from Vertiv. Users will need to provide documentation regarding the requested device.
- **EULA** End User License Agreement.

12.2 Sending Feedback

Connect provides a direct feedback mechanism for questions or for issues you encounter while using the product.

From the **Support** menu or **Help** menu click **Feedback** to open a new tab with our feedback form.

Figure 12.1 Feedback Form

Product Feedback	
Please complete one form each for every piece of distinct feedback.	
Do not use this form if you are experiencing product or technical issues. To file a support ticket, please, use the Report Issue option in the Help menu.	
Sender *	
(E-mail address)	
connect_email@user.come	
Contact Name *	
Connect User	
Partner/Customer *	
Connect Customer	
Tell us about your feedback *	
Please be as descriptive as possible.	
How does this impact you today? *	
If there is an image or video that would help explain your feedback, please attach it here Please do not include files that may contain confidential or personal information.	
Drag and drop files here or browse files	
Submit	
Privacy Notice Report Abuse	

The feedback form records your Connect email and organization so the support team can respond to your issue. You can modify these as necessary.

Select the category of issue (Application – General, Device, Local Agent, Communication) to classify the problem you are having.

Enter a subject with a high-level description, then a more detailed description below. If Connect behaves in a way you do not expect, you can record your expected and actual behavior (though this is not required). You can also upload any screenshots or additional information for context.

When you have completed the form, click **Submit** and our operations team will triage and respond to the issue. As always you can also contact the direct support line or any contacts from whom you purchased Connect.

12.3 Report an Issue

When a user encounters an issue, they can request support from within Connect. To access the support form, click **Report an Issue** from either the **Support** or **Help** menus.

Figure 12.2 Report an Issue

Sender *	
(E-mail address)	
customer1@companyname.com	
castoner (weonpanyname.com	
Partner/Customer *	
Company Name	
Product	
Application Over Communication	
Subject *	
Description *	
Description *	
Expected behaviour	
Actual behaviour	
Screenshots / Extra Information	
Drag and drop files here or browse files	
Submit	
Privacy Notice Report Abuse	

To complete this form (see Figure 12.2 above), do the following:

- 1. First you need an email address and organization name for the support team to respond to the issue. These should be auto populated by Connect, but you can modify as necessary.
- 2. Select the category of issue (Application Application, Device, Local Agent, Communication) to classify the problem.
- 3. Enter a subject with a high-level description, then a more detailed description below. If Connect behaves in a way you do not expect, you can record your expected and actual behavior (though this is not required). You can also upload any screenshots or additional information for context.
- 4. When you have completed the form, click **Submit** and our operations team will triage and respond to the issue.

As always you can also contact the direct support line or any contacts from whom you purchased Connect.

12.4 Training Videos

Environet Connect includes built-in access to end user training videos. These videos are designed to guide users through key features and configuration steps, to help them use the platform more effectively. Training videos can be accessed on the **Support** menu under **Training Videos**. Topics discussed in the training videos include:

- Provisioning a Device
- Managing Users
- Managing Dashboards
- Installing the Agent

- Getting Help
- Discovering a device
- Deleting a User
- Creating a report
- Creating an Account
- Bulk updates
- Adding a User

Figure 12.3 Training Videos



NOTE: The list of topics will be expanded as new features become available.

12.5 Request a New Template

While Vertiv maintains a library of supported devices, users may encounter a device that is not currently supported in Connect. Connect allows end users to request new device support for any SNMP compatible device from within the product interface.

When requesting new device support, users should be prepared to submit at minimum:

- All Device MIB files
- An SNMP walk of the device
- Device documentation

The **Request a new template** form can be found under either the **Support** or **Help** menu. This form will automatically populate the name of the Connect user that is Requesting the template, the user's email, and the organization's name. This information will be used by Vertiv to contact the user should any additional information be required. These fields can be modified as needed.

To submit the request, users must complete all required fields on the form.

Vertiv[™] Environet[™] Connect User Manual

This page intentionally left blank

Appendices

Appendix A: Technical Support and Contacts

A.1 Technical Support/Service in the United States

Vertiv Group Corporation

24x7 dispatch of technicians for all products.

1-800-543-2378

Liebert[®] Thermal Management Products

1-800-543-2378

Liebert[®] Channel Products

1-800-222-5877

Liebert® AC and DC Power Products

1-800-543-2378

A.2 Locations

United States

Vertiv Headquarters

505 N Cleveland Ave

Westerville, OH 43082

Europe

Via Leonardo Da Vinci 8 Zona Industriale Tognana

35028 Piove Di Sacco (PD) Italy

Asia

7/F, Dah Sing Financial Centre 3108 Gloucester Road, Wanchai

Hong Kong

Vertiv[™] Environet[™] Connect User Manual

This page intentionally left blank

Connect with Vertiv on Social Media



https://www.facebook.com/vertiv/



https://www.linkedin.com/company/vertiv/



https://www.twitter.com/Vertiv/



Vertiv.com | Vertiv Headquarters, 505 N Cleveland Ave, Westerville, OH 43082 USA

©2025 Vertiv Group Corp. All rights reserved. Vertiv[™] and the Vertiv logo are trademarks or registered trademarks of Vertiv Group Corp. All other names and logos referred to are trade names, trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective owners. While every precaution has been taken to ensure accuracy and completeness here, Vertiv Group Corp. assumes no responsibility, and disclaims all liability, for damages resulting from use of this information or for any errors or omissions.